Formerly Okmeydanı Medical Journal

Volume: 38 • Number: 3 • September 2022



Highlights

An Overview of Anesthetic Agents Münire Canan Çiçek, Rasim Onur Karaoğlu, Mehmet Nuri Yakar, Namigar Turgut

Surgical Results for Terrible Triad Ersin Taşatan, Bülent Karslıoğlu, Ali Çağrı Tekin, Esra Tekin, Hakan Gürbüz

Eyecryl Phakic IOL Atilla Hacıbekiroğlu, Bülent Köse, Alper Ağca

Fear of COVID-19, Fear of Death Ülkem Angın, Elif Karaahmet

Single-port Endoscopic Thoracic Sympathectomy Ahmet Acıpayam, Muhammet Sayan, Mahmut Tokur

Compliance to Diabetes Treatment, Follow-up and Awareness Orçun Yaşmut, Mine Adaş

Comparison of Endoscopic and Microscopic Tympanoplasty Semih Uşaklıoğlu, Onur Üstün, Gökhan Gürbüz, Yağmur Barcan 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and First Trimester Pregnancy Buse Kurtdereli, Orhan Şahin, Veli Mihmanlı

COVID-19 Pandemic and Breast Cancer Management Semra Günay, Ali Murat Pussane, Binnur Dönmez Yılmaz, Pınar Özay Nayır, Muhammed Mustafa Atçı, Arzu Akan

Congenitally Short Pedicles

Hakan Önder, Berrin Erok, Tanju Kisbet, Eyüp Kaya

Tibial Shaft Fracture and Fasciotomy

Tahsin Olgun Bayraktar, Emin İrfan Gökçay, Müjdat Adaş, Ali Çağrı Tekin, Ali Yüce, Mustafa Yerli, Nazım Erkurt, Hakan Gürbüz

COVID-19 Pneumonia in Immunodeficient Patients

Naciye Kış, Berrin Erok, Melis Koşar Tunç, Hülya Kurtul Yıldız, Funda Şimşek, Hakan Önder



Official Journal of University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital eurarchmedres.org



Formerly Okmeydanı Medical Journal

Owner on behalf and Responsible Manager of University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital

Mehmet Mesut Sönmez of Health Sciences Turkey, Pro

Clinic of Orthopedics and Traumatology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Editor in Chief

Tamer Özülker

Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-9521-683X

Associate Editors

Asım Kalkan

Clinic of Emergency Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-5800-0201

Müjdat Adaş

Clinic of Orthopedics and Traumatology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-3637-8876

Namigar Turgut

Clinic of Anesthesia and Reanimation, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/ 0000-0003-0252-3377

Özben Yalçın

Clinic of Pathology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-0019-1922

Editorial Staff

Pelin İlhan basinburosu@okmeydani.gov.tr

Editorial Board

Achmet Ali

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul University Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-7224-6654

Ali Cahid Civelek

Clinic of Radiology, Division of Nuclear Medicine, Johns Hopkins Medical Instituons, Baltimore, USA ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-4637-6292

Alper Ötünçtemur

Clinic of Urology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cernil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-0553-3012

Arzu Akan

Clinic of General Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8435-9771

Berrin Hüner

Clinic of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Rearch Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-3584-8880

Burak Erden

Clinic of Eye Diseases, Dünya Göz Hospital Ataköy, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0650-4552

Bülent Ozgonenel

Clinic of Hematology Oncology, Children's Hospital of Michigan, Detroit, United States ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8891-7646

Ekrem Üçer

University Hospital Regensburg, Clinic of Cardiology, Regensburg, Germany ORCID ID: 0000-0002-3935-1110

Funda Şimşek

Clinic of Infectious Diseases and Departmental Microbiology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-7387-5057

Gülcan Güntaş

Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Kırklareli Üniversity, Kırklareli Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-3638-4662

Hakan Önder

Clinic of Radiology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-5207-3314

Hasan Dursun

Clinic of Pediatrics, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-8817-494X

İlteriş Oğuz Topal

Clinic of Dermatology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8735-9806

Kadriye Kılıçkesmez

Clinic of Cardiology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-2139-9909

Mehmet Küçük

Clinic of Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-1720-3819

Formerly Okmeydanı Medical Journal

Mete Gürsoy

Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Mehmet Akif Ersoy Chest and Cardiovascular Surgery Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-7083-476X

Metin Çetiner

Duisburg-essen University School of Medicine, Division of Pediatric Nephrology and Pediatric Sonography Hufelandstrate Ss ORCID: 0000-0002-0918-9204

Mine Adaş

Clinic of Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-3008-6581

Murat Dursun

Department of Urology, İstanbul University Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-9115-7203

Nurdan Gül

Department of Endocrinology, İstanbul University Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-1187-944X

Özge Kandemir Gürsel

Clinic of Radiation Oncology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.orq/0000-0002-6960-4115

Seçil Arıca

Clinic of Family Practice, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0135-6909

Seçkin Aydın

Clinic of Brain Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID ID: 0000-0003-1195-9084

Serdar Günaydın

Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Ankara City Hospital, Ankara, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9717-9793

Sezen Karakuş

Department of Ophthalmology, The Johns Hopkins Wilmer Eye Institute, Baltimore, USA ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-2951-995X Sinan Akay

Department of Radiology, University of Iowa Health Care, 5, Iowa City, IA

Şener Cihan

Clinic of Medical Oncology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-3594-3661

Şerife Şimşek

Department of General Surgeon, Breast Surgeon, Fakeeh University Hospital, Dubai, UAE ORCID ID: 0000-0003-0463-2710

UKGID ID: 0000-0003-0463-27

Tolgar Lütfi Kumral

Clinic of Otorhinolaryngology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8760-7216

Veli Mihmanlı

Clinic of Gynecology and Obstetrics, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8701-8462

Yavuz Anacak

Department of Radiation Oncology, Ege University, İzmir, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-2548-1109

Yavuz Uyar

Clinic of Otorhinolaryngology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0252-3377

Yücel Arman

Clinic of Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9584-6644

Ziya Akçetin

KMG Klinikum Urology Clinic Chief, Luckenwalde, Germany

Social Media Editor

Caner Baran

Clinic of Urology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey drcanerbaran@hotmail.com ORCID ID: 0000-0002-6315-6518

Derya Mor Erkan Mor Publication Coordinator Burak Sever Web Coordinators Fuat Hocalar Turgay Akpınar Graphics Department Ayda Alaca Çiğdem Birinci Gülay Saday Gülşah Özgül Finance Coordinators

Emre Kurtulmuş

Sevinç Çakmak

Galenos Publishing House

Owner and Publisher

Project Coordinators Aybuke Ayvaz Aysel Balta Gamze Aksoy Gülay Akın Hatice Sever Melike Eren Nuran Akti Özlem Celik Cekil Pinar Akpinar Rabia Palazoğlu Sümeyye Karadağ Research&Development Nihan Karamanlı **Digital Marketing Specialist** Ümit Topluoğlu

Publisher Contact Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.tr Web: www.galenos.com.tr Publisher Certificate Number: 14521 Publication Date: September 2022

ISSN: 2651-3137 E-ISSN: 2651-3153 International scientific journal published quarterly.

AIMS AND SCOPE

European Archives of Medical Research (Eur Arch Med Res) is the scientific, peer-reviewed, open access publication of University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital. The journal is a quarterly publication, published on March, June, September, December. The publication language of the journal is English.

European Archives of Medical Research aims to contribute to the international literature by publishing original clinical and experimental research articles, case reports, review articles, and letters to the editor on all fields of medicine.

The target audience of the journal includes researchers, general practitioners and specialists from all fields of medicine.

The editorial and publication processes of the journal are shaped in accordance with the guidelines of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), Council of Science Editors (CSE), Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE), European Association of Science Editors (EASE), and National Information Standards Organization (NISO).

Material Disclaimer

Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital holds the international copyright of all the content published in the journal.

The author(s) is (are) responsible for the articles published in the JOURNAL.

The editor, editorial board and publisher do not accept any responsibility for the articles.

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License.

European Archives of Medical Research is currently indexed in **TUBITAK ULAKBIM TR Index**, **Index Copernicus**, **Gale**, **ProQuest**, **Türk Medline**, **Türkiye Atif Dizini**, **J-GATE** and **EBSCO Academic Search Complate**.

Processing and publication are free of charge with the journal. No fees are requested from the authors at any point throughout the evaluation and publication process. All manuscripts must be submitted via the online submission system, which is available at eurarchmedres.org. The journal guidelines, technical information, and the required forms are available on the journal's web page.

All expenses of the journal are covered by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital. Potential advertisers should contact the Editorial Office. Advertisement images are published only upon the Editor-in-Chief's approval.

Statements or opinions expressed in the manuscripts published in the journal reflect the views of the author(s) and not the opinions of the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, editors, editorial board, and/or publisher; the editors, editorial board, and publisher disclaim any responsibility or liability for such materials.

All published content is available online, free of charge at eurarchmedres.org. Printed copies of the journal are distributed to the members of the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, free of charge.

European Archives of Medical Research is an open access publication and the journal's publication model is based on Budapest Open Access Initiative (BOAI) declaration. Journal's archive is available online, free of charge at eurarchmedres.org. European Archives of Medical Research's content is licensed under a <u>Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International</u> <u>License</u>.



Formerly Okmeydanı Medical Journal

INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

European Archives of Medical Research (Eur Arch Med Res) is the scientific, peerreviewed, open access publication of University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital. The journal is a quarterly publication, published on March, June, September, December. The publication language of the journal is English.

The aim of the European Archives of Medical Research is to publish original research papers of the highest scientific and clinical value in all medical fields. Eur Arch Med Res also includes reviews, case series, rare case reports, interesting image, and letters to the editor that are related to recently published articles.

The editorial and publication processes of the journal are shaped in accordance with the guidelines of the International Council of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), the World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), the Council of Science Editors (CSE), the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE), the European Association of Science Editors (EASE), and National Information Standards Organization (NISO).

Originality, high scientific quality, and citation potential are the most important criteria for a manuscript to be accepted for publication. Manuscripts submitted for evaluation should not have been previously presented or already published in an electronic or printed medium. The journal should be informed of manuscripts that have been submitted to another journal for evaluation and rejected for publication. The submission of previous reviewer reports will expedite the evaluation process. Manuscripts that have been presented in a meeting should be submitted with detailed information on the organization, including the name, date, and location of the organization.

Manuscripts submitted to European Archives of Medical Research will go through a double-blind peer-review process. Each submission will be reviewed by at least two external, independent peer reviewers who are experts in their fields in order to ensure an unbiased evaluation process. The editorial board will invite an external and independent editor to manage the evaluation processes of manuscripts submitted by editors or by the editorial board members of the journal. The Editor in Chief is the final authority in the decision-making process for all submissions.

An approval of research protocols by the Ethics Committee in accordance with international agreements (World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki "Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects," amended in October 20, www.wma.net) is required for experimental, clinical, and drug studies and for some case reports. If required, ethics committee reports or an equivalent official document will be requested from the authors. For manuscripts concerning experimental research on humans, a statement should be included that shows that written informed consent of patients and volunteers was obtained following a detailed explanation of the procedures that they may undergo. For studies carried out on animals, the measures taken to prevent pain and suffering of the animals should be stated clearly. Information on patient consent, the name of the ethics committee, and the ethics committee approval number should also be stated in the Methods section of the manuscript.

It is the authors' responsibility to carefully protect the patients' anonymity. For photographs that may reveal the identity of the patients, signed releases of the patient or of their legal representative should be enclosed.

All submissions are screened by a similarity detection software (iThenticate by CrossCheck).

In the event of alleged or suspected research misconduct, e.g., plagiarism, citation manipulation, and data falsification/ fabrication, the Editorial Board will follow and act in accordance with COPE guidelines.

Each individual listed as an author should fulfill the authorship criteria recommended by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors

(ICMJE - www.icmje.org). The ICMJE recommends that authorship be based on the following 4 criteria:

- Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work; AND
- 2. Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; AND
- 3. Final approval of the version to be published; AND
- Agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

In addition to being accountable for the parts of the work he/ she has done, an author should be able to identify which coauthors are responsible for specific other parts of the work. In addition, authors should have confidence in the integrity of the contributions of their co-authors.

All those designated as authors should meet all four criteria for authorship, and all who meet the four criteria should be identified as authors. Those who do not meet all four criteria should be acknowledged in the title page of the manuscript.

European Archives of Medical Research requires corresponding authors to submit a signed and scanned version of the authorship contribution form (available for download through eurarchmedres.org) during the initial submission process in order to act appropriately on authorship rights and to prevent ghost or honorary authorship. If the editorial board suspects a case of "gift authorship," the submission will be rejected without further review. As part of the submission of the manuscript, the corresponding author should also send a short statement declaring that he/she accepts to undertake all the responsibility for authorship during the submission and review stages of the manuscript.

European Archives of Medical Research requires and encourages the authors and the individuals involved in the evaluation process of submitted manuscripts to disclose any existing or potential conflicts of interests, including financial, consultant, and institutional, that might lead to potential bias or a conflict of interest. Any financial grants or other support received for a submitted study from individuals or institutions should be disclosed to the Editorial Board. To disclose a potential conflict of interest, the ICMJE Potential Conflict of

Formerly Okmeydanı Medical Journal

INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

Interest Disclosure Form should be filled in and submitted by all contributing authors. Cases of a potential conflict of interest of the editors, authors, or reviewers are resolved by the journal's Editorial Board within the scope of COPE and ICMJE guidelines.

The Editorial Board of the journal handles all appeal and complaint cases within the scope of COPE guidelines. In such cases, authors should get in direct contact with the editorial office regarding their appeals and complaints. When needed, an ombudsperson may be assigned to resolve cases that cannot be resolved internally. The Editor in Chief is the final authority in the decision-making process for all appeals and complaints.

European Archives of Medical Research requires each submission to be accompanied by a Copyright License Agreement (available for download eurarchmedres.org). When using previously published content, including figures, tables, or any other material in both print and electronic formats, authors must obtain permission from the copyright holder. Legal, financial and criminal liabilities in this regard belong to the author(s). By signing the Copyright License Agreement, authors agree that the article, if accepted for publication by the European Archives of Medical Research, will be licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Non Commercial 4.0 International License (CC-BY-NC).

Statements or opinions expressed in the manuscripts published in European Archives of Medical Research reflect the views of the author(s) and not the opinions of the editors, the editorial board, or the publisher; the editors, the editorial board, and the publisher disclaim any responsibility or liability for such materials. The final responsibility in regard to the published content rests with the authors.

Statements or opinions expressed in the manuscripts published in European Archives of Medical Research reflect the views of the author(s) and not the opinions of the editors, the editorial board, or the publisher; the editors, the editorial board, and the publisher disclaim any responsibility or liability for such materials. The final responsibility in regard to the published content rests with the authors.

MANUSCRIPT PREPARATION

The manuscripts should be prepared in accordance with ICMJE-Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (updated in December 2017 - http://www.icmje.org/icmje-recommendations. pdf). Authors are required to prepare manuscripts in accordance with the CONSORT guidelines for randomized research studies, STROBE guidelines for observational original research studies, STARD guidelines for studies on diagnostic accuracy, PRISMA guidelines for systematic reviews and meta-analysis, ARRIVE guidelines for experimental animal studies, and TREND guidelines for non-randomized public behavior.

Manuscripts can only be submitted through the journal's online manuscript submission and evaluation system, available at eurarchmedres.org. Manuscripts submitted via any other medium will not be evaluated.

Manuscripts submitted to the journal will first go through a technical evaluation process where the editorial office staff will

ensure that the manuscript has been prepared and submitted in accordance with the journal's guidelines. Submissions that do not conform to the journal's guidelines will be returned to the submitting author with technical correction requests.

Authors are required to submit the following:

Copyright Licence Agreement, Author Contributions Form, and, ICMJE Potential Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form (should be filled in by all contributing authors) during the initial submission. This form is available for download at eurarchmedres.org.

Preparation of the Manuscript

All manuscripts should be submitted in 12 point Times New Roman type with 2 line spacing.

Title page: A separate title page should be submitted with all submissions and this page should include:

- The full title of the manuscript as well as a short title (running head) of no more than 50 characters,
- Name(s), affiliations, highest academic degree(s), e-mail addresses, and ORCID IDs of the author(s),
- Grant information and detailed information on the other sources of support,
- Name, address, telephone (including the mobile phone number) and fax numbers, and email address of the corresponding author,
- Acknowledgment of the individuals who contributed to the preparation of the manuscript but who do not fulfill the authorship criteria.

Abstract: An abstract should be submitted with all submissions except for Letters to the Editor. The abstract of Original Articles should be structured with subheadings (Objective, Methods, Results, and Conclusion). Please check Table 1 below for word count specifications.

Keywords: Each submission must be accompanied by a minimum of three to a maximum of six keywords for subject indexing at the end of the abstract. The keywords should be listed in full without abbreviations. The keywords should be selected from the National Library of Medicine, Medical Subject Headings database (https://www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/MBrowser.html).

Manuscript Types

Original Articles: This is the most important type of article since it provides new information based on original research. The main text of original articles should be structured with Introduction, Methods, Results, Discussion, and Conclusion subheadings. Please check Table 1 for the limitations for Original Articles.

Statistical analysis to support conclusions is usually necessary. Statistical analyses must be conducted in accordance with international statistical reporting standards (Altman DG, Gore SM, Gardner MJ, Pocock SJ. Statistical guidelines for contributors to medical journals. Br Med J 1983: 7; 1489-93). Information on statistical analyses should be provided with a separate subheading under the Materials and Methods section and the statistical software that was used during the process must be specified.

Formerly Okmeydanı Medical Journal

INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

Units should be prepared in accordance with the International System of Units (SI).

Editorial Comments: Editorial comments aim to provide a brief critical commentary by reviewers with expertise or with high reputation in the topic of the research article published in the journal. Authors are selected and invited by the journal to provide such comments. Abstract, Keywords, and Tables, Figures, Images, and other media are not included.

Review Articles: Reviews prepared by authors who have extensive knowledge on a particular field and whose scientific background has been translated into a high volume of publications with a high citation potential are welcomed. These authors may even be invited by the journal. Reviews should describe, discuss, and evaluate the current level of knowledge of a topic in clinical practice and should guide future studies. The main text should contain Introduction, Clinical and Research Consequences, and Conclusion sections. Please check Table 1 for the limitations for Review Articles.

Case Reports: There is limited space for case reports in the journal and reports on rare cases or conditions that constitute challenges in diagnosis and treatment, those offering new therapies or revealing knowledge not included in the literature, and interesting and educative case reports are accepted for publication. The text should include Introduction, Case Presentation, Discussion, and Conclusion subheadings. Please check Table 1 for the limitations for Case Reports.

Case Series: The Case Series section reports a series of 2-6 similar cases. The cases should address a challenging diagnostic and/or therapeutic problem with possible solutions to help clinicians in managing these cases. Case series must be accompanied with a comprehensive review of literature. It should include six authors maximum. Structure of manuscript should include Introduction, Case Series, Discussion, Conclusion. It should have 3-5 keywords maximum. Please check Table 1 for the entire limitations for Case Series.

Interesting Image: No manuscript text is required. Interesting Image submissions must include the following:

Title Page (see Original article section)

Abstract: Approximately 100-150 words; without structural divisions; in English and in Turkish. Turkish abstract will be provided by the editorial office for the authors who are not Turkish speakers. If you are not a native Turkish speaker, please re-enter your English abstract to the area provided for the Turkish abstract.

Image(s): The number of images is left to the discretion of the author. (See Original article section)

Figure Legend: Reference citations should appear in the legends, not in the abstract. Since there is no manuscript text, the legends for illustrations should be prepared in considerable detail but should be no more than 500 words total. The case should be presented and discussed in the Figure legend section.

References: Maximum eight references (see Original article section).

Letters to the Editor: This type of manuscript discusses important parts, overlooked aspects, or lacking parts of a previously published article. Articles on subjects within the scope of the journal that might attract the readers' attention, particularly educative cases, may also be submitted in the form of a "Letter to the Editor." Readers can also present their comments on the published manuscripts in the form of a "Letter to the Editor." Abstract, Keywords, and Tables, Figures, Images, and other media should not be included. The text should be unstructured. The manuscript that is being commented on must be properly cited within this manuscript.

Tables

Tables should be included in the main document, presented after the reference list, and they should be numbered consecutively in the order they are referred to within the main text. A descriptive title must be placed above the tables.

Abbreviations used in the tables should be defined below the tables by footnotes (even if they are defined within the main text).

Table 1. Limitations for each manuscript type					
Type of manuscript	Word limit	Abstract word limit	Reference limit	Table limit	Figure limit
Original Article	3500	250 (Structured)	40	6	7 or total of 15 images
Review Article	5000	250	80	6	10 or total of 20 images
Case Report	1000	200	15	No tables	10 or total of 20 images
Letter to the Editor	500	No abstract	5	No tables	No media

Tables should be created using the "insert table" command of the word processing software and they should be arranged clearly to provide easy reading. Data presented in the tables should not be a repetition of the data presented within the main text but should be supporting the main text.

Figures and Figure Legends

Figures, graphics, and photographs should be submitted as separate files (in TIFF or JPEG format) through the submission system. The files should not be embedded in a Word document or the main document. When there are figure subunits, the subunits should not be merged to form a single image. Each subunit should be submitted separately through the submission system. Images should not be labeled (a, b, c, etc.) to indicate figure subunits. Thick and thin arrows, arrowheads, stars, asterisks, and similar marks can be used on the images to support figure legends. Like the rest of the submission, the figures too should be blind. Any information within the images that may indicate an individual or institution should be blinded. The minimum resolution of each submitted figure should be 300 DPI. To prevent delays in the evaluation process, all submitted figures should be clear in resolution and large in size (minimum dimensions: 100 imes 100 mm). Figure legends should be listed at the end of the main document.

INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

All acronyms and abbreviations used in the manuscript should be defined at first use, both in the abstract and in the main text. The abbreviation should be provided in parentheses following the definition.

When a drug, product, hardware, or software program is mentioned within the main text, product information, including the name of the product, the producer of the product, and city and the country of the company (including the state if in USA), should be provided in parentheses in the following format: "Discovery St PET/CT scanner (General Electric, Milwaukee, WI, USA)"

All references, tables, and figures should be referred to within the main text, and they should be numbered consecutively in the order they are referred to within the main text.

Limitations, drawbacks, and the shortcomings of original articles should be mentioned in the Discussion section before the conclusion paragraph.

References

While citing publications, preference should be given to the latest, most up-to-date publications. If an ahead-of-print publication is cited, the DOI number should be provided. Authors are responsible for the accuracy of references. Journal titles should be abbreviated in accordance with the journal abbreviations in Index Medicus/ MEDLINE/PubMed. When there are six or fewer authors, all authors should be listed. If there are seven or more authors, the first six authors should be listed followed by "et al." In the main text of the manuscript, references should be cited using Arabic numbers in parentheses. The reference styles for different types of publications are presented in the following examples.

Journal Article: Stephane A. Management of Congenital Cholesteatoma with Otoendoscopic Surgery: Case Report. Turkiye Klinikleri J Med Sci 2010;30:803-7.

Book Section: Suh KN, Keystone JS. Malaria and babesiosis. Gorbach SL, Barlett JG, Blacklow NR, editors. Infectious Diseases. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams; 2004.p.2290-308.

Books with a Single Author: Sweetman SC. Martindale the Complete Drug Reference. 34th ed. London: Pharmaceutical Press;2005.

Editor(s) as Author: Huizing EH, de Groot JAM, editors. Functional reconstructive nasal surgery. Stuttgart-New York: Thieme;2003.

Conference Proceedings: Bengisson S. Sothemin BG. Enforcement of data protection, privacy and security in medical informatics. In: Lun KC, Degoulet P, Piemme TE, Rienhoff O, editors. MEDINFO 92. Proceedings of the 7th World Congress on Medical Informatics; 1992 Sept 6-10; Geneva, Switzerland. Amsterdam: North-Holland;1992. pp.1561-5.

Scientific or Technical Report: Cusick M, Chew EY, Hoogwerf B, Agrón E, Wu L, Lindley A, et al. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group. Risk factors for renal replacement therapy in the Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy

Study (ETDRS), Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Kidney Int: 2004. Report No: 26.

Thesis: Yılmaz B. Ankara Üniversitesindeki Öğrencilerin Beslenme Durumları, Fiziksel Aktiviteleri ve Beden Kitle İndeksleri Kan Lipidleri Arasındaki Ilişkiler. H.Ü. Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Doktora Tezi. 2007.

Manuscripts Accepted for Publication, Not Published Yet: Slots J. The microflora of black stain on human primary teeth. Scand J Dçent Res. 1974. Epub Ahead of Print Articles: Cai L, Yeh BM, Westphalen AC, Roberts JP, Wang ZJ. Adult living donor liver imaging. Diagn Interv Radiol 2016 Feb 24. doi: 10.5152/ dir.2016.15323. [Epub ahead of print].

Manuscripts Published in Electronic Format: Morse SS. Factors in the emergence of infectious diseases. Emerg Infect Dis (serial online) 1995 Jan-Mar (cited 1996 June 5):1(1): (24 screens). Available from: URL: http://www.cdc.gov/ncidodlElD/cid.htm.

REVISIONS

When submitting a revised version of a paper, the author must submit a detailed "Response to the reviewers" that states point by point how each issue raised by the reviewers has been covered and where it can be found (each reviewer's comment, followed by the author's reply and line numbers where the changes have been made) as well as an annotated copy of the main document. Revised manuscripts must be submitted within 30 days from the date of the decision letter. If the revised version of the manuscript is not submitted within the allocated time, the revision option may be canceled. If the submitting author(s) believe that additional time is required, they should request this extension before the initial 30-day period is over.

Accepted manuscripts are copy-edited for grammar, punctuation, and format. Once the publication process of a manuscript is completed, it is published online on the journal's webpage as an ahead-of-print publication before it is included in its scheduled issue. A PDF proof of the accepted manuscript is sent to the corresponding author and their publication approval is requested within 2 days of their receipt of the proof.

Editor in Chief: Prof. Dr. Tamer Özülker

Address: Department of Nuclear Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 212 314 63 24 E-mail: tozulker@gmail.com

Publishing House: Galenos Yayınevi

Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 Fındıkzade, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27

E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.tr

Formerly Okmeydanı Medical Journal

CONTENTS

REVIEW

- 154 An Overview of Anesthetic Agents used in Anesthesia Practices Münire Canan Çiçek, Rasim Onur Karaoğlu, Mehmet Nuri Yakar, Namigar Turgut; İstanbul, İzmir, Turkey ORIGINAL ARTICLES
- **161 Early and Mid-term Results Following Surgery of Elbow Fractures with the Terrible Triad** Ersin Taşatan, Bülent Karslıoğlu, Ali Çağrı Tekin, Esra Tekin, Hakan Gürbüz; İstanbul, Turkey
- **166 Long Term (4 years) Refractive Outcomes of Eyecryl® Phakic intraocular Lens Implantation in Myopia** Atilla Hacıbekiroğlu, Bülent Köse, Alper Ağca; Bursa, İstanbul, Turkey
- 171 The Relationship Between Fear of COVID-19, Fear of Death and Anxiety in the Accompanists of Patients Diagnosed with COVID-19 Ülkem Angın, Elif Karaahmet; İstanbul, Turkey
- **178** Single-port Endoscopic Thoracic Sympathectomy in Cases of Primary Hyperhidrosis: Single-center Experience Ahmet Acıpayam, Muhammet Sayan, Mahmut Tokur; Kahramanmaraş, Ankara, Turkey
- 183 Evaluation of Compliance to Diabetes Treatment, Care Standards in Diabetes Treatment and Follow-up and Awareness of Patients

Orçun Yaşmut, Mine Adaş; İstanbul, Turkey

- **189** Comparison of the Efficacy of Endoscopic and Microscopic Type 1 Tympanoplasty Semih Uşaklıoğlu, Onur Üstün, Gökhan Gürbüz, Yağmur Barcan; İstanbul, Turkey
- 194 The Relationship Between the First Trimester Pregnancy Loss and Maternal Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Level. A Case-control Study Buse Kurtdereli, Orhan Şahin, Veli Mihmanlı; İstanbul, Turkey
- 201 Effects of a COVID-19 Pandemic on Breast Cancer Management Semra Günay, Ali Murat Pussane, Binnur Dönmez Yılmaz, Pınar Özay Nayır, Muhammed Mustafa Atçı, Arzu Akan; İstanbul, Turkey
- **207** Congenitally Short Pedicles; as an Underlying Cause of Lumbar Spinal Stenosis Hakan Önder, Berrin Erok, Tanju Kisbet, Eyüp Kaya; İstanbul, Turkey
- 214 Clinical Issues in Tibia Shaft Fractures Performed Fasciotomy: A 4 Year Follow-up Study Tahsin Olgun Bayraktar, Emin İrfan Gökçay, Müjdat Adaş, Ali Çağrı Tekin, Ali Yüce, Mustafa Yerli, Nazım Erkurt, Hakan Gürbüz; İstanbul, Turkey
- **220** Clinical and Radiological Findings of COVID-19 Pneumonia in Immunodeficient Patients: A Single Center Retrospective Analysis

Naciye Kış, Berrin Erok, Melis Koşar Tunç, Hülya Kurtul Yıldız, Funda Şimşek, Hakan Önder; İstanbul, Turkey

CASE REPORTS

- **227** Hyaline-vascular Adrenal Castleman's Disease Mimicking an Adrenal Neoplasm Berrin Erok, Taha Oğuz Keklikoğlu, Suzan Deniz Önol, Deniz Alagöz, İlknur Mansuroğlu, Hakan Önder; İstanbul, Turkey
- 230 Signet Ring Basal Cell Carcinoma: An Extraordinary Case Özben Yalçın, Buse Akı, Seden Atike Arsoy; İstanbul, Turkey



An Overview of Anesthetic Agents used in Anesthesia Practices

🕲 Münire Canan Çiçek¹, 🕲 Rasim Onur Karaoğlu¹, 🕲 Mehmet Nuri Yakar², 🕲 Namigar Turgut¹

¹University of Health Seciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul, Turkey ²Dokuz Eylül University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İzmir, Turkey

Abstract

The process, which started with the discovery of the anesthetic properties of diethyl ether by William Morton in 1846, as the beginning of anesthesia and inhalation anesthesia in the medical world, continued to develop with the discovery of many anesthetic agents. Sevoflurane and desflurane were developed towards the end of the 1960s. They are among the most preferred inhalation anesthetics today. Intravenous anesthetics also continue to evolve with the advancement of pharmacology. New agents will allow us to leave the traditional understanding of anesthesia in the background and allow us to respond more appropriately to the increasing elderly population and increasing population with minimal effects on recovery time and cardiovascular side effects.

Keywords: Inhalation anesthetics, intravenous anesthetics, general anesthesia

INTRODUCTION

The process, which started with the discovery of the anesthetic properties of diethyl ether by William Morton in 1846, as the beginning of anesthesia and inhalation anesthesia in the medical world, continued to develop with the discovery of many anesthetic agents such as chloroform, ethylene, cyclopropane, and nitrous oxide (N₂O) (1,2). After the use of halothane in the clinic in 1957, surgical anesthesia was started, and methoxyflurane was discovered in 1960. After the occurrence of halothane-induced hepatotoxicity and methoxyflurane-induced nephrotoxicity, enflurane was synthesized in 1963 and its isomer isoflurane was synthesized in 1965 in line with the need for new anesthetics (2,3). Sevoflurane and desflurane were developed towards the end of the 1960s. They are among the most preferred inhalation anesthetics today (2). Intravenous (i.v.) anesthetics also continue to evolve with the advancement of pharmacology. First generation i.v. agents for anesthesia induction and maintenance date back to the introduction of thiopental in the 1930s as an alternative to inhaled agents. Since then, barbiturates, propofol,

ketamine, etomidate, benzodiazepines and dexmedetomidine represent i.v. anesthetic and sedative agents.

New agents will allow us to leave the traditional understanding of anesthesia in the background and allow us to respond more appropriately to the increasing elderly population and increasing population with minimal effects on recovery time and cardiovascular side effects.

1. Inhalation Anesthetics

1.1. N₂O, dinitrogen monoxide, nitrogen protoxide

 N_2O is an inorganic inhalation agent that is colorless, odorless or sweet-smelling, non-irritating to tissues, non-flammable but capable of supporting (4). It does not undergo biotransformation, does not bind to hemoglobin, and is transported by dissolving in the blood (4). Its elimination is the opposite of uptake and distribution. Its low solubility enables rapid elimination (4,5). N_2O , which was defined by Sir Humphry Davy as "laughing/ giggle gas", was not used for anesthesia in the first half of the 19th century, but began to be used for analgesic purposes in



Address for Correspondence: Namigar Turgut, University of Health Seciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Tascioğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 212 221 77 77 E-mail: namigarturgut@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0252-3377 Received: 21.07.2022 Accepted: 05.08.2022

Cite this article as: Çiçek MC, Karaoğlu RO, Yakar MN, Turgut N. An Overview of Anesthetic Agents used in Anesthesia Practices. Eur Arch Med Res 2022;38(3):154-160

©Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital European Archives of Medical Research published by Galenos Publishing House.

Çiçek et al. An Overview of Anesthetic Agents

clinical medicine and dentistry (6). It is the least effective of the available inhalation agents because it requires a concentration of 104% to reach the Minimum Alveolar Concentration (MAC). Its low potency and its both anesthetic and analgesic activities cause it to be preferred as an adjuvant in balanced anaesthesia (7). It helps anesthesia induction by reducing the MAC value of the agent it is used with due to both primary and secondary gas effects. By inhibiting methionine synthase, it impairs vitamin B12 and folate metabolism (7). Most of the side effects of N₂O are due to the irreversible inhibition of methionine, folate, and vitamin B12, which plays an important role in DNA synthesis (8). With long-term N₂O application, conditions such as megaloblastic anemia, neurological toxicity and teratogenicity, immunodeficiency and impaired wound healing can be observed (7). In large-scale studies performed in non-cardiac surgeries, there are different opinions about whether there is an increase in the risk of cardiovascular complications such as myocardial infarction and venous thromboembolism in the postoperative period (8-10). Some studies have shown that N₂O increases pulmonary arterial pressure, and its use should be avoided in patients with pulmonary hypertension (10,11). The low bloodgas partition coefficient of N₂O causes it to replace nitrogen and oxygen in hollow chambers in the body, including the lungs. Such a high diffusion capacity can lead to diffusion hypoxia and an increase in the existing pneumothorax area during its elimination from the body (7,12). In order to prevent diffusion hypoxia, 100% oxygen should be given to the patient in the first few minutes following the discontinuation of N₂O therapy (4). In terms of postoperative complications such as pneumonia, pneumothorax or pulmonary embolism, the ENIGMA-I study showed statistically significant results in patients receiving N₂O, while there was no statistically significant increase in respiratory events in patients receiving N₂O in the ENIGMA-II study (8,9). Although studies show that the development of postoperative cognitive dysfunction is not observed in patients using N₂O, there is not enough research in this area (13). In recent years, recreational abuse of N₂O has become increasingly common. N₂O abuse can damage multiple systems, especially the nervous system, and the exact mechanism of its toxicity is controversial (14,15). It can be used in obstetric gynecology due to its analgesic effects (10,16). Due to its possible neurotoxic effects, its use in the first trimester is not recommended (17).

1.2. Isoflurane (C₃H₂CIF₅O, methyl ethyl ether)

Isoflurane is a non-flammable volatile anesthetic with a pungent ether-like odor and is the structural isomer of enflurane (18). Its pungent odor limits its induction by inhalation (19). Its effect in the central nervous system (CNS) strengthens GABA

and glycine receptor activities, while it inhibits receptor activity in NMDA glutamate receptor subtypes (19). Although it has a minimal effect on the left ventricle, it can cause a dosedependent decrease in systemic vascular resistance (SVR) with the β-adrenergic stimulation it causes, resulting in a decrease in preload and thus cardiac output. Compensation for the decreased cardiac output can be achieved with the increase in heart rate caused by it (18,19). A decrease in SVR may cause coronary dilatation, leading to what is known as the "coronary steal phenomenon" (18,19). It should be kept in mind that all halogenated volatile anesthetics, including isoflurane, may cause malignant hyperthermia in patients with a personal or family history (18-20). In studies, there are also animal models showing that both i.v. and inhalation anesthesia promotes neuronal apoptosis (21,22). Due to the different biological systems, it is difficult to transfer the neurotoxic effects of volatile anesthetics from animals to humans (19). This leads to more research on the known neuroprotective and neurotoxic effects of volatile anesthetics (19). Recent studies have shown that isoflurane has neuroprotective properties. Especially in studies with neonatal hypoxic ischemic brain injury, it has been found that early isoflurane treatment has neuroprotective effects (23,24).

1.3. Sevoflurane ($C_4H_3F_7O$, methyl isopropyl ether)

Sevoflurane, discovered in 1971, is a halogenated volatile anesthetic that is used for the induction and maintenance of general anesthesia in pediatric patients and in inpatient or outpatient surgery in adults (25). It can provide hypnosis, amnesia, analgesia, akinesia, and autonomic blockade during surgical and procedural interventions (25). It has a colorless volatile form with a mild pleasant odor (26). Although its working mechanism is not clear, it shows its effect similar to other volatile anesthetics by increasing the activity of inhibitory postsynaptic receptors such as GABA and glycine in the CNS or by suppressing excitatory stimuli such as NMDA (18,25). It causes a dose-dependent decrease in blood pressure and cardiac output by reducing SVR (25). Like all volatile anesthetics, it is irritant in terms of respiratory tract, can trigger cough and laryngospasm, but these properties are rarely observed due to its sweet smell and less sharpness compared to others (25). By causing dose-dependent vasodilation in the cerebrovascular area, it increases cerebral blood flow and intracranial pressure, while decreasing cerebral metabolic rate (25). Sevoflurane is an agent with a potential theoretical risk of developing hepatotoxicity, nephrotoxicity, and neurotoxicity (25). In recent studies, it has been reported that sevoflurane reduces myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury and infarct size (27). In addition, there is evidence that it can reduce neuronal damage and cerebral ischemia-reperfusion damage due to its anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effects (28-30). It contributes to the preservation of neurocognitive skills by reducing neuron apoptosis and antioxidant stress (31). Like other volatile anesthetics, sevoflurane is metabolized in the liver by a specific cytochrome enzyme (CYP-2E1) (19). Hepatotoxicity has been reported very rarely due to the low percentage of metabolized sevoflurane (32,33). Today, there are studies reporting that it is used for sedation in intensive care units as well as being used as a maintenance in general anesthesia (34).

1.4. Desflurane (C₃H₂F₆O, methyl ethyl ether)

Desflurane was synthesized in the 1970s. Its only structural difference from isoflurane is that it contains fluorine atoms instead of chlorine. This minor change causes the vapor pressure of desflurane to be 681 mmHg at 20 °C and boiling at room temperature in high altitude regions. A pressure-temperature controlled vaporizer specific to desflurane was developed due to this feature (18,35). Due to its sharp smell, it is preferred for anesthesia maintenance rather than induction. It is very slightly soluble in blood due to its blood/gas partition coefficient of 0.42. This feature causes rapid induction and recovery (18,35). Similar to sevoflurane and isoflurane, a decrease in blood pressure and a minimal increase in heart rate are observed with a decrease in SVR (35). Dilation of cerebral arteries causes a decrease in cerebral metabolic rate and an increase in intracranial pressure (35). In recent studies, it has been reported that delirium and respiratory complications may be encountered more frequently than other agents, especially in the pediatric population (36-38). In studies on the geriatric population, it was determined that postoperative recovery was faster when desflurane was used (39).

1.5. Xenon (Xe)

Xe is a colorless, odorless, non-explosive noble gas first discovered in 1898 for use in spacecraft and flashlights (40). Its anesthetic effect was first discovered after "poisoning" in deepsea divers in hyperbaric conditions and was first applied as an anesthetic by Stewart Cullen in 1951 (40). It is thought to show its effect by competitive inhibition with glycine and through NMDA receptor antagonism (40). It is obtained from the atmosphere after a very expensive distillation process and special anesthesia devices are used for its application (18). Side effects frequently associated with the use of Xe gas for inhalation as a general anesthetic in the literature include increased intracranial pressure, bradycardia, nausea and vomiting (41-43). It has a pharmacokinetic profile suitable for anesthesia with its very low blood-gas partition coefficient (Xe: 0.115, N₂O, 0.47; sevoflurane, 0.65; desflurane, 0.42), regardless of exposure time (44). Since it is excreted from the lungs without biotransformation by the

kidney or liver systems, it is thought that it may be preferred in some patients in whom liver or kidney functions are reduced (44). Due to its hemodynamic stability, recent studies have shown its superiority in cardiac and non-cardiac major surgeries, especially in the elderly population, in terms of postoperative cognitive dysfunction and rapid postoperative recovery. It is environmentally friendly and has no ozone-depleting effect, but its high cost is an important limiting factor in clinical practice (45).

2. Intravenous Anesthetics

The main effect of i.v. anesthetics is sedation and hypnosis caused by CNS depression. Their effects begin quickly, most of them are more lipid soluble and have a high cerebral perfusion rate. The end of their effects is the result of redistribution. They can be used alone in short interventions, as balanced anesthesia with inhalation anesthetics or as total i.v. anesthesia with opioids.

2.1. Barbiturates

Barbiturates depress the reticular activating system, reduce intracranial pressure in clinical doses, and do not have muscle relaxant properties. They are used in status epilepticus because of their anticonvulsant effects.

The sodium salts of barbiturates are water-soluble but markedly alkaline and relatively unstable. The anesthetic effects of barbiturates are culminated by the reduction of the drug from the central lipophilic brain tissues to the peripheral lean muscle compartments. They cause further reduction in cerebral oxygen consumption, so the decrease in cerebral blood flow is not harmful, they can protect the brain against transient focal ischemia attacks. Although the general idea is to cause hyperalgesia after barbiturate administration, recent studies question this situation. Past studies evaluating the effects of thiopental on pain are conflicting (46). Recent studies have shown that thiopental has a neuroprotective effect on postoperative neurological complications (47,48). The use of new barbituric acid derivatives as antioxidant, antibacterial and anti-proliferative agents has become questionable (49-52).

2.2. Benzodiazepines

Benzodiazepines bind to a different site of the same receptor groups as barbiturates in the CNS. Binding to the $GABA_A$ receptor, benzodiazepines increase the frequency of opening of associated chloride ion channels. Their chemical structure consists of a benzene ring and a seven-membered diazepine ring. Substitutions at various positions on these rings affect potency and biotransformation. Metabolites of benzodiazepine biotransformation are excreted mainly in the urine. Prolonged sedation may be observed in patients with renal failure due to the accumulation of alpha hydroxymidazolam, a conjugated metabolite of midazolam (53). It has minimal cardiovascular depressant properties, arterial blood pressure, cardiac output, and peripheral vascular resistance are usually slightly reduced. Cerebral oxygen consumption decreases cerebral blood flow and intracranial pressure, but not as much as barbiturates. It has been shown that long-term use of benzodiazepines leads to irreversible cognitive dysfunction and dementia, especially in elderly patients (54-58). There are studies related to malignancy surgery, suggesting that midazolam may have an antineoplastic effect through different mechanisms (59-62). Remimazolam is an ultra-short-acting benzodiazepine derivative due to its rapid onset, rapid recovery time and degradation by non-specific tissue esterases (63-65).

Remimazolam effects are achieved by binding to the standard benzodiazepine site on the $GABA_A$ receptor (66). It has a superior safety profile with features such as minimal cardiorespiratory side effects, no injection pain, and metabolism unaffected by liver or kidney function. Although many areas of use are foreseen, including anesthesia induction and maintenance, and sedation in intensive care patients, its cost-effectiveness limits the use of the drug.

2.3. Ketamine

Ketamine, an NMDA antagonist, inhibits the effects of excitatory neurotransmitters in the CNS. Functionally, it separates the thalamus from the limbic cortex. While some neurons of the brain are inhibited, others are tonically excited. Clinically, this dissociative state of anesthesia causes patients to appear conscious but unable to evaluate and respond to sensory input. Even subteratopic doses of ketamine can be hallucinogenic, clinically it is administered with small doses of midazolam for amnesia and sedation. It is a good option for i.v. anesthesia in patients with hypovolemia and trauma, in whom ketamine's tendency to produce sympathetic stimulation is particularly beneficial. It is a stereoisomer. The S isomer is superior to the R isomer with its increased anesthetic potency and decreased psychomimetic side effects (67,68). The accepted conventional belief about ketamine is that ketamine increases cerebral oxygen consumption, cerebral blood flow, and intracranial pressure. Although this situation limits its use in intracranial traumas and intracranial space-occupying lesions, recent publications question these effects of ketamine (69-71).

2.4. Etomidate (R 16659)

Etomidate depresses the reticular activating system and mimics the inhibitory effects of GABA. Etomidate (R 16659) is a potent GABA, receptor agonist. Like ketamine, it is racemic. Unlike barbiturates, it has disinhibitory effects on parts of the nervous system that control extrapyramidal motor activity, so myoclonus is seen between 30-60% in induction. It has been shown that dexmedetomidine can effectively prevent the incidence of etomidate-induced myoclonus (72). Cardiovascular effects are minimal. Compared to other agents for rapid serial intubation. it is a superior agent in terms of hemodynamic stabilization (73,74). It decreases cerebral metabolic rate, cerebral blood flow and intracranial pressure. Postoperative nausea and vomiting are more common than barbiturates and propofol, and it has no analgesic effect. Since induction doses of etomidate temporarily inhibit the enzymes involved in the synthesis of cortisol and aldosterone, it has been observed that it causes adrenocortical suppression, especially in cases of long-term infusion, especially in patients with sepsis (75). ABP-700, newly developed in drug studies, is an etomidate analogue with a short half-life due to its rapid degradation and inactive metabolites. Although the frequency of nausea, vomiting and adrenocortical suppression is less than that of etomidate, the incidence of involuntary muscle movements and seizures is not less than etomidate, which limits the use of ABP 700 for now (76-79).

2.5. Propofol (C₁₂H₁₈O, 2,6 diisopropylphenol)

Propofol allosterically increases the binding affinity of GABA to the GABA_A receptor. It consists of a phenol ring to which two isopropyl groups are attached. It has been shown in many studies to reduce postoperative complications and oxidative stress, which leads to faster recovery, and may therefore be the induction agent of choice in the right clinical setting (80,81). When used for long-term sedation, lipemia causes metabolic acidosis and propofol infusion syndrome with death, especially in children and young adults (82). It has been shown that chemotherapeutic drugs can enhance their anti-neoplastic effect and inhibit tumor growth and metastasis in in vivo animal models (83,84).

The pharmacological activity of fospropofol, a prodrug of propofol, results from its degradation by alkaline phosphatase and the release of its active molecule propofol. Compared to propofol, the duration of peak effect is longer. Therefore, side effects such as hypotension and respiratory depression are less common in patients compared to the propofol bolus. Another advantage of propofol is that it does not cause a burning sensation in i.v. administration, but the paresthesia and itching sensation after drug administration and the late onset of its effect limit its clinical use (85-87).

2.6. Dexmedetomidine (C₁₃H₁₆N₂)

Dexmedetomidine is a potent selective $\alpha 2$ agonist agent with sedative, analgesic and anxiolytic properties. It has a short distribution half-life of six minutes. Despite the side effects of hypotension and bradycardia, it is quite safe for short-term sedation. Its use in patients in the process of weaning from mechanical ventilation in the intensive care unit is very important in terms of patient comfort (88). Its use as a sedative agent in perioperative and intensive care units may provide advantages, especially in elderly patients, by reducing the incidence of postoperative delirium and shortening the discharge time (89-91). Although recent studies give different results regarding its effects on malignancy progression, they emphasize that it facilitates metastasis due to inducing angiogenesis (91-93).

CONCLUSION

As a conclusion; the process, which started with the discovery of the anesthetic properties of diethyl ether by William Morton in 1846, as the beginning of anesthesia and inhalation anesthesia in the medical world, continued to develop with the discovery of many anesthetic agents. New agents will allow us to leave the traditional understanding of anesthesia in the background and allow us to respond more appropriately to the increasing elderly population and increasing population with minimal effects on recovery time and cardiovascular side effects.

Ethics

Peer-review: Internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: M.C.Ç., R.O.K., M.N.Y., Concept: M.C.Ç., R.O.K., M.N.Y., Design: M.C.Ç., R.O.K., M.N.Y., Data Collection or Processing: M.C.Ç., R.O.K., M.N.Y., Analysis or Interpretation: M.N.Y., N.T., Literature Search: M.C.Ç., R.O.K., M.N.Y., Writing: M.C.Ç., R.O.K., M.N.Y., N.T.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

REFERENCES

1. Mark G. Mandabach; the wondrous story of anesthesia. Anesthesiology 2015;122:476.

- 2. Torri G. Inhalation anesthetics: a review. Minerva Anestesiol 2010;76:215-28.
- 3. Suckling CW. Some chemical and physical factors in the development of fluothane. Br J Anaesth 1957;29:466-72.
- 4. Becker DE, Rosenberg M. Nitrous oxide and the inhalation anesthetics. Anesth Prog 2008;55:124-30; quiz 131-2.
- 5. Holroyd I, Roberts GJ. Inhalation sedation with nitrous oxide: a review. Dent Update 2000;27:141-2, 144, 146.
- 6. Emmanouil DE, Quock RM. Advances in understanding the actions of nitrous oxide. Anesth Prog 2007;54:9-18.
- Zafirova Z, Sheehan C, Hosseinian L. Update on nitrous oxide and its use in anesthesia practice. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol 2018;32:113-123.
- 8. Myles PS, Leslie K, Chan MT, Forbes A, Paech MJ, Peyton P, et al. Avoidance of nitrous oxide for patients undergoing major surgery: a randomized controlled trial. Anesthesiology 2007;107:221-31.
- 9. Myles PS, Leslie K, Peyton P, Paech M, Forbes A, Chan MT, et al. Nitrous oxide and perioperative cardiac morbidity (ENIGMA-II) trial: rationale and design. Am Heart J 2009;157:488-94.e1.
- 10. Ko H, Kaye AD, Urman RD. Nitrous oxide and perioperative outcomes. J Anesth 2014;28:420-8.
- Task Force for Preoperative Cardiac Risk Assessment and Perioperative Cardiac Management in Non-cardiac Surgery; European Society of Cardiology (ESC), Poldermans D, Bax JJ, Boersma E, De Hert S, et al. Guidelines for preoperative cardiac risk assessment and perioperative cardiac management in non-cardiac surgery. Eur Heart J 2009;30:2769-812.
- 12. Donaldson M, Donaldson D, Quarnstrom FC. Nitrous oxide-oxygen administration: when safety features no longer are safe. J Am Dent Assoc 2012;143:134-43.
- 13. Haller G, Chan MTV, Combescure C, Lopez U, Pichon I, Licker M, et al. The international ENIGMA-II substudy on postoperative cognitive disorders (ISEP). Sci Rep 2021;11:11631.
- 14. Xiang Y, Li L, Ma X, Li S, Xue Y, Yan P, et al. Recreational nitrous oxide abuse: prevalence, neurotoxicity, and treatment. Neurotox Res 2021;39:975-85.
- 15. Thayabaran D, Burrage D. Nitrous oxide-induced neurotoxicity: a case report and literature review. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2021;87:3622-6.
- Lew V, McKay E, Maze M. Past, present, and future of nitrous oxide. Br Med Bull 2018;125:103-19.
- 17. Schmitt A, Cardinale C, Loundou A, Miquel L, Agostini A. Nitrous oxide for pain management of first-trimester instrumental termination of pregnancy under local anaesthesia and/or minimal sedation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2021;261:193-9.
- 18. Butterworth JF, Mackey DC, Wasnick JD. Morgan & Mikhail's clinical anesthesiology. 2013;1366.
- Hawkley TF, Preston M, Maani CV. Isoflurane. In: StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing, Treasure Island (FL); 2021. Available from: https://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK532957/
- 20. Rosenberg H, Pollock N, Schiemann A, Bulger T, Stowell K. Malignant hyperthermia: a review. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2015;10:93.
- 21. Orser BA, Suresh S, Evers AS. SmartTots update regarding anesthetic neurotoxicity in the developing brain. Anesth Analg 2018;126:1393-6.

- Xiao XL, Wu JT, Zhang HZ, Wang YD, Zhang JQ, Liu LF, et al. The neurotoxic effect of isoflurane on age-defined neurons generated from tertiary dentate matrix in mice. Brain Behav 2021;11:e01949.
- Chen SJ, Yuan XQ, Xue Q, Lu HF, Chen G. Current research progress of isoflurane in cerebral ischemia/reperfusion injury: a narrative review. Med Gas Res 2022;12:73-6.
- Burchell SR, Dixon BJ, Tang J, Zhang JH. Isoflurane provides neuroprotection in neonatal hypoxic ischemic brain injury. J Investig Med 2013;61:1078-83.
- Edgington TL, Muco E, Maani CV. Sevoflurane. StatPearls. 2022. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK534781/
- Behne M, Wilke HJ, Harder S. Clinical pharmacokinetics of sevoflurane. Clin Pharmacokinet 1999;36:13-26.
- Lemoine S, Zhu L, Gérard JL, Hanouz JL. Sevoflurane-induced cardioprotection in coronary artery bypass graft surgery: randomised trial with clinical and ex-vivo endpoints. Anaesth Crit Care Pain Med 2018;37:217-23.
- Lv B, Jiang XM, Wang DW, Chen J, Han DF, Liu XL. Protective effects and mechanisms of action of ulinastatin against cerebral ischemiareperfusion injury. Curr Pharm Des 2020;26:3332-40.
- 29. Neag MA, Mitre AO, Catinean A, Mitre CI. An overview on the mechanisms of neuroprotection and neurotoxicity of isoflurane and sevoflurane in experimental studies. Brain Res Bull 2020;165:281-9.
- Liang TY, Peng SY, Ma M, Li HY, Wang Z, Chen G. Protective effects of sevoflurane in cerebral ischemia reperfusion injury: a narrative review. Med Gas Res 2021;11:152-4.
- Zhang Y, Shan GJ, Zhang YX, Cao SJ, Zhu SN, Li HJ, et al. Propofol compared with sevoflurane general anaesthesia is associated with decreased delayed neurocognitive recovery in older adults. Br J Anaesth 2018;121:595-604.
- 32. Rajan S, Garg D, Cummings KC 3rd, Krishnaney AA. Hepatotoxicity after sevoflurane anaesthesia: a new twist to an old story. Br J Anaesth 2019;122:e63-4.
- 33. Bishop B, Hannah N, Doyle A, Amico F, Hockey B, Moore D, et al. A prospective study of the incidence of drug-induced liver injury by the modern volatile anaesthetics sevoflurane and desflurane. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2019;49:940-51.
- 34. Blondonnet R, Quinson A, Lambert C, Audard J, Godet T, Zhai R, et al. Use of volatile agents for sedation in the intensive care unit: a national survey in France. PLoS One 2021;16:e0249889.
- Khan J, Liu M. Desflurane. StatPearls. 2021;15. Available from: https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK537106/
- 36. Chen WS, Chiang MH, Hung KC, Lin KL, Wang CH, Poon YY, et al. Adverse respiratory events with sevoflurane compared with desflurane in ambulatory surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2020;37:1093-104.
- Moore AD, Anghelescu DL. Emergence delirium in pediatric anesthesia. Paediatr Drugs 2017;19:11-20. Erratum in: Paediatr Drugs 2017;19:267.
- Cortese G, Carron M, Montrucchio G, Brazzi L. Sugammadex-induced bronchospasm during desflurane anaesthesia: an open question. Br J Anaesth 2020;124:e17-8.
- Wang C, Li L, Xu H, Lv H, Zhang H. Effect of desflurane-remifentanil or sevoflurane-remifentanil on early recovery in elderly patients: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. Pharmazie 2019;74:201-5.
- Jin Z, Piazza O, Ma D, Scarpati G, De Robertis E. Xenon anesthesia and beyond: pros and cons. Minerva Anestesiol 2019;85:83-9.

- 41. Plougmann J, Astrup J, Pedersen J, Gyldensted C. Effect of stable xenon inhalation on intracranial pressure during measurement of cerebral blood flow in head injury. J Neurosurg 1994;81:822-8.
- Law LS, Lo EA, Gan TJ. Xenon anesthesia: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. Anesth Analg 2016;122:678-97.
- 43. Lo EA, Law LS, Gan TJ. Paradox of the incidence of postoperative nausea and vomiting after xenon-based anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth 2016;116:881-3.
- 44. Maze M, Laitio T. Neuroprotective properties of xenon. Mol Neurobiol 2020;57:118-24.
- 45. Nair AS, Christopher A, Pulipaka SK, Suvvari P, Kodisharapu PK, Rayani BK. Efficacy of xenon anesthesia in preventing postoperative cognitive dysfunction after cardiac and major non-cardiac surgeries in elderly patients: a topical review. Med Gas Res 2021;11:110-3.
- 46. Arout CA, Petrakis IL, Ralevski E, Acampora G, Koretski J, DeNegre D, et al. Thiopental does not produce hyperalgesia: a laboratory study using two human experimental pain models. Pain Med. 2020;21:2823-9.
- 47. Kim BG, Jeon YT, Han J, Bae YK, Lee SU, Ryu JH, et al. The neuroprotective effect of thiopental on the postoperative neurological complications in patients undergoing surgical clipping of unruptured intracranial aneurysm: a retrospective analysis. J Clin Med 2021;10:1197.
- Hristovska I, Verdonk F, Comte JC, Tsai ES, Desestret V, Honnorat J, et al. Ketamine/xylazine and barbiturates modulate microglial morphology and motility differently in a mouse model. PLoS One 2020;15:e0236594.
- 49. Figueiredo J, Serrano JL, Cavalheiro E, Keurulainen L, Yli-Kauhaluoma J, Moreira VM, et al. Trisubstituted barbiturates and thiobarbiturates: synthesis and biological evaluation as xanthine oxidase inhibitors, antioxidants, antibacterial and anti-proliferative agents. Eur J Med Chem 2018;143:829-42.
- 50. Madhvi, Utreja D, Sharma S. Barbiturates: a review of synthesis and antimicrobial research progress. Curr Org Synth 2022;19:31-55.
- 51. Al Rasheed H, Dahlous K, Sharma A, Sholkamy E, El-Faham A, de la Torre BG, et al. Barbiturate- and thiobarbituarte-based s-triazine hydrazone derivatives with promising antiproliferative activities. ACS Omega 2020;5:15805-11.
- 52. Serrano JL, Lopes D, Reis MJA, Boto REF, Silvestre S, Almeida P. Bisthiobarbiturates as promising xanthine oxidase inhibitors: synthesis and biological evaluation. Biomedicines 2021;9:1443.
- Balk M, Hentschke H, Rudolph U, Antkowiak B, Drexler B. Differential depression of neuronal network activity by midazolam and its main metabolite 1-hydroxymidazolam in cultured neocortical slices. Sci Rep 2017;7:3503.
- Verdoux H, Lagnaoui R, Begaud B. Is benzodiazepine use a risk factor for cognitive decline and dementia? A literature review of epidemiological studies. Psychol Med 2005;35:307-15.
- 55. Penninkilampi R, Eslick GD. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the risk of dementia associated with benzodiazepine use, after controlling for protopathic bias. CNS Drugs 2018;32:485-97.
- Islam MM, Iqbal U, Walther B, Atique S, Dubey NK, Nguyen PA, et al. Benzodiazepine use and risk of dementia in the elderly population: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neuroepidemiology 2016;47:181-91.
- 57. Billioti de Gage S, Bégaud B, Bazin F, Verdoux H, Dartigues JF, Pérès K, et al. Benzodiazepine use and risk of dementia: prospective population based study. BMJ 2012;345:e6231.
- 58. Zhong G, Wang Y, Zhang Y, Zhao Y. Association between benzodiazepine use and dementia: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 2015;10:e0127836.

- 59. Sun T, Chen J, Sun X, Wang G. Midazolam increases cisplatin-sensitivity in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) via the miR-194-5p/HOOK3 axis. Cancer Cell Int 2021;21:401.
- 60. Qi Y, Yao X, Du X. Midazolam inhibits proliferation and accelerates apoptosis of hepatocellular carcinoma cells by elevating microRNA-124-3p and suppressing PIM-1. IUBMB Life 2020;72:452-64.
- Jiao J, Wang Y, Sun X, Jiang X. Midazolam induces A549 cell apoptosis in vitro via the miR-520d-5p/STAT3 pathway. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 2018;11:1365-73.
- 62. Wang C, Datoo T, Zhao H, Wu L, Date A, Jiang C, et al. Midazolam and dexmedetomidine affect neuroglioma and lung carcinoma cell biology in vitro and in vivo. Anesthesiology 2018;129:1000-14.
- 63. Kilpatrick GJ. Remimazolam: non-clinical and clinical profile of a new sedative/anesthetic agent. Front Pharmacol 2021;12:690875.
- 64. Pambianco DJ, Borkett KM, Riff DS, Winkle PJ, Schwartz HI, Melson TI, et al. A phase IIb study comparing the safety and efficacy of remimazolam and midazolam in patients undergoing colonoscopy. Gastrointest Endosc 2016;83:984-92.
- 65. Zhou Y, Hu P, Jiang J. Metabolite characterization of a novel sedative drug, remimazolam in human plasma and urine using ultra high-performance liquid chromatography coupled with synapt high-definition mass spectrometry. J Pharm Biomed Anal 2017;137:78-83.
- 66. Trudell JR, Bertaccini E, Maciver MB. Teaching an old GABA receptor new tricks. Anesth Analg 2012;115:270-3.
- 67. Jelen LA, Young AH, Stone JM. Ketamine: a tale of two enantiomers. J Psychopharmacol 2021;35:109-23.
- 68. Hashimoto K. Molecular mechanisms of the rapid-acting and longlasting antidepressant actions of (R)-ketamine. Biochem Pharmacol 2020;177:113935.
- 69. Zeiler FA, Teitelbaum J, West M, Gillman LM. The ketamine effect on ICP in traumatic brain injury. Neurocrit Care 2014;21:163-73.
- Gregers MCT, Mikkelsen S, Lindvig KP, Brøchner AC. Ketamine as an anesthetic for patients with acute brain injury: a systematic review. Neurocrit Care 2020;33:273-82.
- 71. Godoy DA, Badenes R, Pelosi P, Robba C. Ketamine in acute phase of severe traumatic brain injury "an old drug for new uses?". Crit Care 2021;25:19.
- 72. Du X, Zhou C, Pan L, Li C. Effect of dexmedetomidine in preventing etomidate-induced myoclonus: a meta-analysis. Drug Des Devel Ther 2017;11:365-70.
- Sharda SC, Bhatia MS. Etomidate compared to ketamine for induction during rapid sequence intubation: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Indian J Crit Care Med 2022;26:108-13.
- 74. Stanke L, Nakajima S, Zimmerman LH, Collopy K, Fales C, Powers W 4th. hemodynamic effects of ketamine versus etomidate for prehospital rapid sequence intubation. Air Med J 2021;40:312-6.
- Chan CM, Mitchell AL, Shorr AF. Etomidate is associated with mortality and adrenal insufficiency in sepsis: a meta-analysis*. Crit Care Med 2012;40:2945-53.
- Valk BI, McGrath M, Lehoux D, Zerler B, Marota JJA, Raines DE. Toxicologic and inhibitory receptor actions of the etomidate analog ABP-700 and its metabolite CPM-acid. Anesthesiology 2019;131:287-304.
- Valk BI, Struys MMRF. Etomidate and its analogs: a review of pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Clin Pharmacokinet 2021;60:1253-69.

- Campagna JA, Pojasek K, Grayzel D, Randle J, Raines DE. Advancing novel anesthetics: pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic studies of cyclopropyl-methoxycarbonyl metomidate in dogs. Anesthesiology 2014;121:1203-16.
- Malapero RJ, Zaccagnino MP, Brovman EY, Kaye AD, Urman RD. Etomidate derivatives: novel pharmaceutical agents in anesthesia. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol 2017;33:429-31.
- 80. Senoner T, Velik-Salchner C, Luckner G, Tauber H. Anesthesia-induced oxidative stress: are there differences between intravenous and inhaled anesthetics? Oxid Med Cell Longev 2021;2021:8782387.
- 81. Tsuchiya M, Shiomoto K, Mizutani K, Fujioka K, Suehiro K, Yamata T, et al. Reduction of oxidative stress a key for enhanced postoperative recovery with fewer complications in esophageal surgery patients: randomized control trial to investigate therapeutic impact of anesthesia management and usefulness of simple blood test for prediction of high-risk patients. Medicine (Baltimore). 2018;97:e12845.
- Hemphill S, McMenamin L, Bellamy MC, Hopkins PM. Propofol infusion syndrome: a structured literature review and analysis of published case reports. Br J Anaesth 2019;122:448-59.
- 83. Xu Y, Pan S, Jiang W, Xue F, Zhu X. Effects of propofol on the development of cancer in humans. Cell Prolif. 2020;53:e12867.
- 84. Guerrero Orriach JL, Raigon Ponferrada A, Malo Manso A, Herrera Imbroda B, Escalona Belmonte JJ, Ramirez Aliaga M, et al. Anesthesia in combination with propofol increases disease-free survival in bladder cancer patients who undergo radical tumor cystectomy as compared to inhalational anesthetics and opiate-based analgesia. Oncology 2020;98:161-7.
- 85. Abdelmalak B, Khanna A, Tetzlaff J. Fospropofol, a new sedative anesthetic, and its utility in the perioperative period. Curr Pharm Des 2012;18:6241-52.
- 86. Silvestri GA, Vincent BD, Wahidi MM, Robinette E, Hansbrough JR, Downie GH. A phase 3, randomized, double-blind study to assess the efficacy and safety of fospropofol disodium injection for moderate sedation in patients undergoing flexible bronchoscopy. Chest 2009;135:41-7. Erratum in: Chest 2010;137:744.
- 87. Pergolizzi JV Jr, Gan TJ, Plavin S, Labhsetwar S, Taylor R. Perspectives on the role of fospropofol in the monitored anesthesia care setting. Anesthesiol Res Pract 2011;2011:458920.
- Farag E, Argalious M, Abd-Elsayed A, Ebrahim Z, Doyle DJ. The use of dexmedetomidine in anesthesia and intensive care: a review. Curr Pharm Des 2012;18:6257-65.
- 89. Mei B, Meng G, Xu G, Cheng X, Chen S, Zhang Y, et al. Intraoperative sedation with dexmedetomidine is superior to propofol for elderly patients undergoing hip arthroplasty: a prospective randomized controlled study. Clin J Pain 2018;34:811-7.
- 90. Eremenko AA, Chemova EV. Comparison of dexmedetomidine and propofol for short-term sedation in early postoperative period after cardiac surgery. Anesteziol Reanimatol 2014:37-41.
- 91. Liu C, Wang W, Shan Z, Zhang H, Yan Q. Dexmedetomidine as an adjuvant for patients undergoing breast cancer surgery: a metaanalysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2020;99:e23667.
- 92. Nair AS, Saifuddin MS, Naik V, Rayani BK. Dexmedetomidine in cancer surgeries: present status and consequences with its use. Indian J Cancer 2020;57:234-8.
- Lavon H, Matzner P, Benbenishty A, A, Sorski L, Rossene E, Haldar R, et al. Dexmedetomidine promotes metastasis in rodent models of breast, lung, and colon cancers. Br J Anaesth 2018;120:188-96.



Early and Mid-term Results Following Surgery of Elbow Fractures with the Terrible Triad

🕲 Ersin Taşatan¹, 🕲 Bülent Karslıoğlu¹, 🕲 Ali Çağrı Tekin¹, 🕲 Esra Tekin², 🕲 Hakan Gürbüz¹

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İstanbul, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Anesthesia and Reanimation, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: This study aimed to evaluate the mid-term results of patients with dislocated fractures around the elbow with the terrible triad who were treated with an elbow external fixator together with internal fixation and ligament repair.

Methods: The study included patients who underwent surgery for a diagnosis of a terrible triad between January 2009 and January 2015. A total of 14 patients were diagnosed with terrible triad and were operated with an elbow external fixator additional to internal fixation and ligament repair.

Results: The mean follow-up period was 27 months (range, 22-38 months). According to the Mayo elbow performance score, 10 patients were evaluated as excellent, 2 as good and 2 as poor. The flexion ROM were mean 118° (range, 115°-122°), and extension ROM was mean 26° (range, 20°-32°). Flexion contracture was determined of mean 15° (range, 10°-20°) and extension contracture of mean 7.5° (range, 5°-10°). Full bone union was observed radiographically in all patients.

Conclusion: In fractures around the elbow diagnosed with terrible triad, the combination of internal fixation with elbow external fixator provided the possibility of starting elbow joint movements in the early period and the mid-term results obtained were pleasing.

Keywords: Elbow, fracture, external fixator, terrible triad

INTRODUCTION

Bone fractures and ligamentous structure injuries accompanying complex elbow dislocations are significant causes of elbow instability. These are injuries that can cause problems at the treatment stage when accompanied by various clinical problems (1,2).

The aim of treatment for complicated elbow dislocations is to be able to obtain a stable joint that provides good functional status following early surgical reconstruction (3,4).

This study aimed to evaluate the functional results of patients with dislocated fractures around the elbow with the terrible triad who were treated with an elbow external fixator together with internal fixation and ligament repair.

METHODS

Approval for this retrospective study was granted by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Okmeydani Training and Research Hospital Local Ethics Committee (no: 48670771-514,10). The study included patients who underwent surgery for a diagnosis of a terrible triad. Between January 2009 and January 2015.

A total of 14 patients were diagnosed with terrible triad and were operated with an elbow external fixator additional to internal fixation and ligament repair (Table 1). The patients had noncomminuted radial head fractures that involve <40% articular surface and type I-II coronoid fractures. Patients were excluded from the study if they had a stable elbow fracture, neurovascular injuries, or elbow fracture following a congenital disease.



Address for Correspondence: Bülent Karslıoğlu, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 505 810 63 73 E-mail: bukars@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-6127-9672 Received: 07.11.2019 Accepted: 14.03.2021

Cite this article as: Taşatan E, Karslıoğlu B, Tekin AÇ, Tekin E, Gürbüz H. Early and Mid-term Results Following Surgery of Elbow Fractures with the Terrible Triad. Eur Arch Med Res 2022;38(3):161-165

©Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital European Archives of Medical Research published by Galenos Publishing House. On postoperative day 3rd, elbow joint movements were started in all patients as tolerated. For each of the 14 patients included in the study, a record was made of age, gender, mechanism of injury, concomitant injuries, early and late postoperative radiographs and computed tomography images, the total follow-up period, time from trauma to surgery, early and late postoperative complications and time to union (Figure 1).

Table 1. Demographic features and clinical measurements of the patients				
Gender (M/F)	14/0			
Mean age (years)	34 (24-48)			
Mean follow-up period (months)	27 (22-38)			
Mean time from trauma to surgery (hours)	36 (24-48)			
Mean follow-up period with external fixator (weeks)	5 (4-6)			
Mean VAS score	8 (7-9)			
Mean elbow flexion angle (degrees)	118.60°+2.3 (range, 115°-122°)			
Mean elbow flexion contracture angle (degrees)	15°+3.5 (range, 10°-20°)			
Mean elbow extension angle (degrees)	7.5°+1.4 (range, 5°-10°)			
M: Male, F: Female, VAS: Visual analog sca	ile			



Figure 1. a, b) Postoperative X-rays of one of our patients

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistical methods such as mean, standard deviation, median, frequency and ratio were applied while evaluating the study data.

Surgical Technique

All the patients were operated on under general anesthesia by different surgeons in our hospital. For radius head fracture restoration and lateral collateral ligament (LCL) injury reconstruction, either a Kocher or Kaplan incision was used, depending on the surgical plan. In patients with a multifragmented radius head, a radius head prosthesis was used. In patients with a radius head that could be restored, fixation with screws only or with plate and screws was applied. LCL repair was applied with the aid of suture anchors. Under fluoroscopic guidance, a K-wire was placed in the lateral plane to pass the midpoint of the condyles then 2x4 mm Schanz screws were placed from the lateral of the distal humerus followed by 2x4 mm Schanz screws in the lateral plane from the proximal ulna. Fixation was then provided by placing an elbow external fixator so that the K-wire was at the hinge point of the humerus condyles. After checking the stability and bleeding, the layers were closed appropriately. No early postoperative complications were observed in any patient.

RESULTS

The 14 cases included in the study were male with a mean age of 35.7+8.9 years (range, 24-48 years). The mean time from trauma to surgery was 36+6.6 h (range, 24-48 hours) and the mean follow-up period was 27.6+4.7 months (range, 22-38 months). The mechanism of trauma was a workplace accident in 3 cases (21.4%) and a fall from height in 11 cases (78.6%). Head trauma was determined in 1 patient (9%), and sub trochanteric femur fracture in 2 patients (18%) who fell from height. The patient suffered from a workplace accident and had no additional injuries.

The follow-up time with external fixator was mean 5 weeks +0.8 (range, 4-6 weeks). After the removal of the external fixator, the mean visual analog scale (VAS) score was 8+0.78 (range, 7-9). According to the Mayo elbow performance score, 10 patients were evaluated as excellent, 2 as good and 2 as poor (Table 2). The elbow flexion angle was mean 118.60°+2.3 (range, 115°-122°). Flexion contracture was determined to mean 15°+3.5 (range, 10°-20°) and extension contracture of mean 7.5°+1.4 (range, 5°-10°). Full bone union was observed radiographically in all patients (Figure 2). Infection in 2 of the patients with an open fracture was eradicated with antibiotherapy without the need for removal of the implant. In 2 patients (5%) with an open fracture who did not respond to antibiotherapy, the radius head prosthesis was removed at 6 months postoperatively because

Table 2. Mayo elbow sc	ore		
	n	%	Mayo Elbow Score
Excellent	10	71.4	
Good	2	14.3	good 14%
Poor	2	14.3	14% excellent
Total	14	100	775



Figure 2. a, b) Full bone union was observed radiographically in all the patients

of infection. Apart from these 2 patients where the radius head prosthesis was removed, no postoperative instability was observed. No postoperative complications of neurovascular deficit or heterotrophic ossification developed. The superficial pin tract infection was seen in the pins placed in the humerus in 4 patients and this responded to oral antibiotic treatment in all cases.

DISCUSSION

The aim of the treatment of complicated elbow injuries should be to obtain stable joint restoration by providing full joint range of motion (3,5,6). It is usually difficult to achieve this as different procedures must be used for the restoration of the bones and when a wide surgical dissection is necessary, more invasive surgical methods are required. The use of minimally invasive methods is recommended, which will provide mobilization and stability for treating complicated elbow fractured dislocations (3,6,7).

With the consideration of a minimally invasive approach, elbow external fixator treatment was combined with ligament repair and internal fixation for the patients in this study. No difference was observed between the early postoperative and mid-term results.

The hinged external fixator (HEF) is an effective, minimally invasive method that can be used to create a stable joint at a good level of function in terrible triad injuries and complicated elbow fracture dislocations. HEF provides good protection during the healing process in patients where ligament repair has been achieved. In this study, the VAS pain score and Mayo performance score evaluations were consistent with the literature (2,3,6).

The gold standard treatment in complicated elbow fracture dislocations is restoration, with repair made of capsular and ligament structures with internal fixation (3,4). The gold standard treatment for complex fractures around the elbow is internal

fixation and stable reconstruction. Elbow external fixators are used in several complex injuries (8). In this study, an elbow external fixator was used alone in patients diagnosed with the terrible triad and mid-term successful results were obtained.

There are difficulties in the combination of multiple surgical procedures and the treatment of fractures around the elbow joint (9). In this study, despite several difficulties in the application of the elbow external fixator, no major complications developed in any patient in the current study.

Instability is generally seen after reconstruction of bone and ligamentous structures in complicated elbow fracture dislocations, which leads to terrible triad injury dislocations. The treatment results of these injuries do often not please, with post-traumatic instability, joint stiffness and early joint arthrosis often seen (5,10). In patients with elbow dislocation diagnosed with a terrible triad, it has been reported that the use of plaster cast for immobilization could prevent early mobilization and increases the risk of joint contracture and stiffness (11-15). It has been reported in the literature that patients with terrible triad diagnosis experience pain and restricted joint movement (16-18). In the present study, restricted movement was determined in only 2 patients.

Unstable elbows are often treated with the application of a plaster cast following primary ligament and bone repair. Ligament repair may not provide sufficient stabilization for early active movement. As plaster cast immobilization does not permit early movement, there is an increased risk of joint stiffness forming leading to joint contracture (9,11-13). Therefore, the HEF is an effective treatment method for complicated elbow dislocations. Successful early results have been reported in the literature from the use of an elbow fixator for early movement (17). Consistent with the data in the literature, the early and mid-term results of the current study patients were successful.

During rehabilitation of an elbow fixed with an elbow external fixator, the elbow is stabilized against the varus stress formed associated with the weight of the forearm when the shoulder is in abduction. As this stabilization was provided in this series, open surgical approaches, which lead to fibrosis and heterotrophic calcification, could be avoided, The HEF, when applied centralized to provide medial collateral ligament and LCL isometry, reduce scar formation by allowing early mobilization (18). No scar formation was observed in the current study patients, which was consistent with the literature. The most important complications of the surgical treatment of patients with terrible triad of symptoms are heterotrophic ossification, joint stiffness, nerve injury and recurrent subluxation or dislocation (18).

Previous studies have shown that excessive dissection and a late start to movement lead to heterotrophic ossification and elbow stiffness. In this study, as movements were started early and minimally invasive surgical dissection was performed, no heterotrophic ossification was observed.

There are inherent difficulties in the application of an elbow external fixator to fractures around the elbow. However, it has been shown that when the HEF technique is applied appropriately, taking the anatomical regions into consideration, no complications develop (19). As the fixator was applied to the patients in the current study taking the technical properties into consideration, no associated complications were observed. A superficial infection encountered in 2 patients was successfully treated with antibiotherapy.

In many studies, while the elbow flexion and extension degree of movement after removal of the fixator in most cases are good in the early period (18,20), the mid-term results of the current study were also seen to be good.

Study Limitations

The limitations of the current study are that the number of patients was low and there was no long-term follow-up.

CONCLUSION

In fractures around the elbow diagnosed with terrible triad, the combination of internal fixation with elbow external fixator provided the possibility of starting elbow joint movements in the early period and the mid-term results obtained were pleasing. Therefore, this can be considered a good option during the initial treatment.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Approval for this retrospective study was granted by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Okmeydani Training and Research Hospital Local Ethics Committee (no: 48670771-514,10).

Informed Consent: All the patients participating in the study were informed about the study and informed consent was obtained.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: A.Ç.T., E.Te., Concept: A.Ç.T., Design: B.K., Data Collection or Processing: B.K., Analysis or Interpretation: H.G., Writing: E.T., B.K.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- 1. Tan V, Daluiski A, Capo J, Hotchkiss R. Hinged elbow external fixators: indications and uses. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 2005;13:503-14.
- Zeiders GJ, Patel MK. Management of unstable elbows following complex fracture-dislocations--the "terrible triad" injury. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2008;90 (Suppl 4):75-84.
- McKee MD, Pugh DM, Wild LM, Schemitsch EH, King GJ. Standard surgical protocol to treat elbow dislocations with radial head and coronoid fractures. Surgical technique. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2005;87 (Suppl 1)(Pt 1):22-32.
- Doornberg J, Ring D, Jupiter JB. Effective treatment of fracturedislocations of the olecranon requires a stable trochlear notch. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2004:292-300.
- 5. Ring D, Jupiter JB, Sanders RW, Mast J, and Simpson NS. Trans olecranon fracture-dislocation of the elbow. J Orthop Trauma. 1997;11:545-50.
- Sørensen AK, Søjbjerg JO. Treatment of persistent instability after posterior fracture-dislocation of the elbow: restoring stability and mobility by internal fixation and hinged external fixation. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2011;20:1300-9.
- 7. Ruch DS, Triepel CR. Hinged elbow fixation for recurrent instability following fracture dislocation. Injury 2001;32 (Suppl 4):SD70-8.
- Sakai K, Shirahama M, Shiba N, Yoshida K, Yoshida S. Primary hinged external fixation of terrible triad injuries and olecranon fracturedislocations of the elbow. Kurume Med J 2017;63:7-14.
- 9. Lindenhovius AL, Jupiter JB, Ring D. Comparison of acute versus subacute treatment of terrible triad injuries of the elbow. J Hand Surg Am 2008;33:920-6.
- 10. Josefsson PO, Gentz CF, Johnell O, Wendeberg B. Dislocations of the elbow and intraarticular fractures. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1989:126-30.
- 11. Hefti F, Stoll TM. Healing of ligaments and tendons. Orthopade 1995;24:237-45.
- Maripuri SN, Debnath UK, Rao P, Mohanty K. Simple elbow dislocation among adults: a comparative study of two different methods of treatment. Injury 2007;38:1254-8.
- 13. Mehlhoff TL, Noble PC, Bennett JB, Tullos HS. Simple dislocation of the elbow in the adult. Results after closed treatment. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1988;70:244-9.
- 14. Protzman RR. Dislocation of the elbow joint. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1978;60:539-41.
- Schippinger G, Seibert FJ, Steinböck J, Kucharczyk M. Management of simple elbow dislocations. Does the period of immobilization affect the eventual results? Langenbecks Arch Surg 1999;384:294-7.

- 16. Chen NC, Ring D. Terrible triad injuries of the elbow. J Hand Surg Am 2015;40:2297-303.
- 17. Hoffmeyer P. CORR Insights[®]: Good functional recovery of complex elbow dislocations treated with hinged external fixation: a multicenter prospective study. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2015;473:1462-3.
- 18. lordens GI, Den Hartog D, Van Lieshout EM, Tuinebreijer WE, De Haan J, Patka P, et al. Good functional recovery of complex elbow dislocations

treated with hinged external fixation: a multicenter prospective study. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2015;473:1451-61.

- 19. Ring D, Bruinsma WE, Jupiter JB. Complications of hinged external fixation compared with cross-pinning of the elbow for acute and subacute instability. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2014;472:2044-8.
- 20. O'Driscoll SW, Jupiter JB, Cohen MS, Ring D, McKee MD. Difficult elbow fractures: pearls and pitfalls. Instr Course Lect 2003;52:113-34.



Long Term (4 years) Refractive Outcomes of Eyecryl[®] Phakic Intraocular Lens Implantation in Myopia

Atilla Hacıbekiroğlu¹, Bülent Köse¹, Alper Ağca²

¹Private Aritmi Osmangazi Hospital, Clinic of Eye Health and Diseases, Bursa, Turkey ²Dünyagöz Hospital, Clinic of Eye Diseases, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: To evaluate the long term (4 years) outcomes of Eyecryl phakic intraocular lens (pIOL) implantation in myopia.

Methods: Medical records of patients, who had implantation of Eyecryl pIOL implantation were retrospectively reviewed. Patients with a follow up period of 4 years were included in the study. Refractive results, endothelial cell density, vault, and complications were evaluated.

Results: Preoperative and postoperative spherical equivalent of manifest refraction were -12.98 ± 3.05 and -0.72 ± 0.86 D, respectively. The efficacy index was 1.05 ± 0.45 and safety index was 1.51 ± 0.53 . Preoperative corrected distance visual acuity (CDVA) was 0.26 ± 0.15 . Postoperative uncorrected and CDVA were 0.27 ± 0.21 and 0.10 ± 0.10 respectively at the last visit (4 years). The mean vault was $570\pm155 \mu$ at the first month and decreased to $500\pm133 \mu$ at the 4th year. Endothelial cell loss was 3.9% in the first 2 years. No significance difference was seen between 2nd and 4 years (p>0.005). No significant cataract formation was seen.

Conclusion: Eyecryl pIOL implantation for the correction of myopia may be a safe and effective surgical procedure.

Keywords: Myopia, refractive surgery, phakic intraocular lens

INTRODUCTION

Methods used for the surgical correction of refractive errors are, corneal refractive surgery, clear lens extraction and phakic intraocular lens (pIOL) implantation (1-3). pIOLs are used especially when the corneal refractive surgical techniques are impossible, as in the high myopic patients. Maintenance of accommodation and better quality of vision, when compared with corneal surgeries the main advantages (4). The efficacy and safety of some models of anterior and posterior chamber pIOLs have been reported (5-11).

Eyecryl[®] pIOL (Biotech Vision Care, Ahmedabad India) is a relatively newer posterior chamber pIOL. It is a hydrophilic acrylic, single piece, foldable, plate haptic pIOL placed in the ciliary sulcus. It has an aspheric optics (4.65 to 5.50 mm) with zero aberration. The optic has a 320 µm central hole to improve

the aqueous humor circulation. Early results of the efficacy and safety of these lenses are promising (11-13). However, the long-term refractive results and complications are not known.

In this study, we evaluated the long term (4 years) efficacy and safety of Eyecryl[®] posterior chamber pIOL implantation in patients with high myopia.

METHODS

This study was designed and conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and ethics committee approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee for Clinical Research of Taksim Training and Research Hospital (decision no: 35, date: 05.02.2020). Inclusion criteria were Eyecryl® pIOL implantation and a follow-up for at least 4 years. The exclusion criteria were age <20 and preexisting ocular pathology. Patients with retinal



Address for Correspondence: Alper Ağca, Dünyagöz Hospital, Clinic of Eye Diseases, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 533 551 77 63 E-mail: agcaalper@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-5435-075X Received: 07.03.2021 Accepted: 12.06.2021

Cite this article as: Hacıbekiroğlu A, Köse B, Ağca A. Long Term (4 years) Refractive Outcomes of Eyecryl[®] Phakic Intraocular Lens Implantation in Myopia. Eur Arch Med Res 2022;38(3):166-170

©Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital European Archives of Medical Research published by Galenos Publishing House.

breaks were also excluded. Informed consent was obtained from all patients before the surgery.

Preoperative and postoperative uncorrected visual acuity (UDVA) and corrected distance visual acuity (CDVA) were measured using an LCD chart and a digital phoropter. Scheimpflug camera combined with Placido-disk corneal topography (Sirius, Costruzione Strumenti Oftalmici, Firenze, Italy) was used for topography and pachymetry mapping as well as anterior chamber depth and horizontal white-to-white measurements. Endothelial cell count was measured using a specular microscope (CEM-530; Nidek Co. Ltd., Aichi, Japan) at annual visits. In all postoperative visits, the pIOL vault (the distance between pIOL and the crystalline lens) was measured using an anterior segment optical coherence tomography (OCT) device (Visante OCT, Carl Zeiss AG, Germany).

Power calculation for the pIOL was performed using the modified vergence formula provided by the manufacturer. Our goal in this study was to achieve emmetropia in all cases. All surgeries were performed with sub-tenon anesthesia. Two side-port incisions and a 2.8 mm clear corneal temporal incision were created. The anterior chamber was filled with a cohesive ophthalmic viscosurgical device (OVD) (Provisc; Alcon Laboratories Inc, Fort Worth, TX, USA). The pIOL was loaded onto the cartridge-injector system provided by the manufacturer and it was injected into the anterior chamber through the 2.8 mm temporal incision. Its haptics were placed under the iris one by one. The OVD was washed out of the anterior chamber with balanced salt solution.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS software (version 21.0; IBM, Armonk, NY). Mean, standard deviation, minimum-maximum (min-max), and frequency values were used in descriptive statistical analyses. Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to analyze the distribution of variables. The efficacy (postoperative UDVA/preoperative CDVA) and safety (postoperative CDVA/preoperative CDVA) indices were calculated for each patient. Visual acuity were converted to logMAR for statistical analysis. A paired samples t-test was used to compare the preoperative and postoperative measurements. A p value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Thirty six eyes of 18 patients were included in the study. Thirteen (72%) patients were women, 5 (28%) patients were men. The mean age of patients was 32.67 ± 7.33 . Preoperative spherical

equivalent (SE) was (-12.98 \pm 3.05) and eighty-one percent of the eyes were between -10.00 and -20.00 D. Preoperative patient characteristics are shown in Table 1.

Visual Acuity, Efficacy, and Safety

The intended target was emetropia in all cases. The mean CDVA was 0.26 ± 0.15 logMAR preoperatively. Postoperative UDVA was 0.27 ± 0.21 logMAR and CDVA was 0.10 ± 0.10 logMAR at 4 years postoperatively. At 4 years follow up the efficacy index (postoperative UDVA/preoperative CDVA) was 1.05 ± 0.45 . Figure 1A shows patients with preoperative CDVA and postoperative UDVA. Change in the best CDVA of the patients at the end of 4 years, compared to preoperative CDVA/preoperative CDVA) was 1.51 ± 0.53 at the last follow-up. Twenty four (66.7%) patients gained one or more Snellen lines of CDVA. Twelve (33.3%) patients corrected vision remained unchanged and no Snellen loss was seen.

Figure 1C shows the attempted versus achieved refractive correction. The mean SE at the end of 4 years was -0.72 ± 0.86 (-3.38-0.25) D. 86% of patients was with in ±1.00 D and 64% of patients within ±0.50 D, respectively (Figure 1D).

Figure 1F shows the stabilitity of manifest refraction throughout follow-up period. The SE was -0.43 \pm 0.58 D at the first year and 0.72 \pm 0.86 D at the fourth year (p<0.005, paired samples t-test, 2-tailed p value).

Figure 2 shows the changes in central endothelial cell density (ECD). The mean preoperative ECD was 2742.83 ± 316 cells/mm². At first year it was 2609 ± 325 cells/mm², and 2608 ± 323 at 2 years. For the first two year the mean endothelial cell loss was

Table 1. Preoperative patient characteristics					
	Mean ± SD	Minimum	Maximum		
Age (years)	32.67±7.33	23	49		
SE (D)	-12.98±3.05	-7.00	-20,00		
Cylinder (D)	-0.99±0.66	0	2.00		
CDVA (logMAR)	0.26±0.15	0.52	0		
WTW (mm)	11.73±0.26	11.27	12.10		
ECD (cells/mm ²)	2742±316.53	2062	3189		
ACD (mm)	3.67±0.18	3.28	4.01		
Mean Sim K (D)	44.38±1.98	38.82	47.28		
IOP (mmHg)	14.6±2.46	10.00	21.00		
AL (mm)	27.97±1.27	24.15	29.61		
Corneal thickness (μ) 530.46±35.49 452 595					

SE: Spherical equivalent, CDVA: Corrected distance visual acuity, WTW: White to white, ECD: Endothelial cell density, ACD: Anterior chamber depth, Sim K: Simulated keratometry, IOP: Intraocular pressure, AL: Axial lenght, SD: Standard deviation



Figure 1. A) Cumulative uncorrected and corrected distance visual acuity (UDVA and CDVA, respectively), B) change in CDVA, C) spherical equivalent of attemted versus achieved refraction, D) accuracy of spherical equivalebt refraction, E) preand postoperative refractive astigmatism, F) accuracy of spherical equivalent refraction

UDVA: Preoperative and postoperative uncorrected visual acuity, CDVA: Corrected distance visual acuity

3.9% (p<0.0001). The fourth year ECD was 2505 ± 303 cells/mm², and no significant cell loss (p>0.05) was seen between 2^{nd} and 4^{th} years.

Figure 3 shows the mean vault of the pIOL during follow-up period. The mean vault was $570\pm155 \ \mu$ at the first month, decreased to $520\pm141 \ \mu$ and $500\pm133 \ \mu$ (min: 220; max: 790) at the 1th and 4th years, respectively (repeated measures ANOVA, p<0.001).

There were no cases of anterior subcapsular cataracts or opacities. No other intraoperative or postoperative complications were observed.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we analyzed the long-term refractive results of Eyecryl[®] pIOL implantation by using efficacy, safety, stability and predictability. At four years, we found that 64% of the patients were within 0.50 D of emmetropia. Mean SE changed from -0.43 \pm 0.58 D at the first year to 0.72 \pm 0.86 D at the fourth year (p<0.005, paired samples t-test, 2-tailed p value). The regression of the refractive effect was an expected finding in this population and probably results from the elongation of axial length. However, axial length measurements were not a



Figure 2. Endothelial cell density during follow-up



Figure 3. Mean vault during follow-up period

part of preoperative and postoperative examinations. Thus, it was impossible to evaluate axial length in this study. In high myopic patients, manifest refraction may be difficult to obtain due to a combination of low visual acuity of the patient and aberrations and minimizing effect of trial lenses. This may result in postoperative refractive surprise as manifest refraction is the most important variable in the pIOL power calculation. In addition, myopia is generally progressive and SE increases with time. In this study, preoperative SE was -12.98±3.05 and 81% of the eyes were between -10.00 and -20.00 D. Thus, early postoperative refractive surprises or an increase in myopia during long term follow-up were expected findings in this study.

However, despite the progression of myopia, the efficacy index was 1.05 ± 0.45 . An efficacy index >1 means that the mean postoperative UCVA in this study was better than mean preoperative CDVA even at postoperative 4 years despite residual postoperative refractive errors. This was a result of improved CDVA in this study as indicated by the safety index, which was 1.51 ± 0.53 at four years. It is well-known that a definite improvement in CDVA is seen after the surgical correction of high myopia and 35-100% of the eyes experience 1 or more lines of CDVA (6,14-20). Although pIOL used in this study was different, 24 (67%) patients showed 1 or more line gain.

Vault is the distance between the pIOL and crystalline lens. It is closely related to the appropriate sizing of the pIOL to the posterior chamber. When the vault is too low or too high, it can cause some complications, such as cataract formation, pupillary block, pigment dispersion and glaucoma (20-23). In our study, the mean vault was 531 ± 134 (min: 220, max: 790) within normal limits. We did not see any complication related to vault problems.

Endothelial cell loss is one of the biggest problems pIOL implanted patients. It is reported to be between 6.2%- 9.5 in some long-term studies of icl implantation (6,9,24,25). Urdem and Agca (12) in their 2 years-follow up study of Eyecryl[®] pIOL reported 4.51% endothelial cell loss at first year and no significant difference in the second year. In our study, for the first two years, the mean endothelial cell loss was 3.9% (p<0.0001). The fourth year ECD was 2505±303 cells/mm², and no significant cell loss (p>0.05) was seen between 2nd and 4th years.

The formation of cataracts is a well-known complication of pIOL implantation, with a reported incidence of 1.6% to 18.3% after ICL implantation (9,26). It is usually in the form of anterior subcapsular cataract, and its incidence increases with increasing follow-up period (26). Older age, low vault are the main contributing factors (9,24). The design and material properties of the pIOL may also have an effect. In our study, no cataract formation was observed at 4 years follow up.

Pupillary block, angle narrowing due to a high vault, or chronic pigment dispersion may result in increased IOP after PIOL implantation (27,28). As there is a central hole in the optics of the lens, a pupillary block is unlikely in Eyecryl[®] pIOL implanted eyes and we did not see a pupillary block in this study. Also, no patient developed glaucoma due to angle narrowing and or pigment dispersion.

The study population consists of high myopic (probably degenerative myopic) patients. A higher retinal detachment risk should be considered in this population. However, we did not observe any retinal complications. This may be due to the limited number of patients or exclusion of patients with a retinal break.

Study Limitations

The major limitation of this study was its retrospective nature. Axial measurements were excluded from our postoperative routine measurements. Thus, it was impossible to analyze the relationship between the axial lengths and myopic shift during the follow-up period. Also, the number of eyes is not high enough to evaluate the relatively rare complications such as cataracts.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, we have retrospectively evaluated our long term (4 years) results of Eyecryl[®] pIOL implantation. The results were promising in terms of efficacy and safety indices. No serious complication was seen during follow-up time. Studies with larger patient groups and longer follow-up periods are required.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics Committee for Clinical Research of Taksim Training and Research Hospital (decision no: 35, date: 05.02.2020).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from the patients.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: A.A., Concept: A.H., B.K., A.A., Design: A.H., B.K., A.A., Data Collection or Processing: A.H., B.K., A.A., Analysis or Interpretation: A.H., B.K., A.A., Literature Search: A.H., B.K., A.A., Writing: A.H., B.K., A.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Lundström M, Manning S, Barry P, Stenevi U, Henry Y, Rosen P. The European registry of quality outcomes for cataract and refractive surgery (EUREQUO): a database study of trends in volumes, surgical techniques and outcomes of refractive surgery. Eye Vis (Lond) 2015;2:8.
- Burazovitch J, Naguzeswski D, Beuste T, Guillard M. Predictability of SMILE over four years in high myopes. J Fr Ophtalmol 2017;40:e201-9.
- Arne JL. Phakic intraocular lens implantation versus clear lens extraction in highly myopic eyes of 30- to 50-year-old patients. J Cataract Refract Surg 2004;30:2092-6.
- Kobashi H, Kamiya K, Igarashi A, Matsumura K, Komatsu M, Shimizu K. Long-term quality of life after posterior chamber phakic intraocular lens implantation and after wavefront-guided laser in situ keratomileusis for myopia. J Cataract Refract Surg 2014;40:2019-24.
- Stulting RD, John ME, Maloney RK, Assil KK, Arrowsmith PN, Thompson VM, et al. Three-year results of Artisan/Verisyse phakic intraocular lens implantation. Results of the United States Food And Drug Administration clinical trial. Ophthalmology 2008;115:464-72.e1.
- 6. Lee J, Kim Y, Park S, Bae J, Lee S, Park Y, et al. Long-term clinical results of posterior chamber phakic intraocular lens implantation to correct myopia. Clin Exp Ophthalmol 2016;44:481-7.
- Dick HB, Budo C, Malecaze F, Güell JL, Marinho AA, Nuijts RM, et al. Foldable artiflex phakic intraocular lens for the correction of myopia: two-year follow-up results of a prospective European multicenter study. Ophthalmology 2009;116:671-7.
- Bohac M, Anticic M, Draca N, Kozomara B, Dekaris I, Gabric N, et al. Comparison of verisyse and veriflex phakic intraocular lenses for treatment of moderate to high myopia 36 months after surgery. Semin Ophthalmol 2017;32:725-33.
- Alfonso JF, Baamonde B, Fernández-Vega L, Fernandes P, González-Méijome JM, Montés-Micó R. Posterior chamber collagen copolymer phakic intraocular lenses to correct myopia: five-year follow-up. J Cataract Refract Surg 2011;37:873-80.

- 10. Vasavada V, Srivastava S, Vasavada SA, Sudhalkar A, Vasavada AR, Vasavada VA. Safety and efficacy of a new phakic posterior chamber IOL for correction of myopia: 3 years of follow-up. J Refract Surg 2018;34:817-23.
- 11. Yaşa D, Ürdem U, Ağca A, Yildirim Y, Kepez Yildiz B, Kandemir Beşek N, et al. Early results with a new posterior chamber phakic intraocular lens in patients with high myopia. J Ophthalmol 2018;2018:1329874
- 12. Urdem U, Agca A. refractive results and endothelial cell density after eyecryl phakic intraocular lens implantation. Beyoglu Eye J 2019;4:17-22.
- 13. Yaşa D, Köse B, Ağca A. Rotational stability of a new posterior chamber toric phakic intraocular lens. J Ophthalmol. 2020;2020:1624632.
- Ağca A, Çakır İ, Tülü Aygün B, Yaşa D, Yıldırım Y, Yıldız BK, et al. Visual and refractive outcomes of small-incision lenticule extraction in high myopia: 5-year results. J Ophthalmol 2018;2018:5893126.
- 15. Yaşa D, Ağca A, Alkın Z, Çankaya Kİ, Karaküçük Y, Coşar MG, et al. Two-year follow-up of artisan iris-supported phakic anterior chamber intraocular lens for correction of high myopia. Semin Ophthalmol 2016;31:280-4.
- 16. Kwon SW, Moon HS, Shyn KH. Visual improvement in high myopic amblyopic adult eyes following phakic anterior chamber intraocular lens implantation. Korean J Ophthalmol 2006;20:87-92.
- 17. Agca A, Ozgürhan EB, Baz O, Bozkurt E, Ozkaya A, Yaşa D, et al. Laser in situ keratomileusis in adult patients with anisometropic amblyopia. Int J Ophthalmol 2013;6:362-9.
- 18. Kamiya K, Igarashi A, Hayashi K, Negishi K, Sato M, Bissen-Miyajima H, et al. A multicenter prospective cohort study on refractive surgery in 15 011 eyes. Am J Ophthalmol 2017;175:159-68.
- 19. Cao X, Wu W, Wang Y, Xie C, Tong J, Shen Y. Posterior chamber collagen copolymer phakic intraocular lens with a central hole for moderateto-high myopia: First experience in China. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016;95:e4641.

- Lisa C, Naveiras M, Alfonso-Bartolozzi B, Belda-Salmerón L, Montés-Micó R, Alfonso JF. Posterior chamber collagen copolymer phakic intraocular lens with a central hole to correct myopia: one-year follow-up. J Cataract Refract Surg 2015;41:1153-9.
- Maeng HS, Chung TY, Lee DH, Chung ES. Risk factor evaluation for cataract development in patients with low vaulting after phakic intraocular lens implantation. J Cataract Refract Surg 2011;37:881-5.
- 22. Schmidinger G, Lackner B, Pieh S, Skorpik C. Long-term changes in posterior chamber phakic intraocular collamer lens vaulting in myopic patients. Ophthalmology 2010;117:1506-11.
- 23. Zeng QY, Xie XL, Chen Q. Prevention and management of collagen copolymer phakic intraocular lens exchange: causes and surgical techniques. J Cataract Refract Surg 2015;41:576-84.
- 24. Igarashi A, Shimizu K, Kamiya K. Eight-year follow-up of posterior chamber phakic intraocular lens implantation for moderate to high myopia. Am J Ophthalmol 2014;157:532-9.e1.
- 25. Edelhauser HF, Sanders DR, Azar R, Lamielle H; ICL in Treatment of Myopia Study Group. Corneal endothelial assessment after ICL implantation. J Cataract Refract Surg 2004;30:576-83.
- Guber I, Mouvet V, Bergin C, Perritaz S, Othenin-Girard P, Majo F. Clinical outcomes and cataract formation rates in eyes 10 years after posterior phakic lens implantation for myopia. JAMA Ophthalmol 2016;134:487-94.
- 27. Chung TY, Park SC, Lee MO, Ahn K, Chung ES. Changes in iridocorneal angle structure and trabecular pigmentation with STAAR implantable collamer lens during 2 years. J Refract Surg 2009;25:251-8.
- 28. Chun YS, Park IK, Lee HI, Lee JH, Kim JC. Iris and trabecular meshwork pigment changes after posterior chamber phakic intraocular lens implantation. J Cataract Refract Surg 2006;32:1452-8.



The Relationship Between Fear of COVID-19, Fear of Death and Anxiety in the Accompanists of Patients Diagnosed with COVID-19

🕲 Ülkem Angın, 🕲 Elif Karaahmet

University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Psychiatry, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: The coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) outbreak emerged in China in December 2019 and has spread throughout the world, including Turkey. During the pandemic, both the fear of infection that could result in death and the action plans implemented had negative effects on the mental health of the people. The aim of this study was to evaluate the relationship between the fear of COVID-19, anxiety, and fear of death in the accompanists of patients diagnosed with COVID-19 who are receiving treatment in inpatient clinics.

Methods: Fifty six accompanists of hospitalized patients with a diagnosis of COVID-19 were included in the study. The Fear of COVID-19 scale, the Templer death anxiety scale ve the Hamilton anxiety rating scale was used as data collection tools in the study. IBM 21.0 software was used to analyze the data.

Results: Fifty six people included in the study were between the ages of 18-75 (mean age 41.07). Because of the study, it was found that the presence of anxiety increases the fear of COVID-19 by 6.5 units, the presence of fear of death increases the fear of COVID-19 by 5.2 units and the presence of both fears increases the fear of COVID-19 by 11.7 units.

Conclusion: Relatives of people diagnosed with COVID-19 become more vulnerable to the negative psychological effects of the pandemic due to the fear of losing their loved ones and having a higher risk of getting the disease than other people. The families of COVID-19 patients should also be evaluated when preparing mental health programs.

Keywords: Accompanists, anxiety, COVID-19, fear of death

INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus outbreak first appeared in Wuhan, China's Hubai Region, in December 2019 (1), and spread rapidly in China and other countries (2). With globalization, the spread of pathological agents has become easier, resulting in the pandemics (3).

In Turkey, the first coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) case was identified in March 2020, and after the first death was subsequently reported on March 17, 2020. In Turkey's pandemic plan, teams were formed to take the necessary measures and conduct the work. Starting from March 2020, working hours became more flexible, compulsory weekend curfews and curfews for citizens under the age of 20 and over the age of 65

were imposed, inter-city travel restrictions were implemented, and mass gatherings were prohibited. As of June 2020, with the normalization process, some of these prohibitions were lifted by taking certain measures (4).

Fear of infection is very common during a pandemic (5). On an individual level, it can trigger feelings of despair, sickness, and death. Fear is usually a primitive emotion and it occurs despite a real or perceived threat. Some physiological signs, such as increased heart rate, muscle tension, and accelerated respiration, prepare the body to find a solution despite danger. However, fear reveals changes in the cognitive system, such as distraction (6). Additionally, during infectious disease outbreaks, individuals can misinterpret health stimuli such as worsening



Address for Correspondence: Ülkem Angın, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Psychiatry, İstanbul, Turkey

Phone: +90 533 410 46 46 E-mail: drulkem@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0933-7331

Cite this article as: Angin Ü, Karaahmet E. The Relationship Between Fear of COVID-19, Fear of Death and Anxiety in the Accompanists of Patients Diagnosed with COVID-19. Eur Arch Med Res 2022;38(3):171-177

©Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital European Archives of Medical Research published by Galenos Publishing House. Received: 23.01.2021

Accepted: 12.06.2021

mental health, bodily senses, and changes due to fear. People may misinterpret harmless bodily senses or changes as signs of infection, which could lead them to be redundantly anxious (7).

Nationwide measures and compulsory curfew implementation can lead to mass hysteria, anxiety, and stress accompanied by loss of control and feeling trapped. The necessity of separation from the family, the uncertainty of the progression of the disease, the insufficiency of basic necessities, financial loss, increased risk perception resulting from uncertain information, and inappropriate communication with the media in the early stages of the pandemic could enhance this situation (8-10). People were also worried that the health system would not be able to cope with the COVID-19 outbreak due to the lack of sufficient hospital beds and ventilators for the number of estimated COVID-19 cases increase during the outbreak (5).

Accompanists of COVID-19 patients were included in this study. These people have been in contact with the COVID-19 pathogen for a long time without protective measures. The relationship between death anxiety and fear of COVID-19 with anxiety was evaluated in these individuals. We believe that these variables will help the mental health follow-up studies of society during the pandemic.

METHODS

This study was conducted between August 10 and September 10, 2020, using the quantitative research method, cross-sectional method. Accompanists of patients receiving treatment in inpatient clinics who were diagnosed with COVID-19 were included in the study.

People over the age of 18 who agreed to participate, who had sufficient cognitive ability to answer the questions and answered all the questions, and who were not diagnosed with COVID-19 or who tested negative/not yet received their test results were included in this study. Individuals who had been diagnosed with COVID-19 or who had recovered from COVID-19 were excluded.

Participants filled in the following forms prepared by us: Sociodemographic data form, the fear of COVID-19 scale (FCS), the Templer death anxiety scale (DAS), and the Hamilton anxiety rating scale (HAM-A).

Socio-demographic Data Form

The form prepared by the researchers includes information such as age, gender, educational and marital status, occupation, income perception, the presence of a chronic disease, voluntary or compulsory quarantine period, number of people living in the house and the number of children.

The Fear of COVID-19 Scale

It was developed by Ahorsu et al. (11) in 2020. It is a onedimensional seven-item Likert-type scale. The highest score that can be obtained from the scale is 35 and a higher score indicates higher fear from COVID-19. The scale is correlated with perceived insecurity, hospital anxiety, and depression (11). Turkish validity and reliability study by Haktanir et al. (12). In this study, the Cronbach's alpha value was found as 0.86 (12).

The Templer Death Anxiety Scale

It was developed by Templer in 1970. In a Turkish validity and reliability study were carried out by Şenol (13) in 1989. This scale measures anxiety and fears of the individual about death and the risk of death of oneself. It is a 15 item scale answered as true-false. The highest score that can be obtained from the scale is 15 and a higher score indicates higher death anxiety. It could be evaluated that people who have an average score of 7 or higher have more death anxiety (14). Şenol (13) applied a reliability study, which was conducted with the "Test-Retest" method, twice with an interval of 3 weeks. The correlation between both application scores was found 0.86 (14). Templer, following the same method in the reliability study, found the "Test-Retest" reliability as 0.83 (15).

The Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale

It was developed by Hamilton (16) in 1959. The Turkish validity and reliability study was conducted by Yazıcı et al. (17). It is one of the most frequently used scales to determine the levels of anxiety in studies on anxiety disorders. This was based on expert ratings (17). Regarding the evaluation of the scores obtained from the scale; 0-5 is considered no anxiety, 6-14 is considered minor anxiety, 15 and above is considered major anxiety. In this study, we considered 15 and above as anxiety (18). Yazıcı et al. (17) reported a mean correlation coefficient of 0.72 for individual items and 0.94 for a total score.

Approval of the Ministry of Health (approval code: T10_51_47) and University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Tascioglu City Hospital Research Ethics Committee (approval code: 48670771-514.10) was obtained. Verbal and written consent was obtained from the participants by providing detailed information before completing the questionnaire forms.

Statistical Analysis

In this study, to conduct statistical analysis, IBM 21.0 SPSS 21 software was use. to First, descriptive analysis was carried out to demonstrate the frequency distribution of socio-demographic variables. Also, chi-square test was performed to investigate the relationship of demographic variables to HAM-A and DAS.

Then, the normal distribution was checked to determine which comparison analysis will be used. It was determined that the use of parametric tests was suitable for this. Finally, multiple linear regression analysis was performed to measure the effect of variables on each other.

RESULTS

The participants were 56 individuals between the ages of 18 and 75. The socio-demographic characteristics of the participants in this study appear in Table 1.

The socio-demographic distribution of the participants, chisquare analysis was performed to determine whether there was a relationship between these variables and HAM-A (Table 2). These variables statistically significantly predicted fear of COVID-19 F(52): 3.955, p< 0.0001, R2: 0.543. R square value showed that about 54% of the variance in fear of COVID-19 is explained by the eleven predictor variables. The β values indicated the relative impact of the variables, so, HAM-A had the greatest influence on fear of COVID-19 (β : 5.50, t(52): 2.91, p<0.01) and followed by DAS (β : 3.70, t(52): 2.15, p<0.05) (Table 3).

Also, chi-square analysis was performed to determine whether there was a relationship between these variables and DAS. Looking at the analysis result, it was seen that there was no relationship between DAS and socio-demographic variables since the p value is greater than the significance level (p=0.05) for all variables.

We examined independent sample t-test to reveal the difference between those the ages of 18-49 and those over the age of 50 according to the FCS. The results indicated that people who the ages of 18-49 (n=40, M: 17.62) had significantly different total scores than those over the age of 50 (n=66, M: 13.37), t(13.487): 2.10, (p=0.001). In other words, people between the ages of 18-49 are more afraid of COVID-19 than people aged 50 and over.

Following the analysis of the differences for these sociodemographic variables, to reveal differences between individuals with and without DAS according to FCS, we carried out independent sample t-test. The results showed that people with DAS (n=31, M: 19.66) had significantly different total scores than people who without it (n=25, M: 12.39), t(5.77): -4.49, (p=0.000). In other words, people with death anxiety are more afraid of COVID-19 than those without it.

Finally, we conducted independent sample t-test to demonstrate the difference between people who have HAM-A and those have not. The results indicated that people who have HAM-A score (n=14, M: 21.35) had significantly different total scores than

Table 1. Socio-demographic characteristics of participants				
	Total sample: 56			
	Frequency (n)	Percent (%)		
Age				
Mean (SD)	41.07 (±12.78)			
Range	18-75			
Number of persons at home				
Mean (SD)	3.59 (±1.24)			
Range	2-7			
Number of children	1			
Mean (SD)	1.5 (±1.4)			
Range	0-5			
Maximum stay at home				
Mean (SD)	26.31 (±25.58)			
Range	2-120			
Gender				
Male	24	42.9		
Female	32	57.1		
Marital status				
Married	34	60.7		
Single	18	32.1		
Separated	3	5.4		
Occupation status				
Employed	29	51.8		
Unemployed	27	48.2		
Income perception				
Very bad	3	5.4		
Bad	17	30.4		
Middle	33	58.9		
Good	3	5.4		
People who have COVID-19				
Spouse	14	25		
Child	6	10.7		
Parents	25	44.6		
Parents-in-law	3	5.4		
Sibling	2	3.5		
Caregiver	4	7.1		
Grand parents	1	1.8		
Chronic disease				
Heart disease	3	5.4		
Respiratory disease	2	3.6		
Hypertension	4	7.1		
Diabetes mellitus	1	1.8		
Hepatitis B	2	3.6		
Endometrium cancer	1	1.8		
None	43	76.8		
Education time				
Mean (SD)	9.58 (±5.24)			
COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019, SD: 5	Standard deviation			

Variables		Hamilton ar	nxiety scale
variables		No	Yes
	Male	18 (42.9%)	6 (42.9%)
Gender	Female	24 (57.1%)	8 (57.1%)
	p value	1.00	
	Married	27 (64.3%)	7 (50.0%)
	Single	12 (28.6%)	6 (42.9%)
Marital status	Separated	24.8%	1 (7.1%)
	p value	0.69	•
	Employed	19 (45.2%)	10 (71.4%)
Occupation status	Unemployed	23 (54.8%)	4 (28.6%)
	p value	0.12	
	Very bad	2 (4.8%)	1 (7.1%)
	Bad	13 (31.0%)	4 (28.6%)
Income perception	Middle	25 (59.5%)	8 (57.1%)
	Good	2 (4.8%)	1 (7.1%)
	p value	0.96	
	Spouse	11 (26.8%)	3 (21.4%)
	Child	5 (12.2%)	1 (7.1%)
	Parents	17 (41.5%)	8 (57.1%)
People who have	Parents-in-law	2 (4.9%)	1 (7.1%)
COVID-19	Sibling	2 (4.9%)	0 (0%)
	Caregiver	4 (9.8%)	0 (0%)
	Grand parents	0 (0.0%)	7 (1%)
	p value	0.42	
	18-49	27 (64.3%)	13 (92.9%)
Age	+50	15 (35.7%)	1 (7.1%)
0	p value	0.047*	
	≤4	30 (71.4%)	14 (100%)
Number of person at	≥5	12 (28.6%)	0 (0%)
nome	p value	0.026*	
	≤2	28 (66.7%)	14 (100%)
Number of children	≥3	14 (33.3%)	0 (0%)
	p value	0.012*	
	≤60	37 (92.5%)	13 (92.9%)
Maximum stay at	≥61	3 (7.5%)	1 (7.1%)
home	p value	1.00	
	Yes	10 (23.8%)	3 (21.4%)
Chronic disease	No	32 (76.2%)	11 (78.6%
	p value	1.00	
	≤10	21 (51.2%)	20 (57.1%)
Education time	≥11	8 (48.8%)	6 (42.9%)
	-···	0.70	1 - (.=

Table 2. Relationship between socio-demographic variables and HAM-A

people who did not (n=42, M: 14.76), t(0.017): -3.44, (p=0.000) (Table 4).

In of these analyses, we conducted correlation analysis to evaluate the relationships between HAM-A, DAS, and FCS. According to correlation analysis, while there was no significant relation between HAM-A and DAS, there was a positive and significant relation between FCS and HAM-A (r=0.410, p<0.01), also there was a positive and significant relation between FCS and HAM-A (r=0.522, p<0.01).

Multiple regression was carried out to predict fear of COVID-19 from HAM-A and DAS. These variables statistically significantly predicted fear of COVID-19 F(55): 15.785, p<0.0001, R2: 0.350. R square value showed that about 35% of the variance in fear of COVID-19 is explained by the two predictor variables. The β values indicated the relative impact of the variables, so, HAM-A had the greatest influence on fear of COVID-19 (β : 6.47, t(55): 4.15, p<0.001) and followed by DAS (β : 5.20, t(55): 2.92, p<0.01). In other words, whether an individual has the HAM-A is the highest contributing (6.48) predictor to explain the fear of COVID-19, and the next is whether an individual has the death anxiety cut-off score (5.20). The direction of influence for the two is positive (Table 5).

In addition to the explanation above, having the HAM-A increases the fear of COVID-19 by approximately 6.5 units, and having the DAS increases the fear of COVID-19 by 5.2 units.

DISCUSSION

Studies conducted worldwide have clearly revealed that facing an unexpected threat has negative psychological effects on individuals. Many different variables affect people's mental health. Socio-demographic variables are one of these conditions. In our study, we found that some socio-demographic variables were associated with fear of coronavirus, anxiety, and fear of death.

We found that the anxiety levels were higher in individuals under the age of 50 compared with individuals over the age of 50. Similarly, in a study conducted with many participants online in China, mental health symptoms were reported to be more common under the age of 40. In that study, in the younger group, the presence of symptoms was explained with the use of social media and wider access to misleading information on the Internet. The importance of obtaining the right information during the pandemic process has been emphasized (19). In another article, it was stated that negative information about infection increases the perception of personal risk and causes

Table 3. Comparing to socio-demographic variables, HAM-A, DAS according to FCS					
Variables	β	SE	t	р	
(Constant)	13.085	9.069	1.443	0.157	
HAM-A	5.504	1.885	2.919	0.006**	
DAS	3.769	1.748	2.156	0.037*	
Age	-0.045	0.080	-0.560	0.579	
Gender	4.019	1.855	2.166	0.036*	
Educational status	-0.354	0.178	-1.987	0.054	
Occupation	-0.994	1.852	-0.537	0.594	
Marital status	-2.907	1.708	-1.702	0.097	
The number of children	0.189	0.783	0.242	0.810	
Number of people living in the house	0.338	0.687	0.493	0.625	
Income perception	1.561	1.328	1.176	0.247	
Voluntary/compulsory quarantine period	-0.079	0.035	-2.225	0.032*	
Presence of a chronic disease	0.474	2.302	0.206	0.838	
R ² : 0.543; F: 3.955; p<0.001					
*p<0.05, **p<0.01. Dependent variable: FCS, independent variable:	DAS, HAM-A, socio-demograp	hic variables. HAM-A: H	amilton anxiety rating sc	ale, DAS: Death anxiety scale,	

FCS: Fear of COVID-19 scale, SE: Standard error of mean

Table 4. Comparing to ages, maximum stay at home, chronicdisease, DAS, HAM-A according to FCS					
Groups	n	Mean	SD	t	р
Those between the ages of 18-49	40	17.62	7.62	2 105	0.001*
Those over the age of 50	16	13.37	4.08	2.105	0.001*
Those stay home for up to 60 days	50	16.64	7.06	0.220	0.491
Those stay at home for more than 60 days	4	15.75	8.46	0.239	
Chronic disease yes	13	17.76	7.24	0.702	0.546
Chronic disease no	43	16.00	7.00	0.792	
DAS high	31	19.667	6.92	4.40	0.000*
DAS low	25	12.360	4.75	-4.49	
HAM-A high	14	21.35	6.59	2 4 4 2	0.002*
HAM-A low	42	14.76	6.97	-5.445	
*p<0.05 (p value significant), DAS: Death anxiety scale, HAM-A: Hamilton anxiety rating scale. FCS: Fear of COVID-19 scale					

Table 5. Predictor of FCS					
Variables	β	SE	t	р	
(Constant)	11.527	1.170	9.853	0.000***	
DAS	5.209	1.782	2.923	0.005**	
HAM-A	6.471	1.552	4.169	0.000***	
R ² : 0.350, F: 15.785, p<0.001					
p<0.01, *p<0.001. Depende HAM-A. FCS: Fear of COVID-19 sca	ent variable ale, DAS: De	: FCS, inc ath anxiet	lependent y scale, HA	variable: DAS, M-A: Hamilton	

anxiety rating scale, SE: Standard error of mean

nervousness or fear (20). In another study in Spain, it was stated that young people between the ages of 18-25 had more anxiety, and the importance of adding programs to reduce stress symptoms in education programs was mentioned (21).

We found that although the increase in the level of anxiety was more evident in younger people, fear of COVID was higher in adults over the age of 50. It has been reported in the literature that older age groups are at higher risk in terms of depression and anxiety due to reasons including guarantine enforcement and the presence of additional diseases (22). The reason for the increased fear of COVID in older people may be the selected population composed of accompanists. In general information about the disease, the fact that the disease prognosis is worse in the older population compared to the younger population may appear as a fear of coronavirus more specifically in this age group. In our study, we could not find a relationship between age and the duration of the quarantine. However, we found a relationship between the duration of guarantine and the fear of COVID. This situation might be explained by the voluntary quarantine practices of people with fear of COVID.

In our study, we could not find a difference between genders there was in the study conducted in Spain (21). Differently, a large-scale study in China reported higher mental health symptoms in men (19). Studies have defined male gender as a poor prognostic factor in terms of the course of infection (23). The difference in results could be due to the selection of different sample groups and to some sample groups not having information about the virus.

In numerous studies, it has been reported that quarantine practices have negative effects on mental health. This situation has been attributed to fear of infection, reduced flow of information, and insufficient access to main resources. Interestingly, we could not find a difference in terms of the quarantine period and the fear of COVID-19. It was thought that this situation may be related to the period of the study (the summer period, during the normalization process, in which there was a perception that the infection was partially under control), as well as the state policy to provide basic necessities during the quarantine period.

Interestingly, while we could not find a relationship with the quarantine period, we found higher anxiety levels in participants with fewer children and live with fewer people. This situation might be related to social isolation. Crowded families who live in the same house may be changing their focus due to both social support and the presence of other people they should take care of.

In our study, we found a relationship between fear of COVID-19 and anxiety, and fear of COVID-19 and fear of death. Additionally, we found that if an individual has anxiety, it increases the fear of COVID-19 by 6.5 units, the fear of death by 5.2 units, and if an individual has both anxiety and fear of death, it increases the fear of COVID-19 by 11.7 units. Studies have reported that the family members and friends of COVID-19 patients are prone to mental health disorders, and 50% of their family members have mild to severe mental health symptoms (19). It has also been noted that a traumatic event experienced by a loved one plays a triggering role in mental health disorders (24,25). Furthermore, relatives of patients with COVID may also have a fear of being infected, quarantined, or stigmatized. All these situations can exacerbate mental health problems (10,26). Supporting this argument, Tsang et al. (20) stated that approximately 50% of the family members of the infected person had psychological problems. They also emphasized that this situation is related to feelings of stigmatization (20).

Because to the prevalence of the infection, all resources are allocated to the treatment of the disease, or the studies have focused more on the public and healthcare professionals. However, relatives of those diagnosed with COVID-19 face both the fear of losing their loved ones and the risk of getting the disease themselves. Therefore, they become more vulnerable to the negative psychological effects of the pandemic than other people. COVID-19 patients and their families should also be evaluated in terms of social and psychological aspects. Early strategies are required to prevent and treat the psychological effects of the COVID-19 outbreak. As it was stated in several studies, there is a need for planning for the prevention and treatment of mental health problems caused by the pandemic (27). Accordingly, many studies conducted in different sample groups will be required.

Study Limitations

Our study has limitations, such as the small sample size and the use of this sampling regression analysis.

CONCLUSION

The presence of contamination risk in filling the scales by meeting face to face with the participants limited reaching more participants. There is a need for numerous studies on the nearterm and long-term effects of pandemics on mental health.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Approval of the Ministry of Health (approval code: T10_51_47) and University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Tascioglu City Hospital Research Ethics Committee (approval code: 48670771-514.10) was obtained.

Informed Consent: Verbal and written consent was obtained from the participants by providing detailed information before completing the questionnaire forms.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: Ü.A., Design: E.K., Data Collection or Processing: Ü.A., E.K., Analysis or Interpretation: Ü.A., Literature Search: Ü.A., E.K., Writing: Ü.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Chen Q, Liang M, Li Y, Guo J, Fei D, Wang L, et al. Mental health care for medical staff in China during the COVID-19 outbreak. Lancet Psychiatry 2020;7:e15-6. Erratum in: Lancet Psychiatry 2020;7:e27.
- Shigemura J, Ursano RJ, Morganstein JC, Kurosawa M, Benedek DM. Public responses to the novel 2019 coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in Japan: mental health consequences and target populations. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2020;74:281-2.
- 3. Ornell F, Schuch JB, Sordi AO, Kessler FHP. "Pandemic fear" and COVID-19: mental health burden and strategies. Braz J Psychiatry 2020;42:232-5. Erratum in: Braz J Psychiatry 2020;42:333.
- 4. Republic of Turkey Ministry. COVID-19 information page. Accessed date: 09.15.2020. Available from: https://covid19.saglik.gov.tr/?_Dil=2
- 5. Choi EPH, Hui BPH, Wan EYF. Depression and anxiety in Hong Kong during COVID-19. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020;17:3740.

- 6. Bakioğlu F, Korkmaz O, Ercan H. Fear of COVID-19 and positivity: mediating role of intolerance of uncertainty, depression, anxiety, and stress. Int J Ment Health Addict 2021;19:2369-82.
- 7. Dutheil F, Mondillon L, Navel V. PTSD as the second tsunami of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. Psychol Med 2021;51:1773-4.
- 8. Maunder R, Hunter J, Vincent L, Bennett J, Peladeau N, Leszcz M, et al. The immediate psychological and occupational impact of the 2003 SARS outbreak in a teaching hospital. CMAJ 2003;168:1245-51.
- 9. Hawryluck L, Gold WL, Robinson S, Pogorski S, Galea S, Styra R. SARS control and psychological effects of quarantine, Toronto, Canada. Emerg Infect Dis 2004;10:1206-12.
- 10. Brooks SK, Webster RK, Smith LE, Woodland L, Wessely S, Greenberg N, et al. The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. Lancet 2020;395:912-20.
- 11. Ahorsu DK, Lin CY, Imani V, Saffari M, Griffiths MD, Pakpour AH. The fear of COVID-19 scale: development and initial validation. Int J Ment Health Addict 2022;20:1537-45.
- 12. Haktanir A, Seki T, Dilmaç B. Adaptation and evaluation of Turkish version of the fear of COVID-19 scale. Death Stud 2022;46:719-27.
- Şenol C. Ankara ilinde kurumlarda yaşayan yaşlılarda ölüme iliskin kaygı ve korkular. Thesis: Ankara University Institute of Social Sciences, Ankara. 1989.
- 14. Akça F, Köse A. Adaptation of Death Anxiety Scale (DAS): Validity and Reliability Studies. Klinik Psikiyatri. 2008;11:7-16.
- Templer DI. The construction and validation of a death anxiety scale. J Gen Psychol 1970;82:165-77.
- 16. Hamilton M. The assessment of anxiety states by rating. Br J Med Psychol 1959;32:50-5.
- 17. Yazıcı MK, Demir B, Tanrıverdi N, Karaağaoğlu E, Yolaç P. Hamilton anxiety rating scale: interrater reliabilty and validity study. Turk Psikiyatri Derg 1998;9:114-7.
- Bilişsel Davranışçı Terapiler Derneği. BDT Ölçekler. Accessed date: 15.11.2020. Available from: https://www.bilisseldavranisci.com/ uploads/hamilton_anksiyete_has_a.pdf

- Shi L, Lu ZA, Que JY, Huang XL, Liu L, Ran MS, et al. Prevalence of and risk factors associated with mental health symptoms among the general population in China during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. JAMA Netw Open 2020;3:e2014053.
- 20. Tsang HW, Scudds RJ, Chan EY. Psychosocial impact of SARS. Emerg Infect Dis 2004;10:1326-7.
- 21. Ozamiz-Etxebarria N, Dosil-Santamaria M, Picaza-Gorrochategui M, Idoiaga-Mondragon N. Stress, anxiety, and depression levels in the initial stage of the COVID-19 outbreak in a population sample in the northern Spain. Cad Saude Publica 2020;36:e00054020.
- 22. Hamm ME, Brown PJ, Karp JF, Lenard E, Cameron F, Dawdani A, et al. Experiences of American older adults with pre-existing depression during the beginnings of the COVID-19 pandemic: a multicity, mixed-methods study. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2020;28:924-32.
- 23. Li X, Xu S, Yu M, Wang K, Tao Y, Zhou Y, et al. Risk factors for severity and mortality in adult COVID-19 inpatients in Wuhan. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2020;146:110-8.
- 24. Bromet EJ, Atwoli L, Kawakami N, Navarro-Mateu F, Piotrowski P, King AJ, et al. Post-traumatic stress disorder associated with natural and human-made disasters in the World Mental Health Surveys. Psychol Med 2017;47:227-41.
- 25. Tang B, Liu X, Liu Y, Xue C, Zhang L. A meta-analysis of risk factors for depression in adults and children after natural disasters. BMC Public Health 2014;14:623.
- Person B, Sy F, Holton K, Govert B, Liang A; National Center for Inectious Diseases/SARS Community Outreach Team. Fear and stigma: the epidemic within the SARS outbreak. Emerg Infect Dis 2004;10:358-63.
- 27. Li Z, Ge J, Yang M, Feng J, Qiao M, Jiang R, et al. Vicarious traumatization in the general public, members, and non-members of medical teams aiding in COVID-19 control. Brain Behav Immun 2020;88:916-9.



Single-port Endoscopic Thoracic Sympathectomy in Cases of Primary Hyperhidrosis: Single-center Experience

Ahmet Acıpayam¹, Muhammet Sayan², Mahmut Tokur¹

¹Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Kahramanmaraş, Turkey ²Gazi University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Ankara, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: Pathological excessive sweating that can occur in specific parts for else throughout the body is known as hyperhidrosis. Although there are different medical and surgical options, medical treatment applied to many patients provides temporary relief. With advances in surgical techniques, the most commonly used surgical treatment method is endoscopic thoracic sympathectomy (ETS). In this study, we examined the results of ETS operations performed in our clinic considering the current literature.

Methods: Between 15.03.2011 and 30.10.2020, 45 single-port ETS operations were performed on 23 patients due to palmar and/or axillary hyperhidrosis. Patients' demographic data, complaints, complications, therapeutic results, and post-treatment satisfaction were evaluated.

Results: Thirteen of the 23 patients were male and 10 were female, with average age of 25. Ten patients were operated for palmar hyperhidrosis, two for axillary hyperhidrosis, and 11 for axillary and palmar hyperhidrosis. Forty-five thoracic sympathectomy operations were performed with bilateral single port ETS in the same session in all but one of the 23 patients. Mean operative time was 28 min, and hospitalization time was 1.1 (0-8) days. Two patients exhibited compensatory sweating during follow-up, and one patient showed rebound sweating. At follow-up, 91% of patients (21) were satisfied with their operations.

Conclusion: Endoscopically-assisted single-port thoracic sympathectomy appears to be a reliable and practicable technique for treating hyperhidrosis, with effective results, high patient satisfaction, and early discharge time. We believe that the most important advantages of this technique are an early return to normal life, less pain, and a positive return to social life.

Keywords: Hyperhidrosis, thoracoscopy, thoracic sympathectomy

INTRODUCTION

Pathological excessive sweating exceeding normal limits is known as hyperhidrosis (HH). This can develop in specific regions, or throughout the body. There are two types of HH. The pathological state characterized by excessive sweating alone unassociated with any underlying disorder is known as primary HH, whereas HH associated with another underlying condition is known as secondary HH. Secondary HH is more common in individuals with a body mass index >28. Other frequently encountered secondary causes of HH include hyperthyroidism, diabetes mellitus, pheochromocytoma, and infection. A lack of distinction between daytime and nighttime sweating is typical. The etiology of primary HH is still unclear. Excessive sweating in the body or in a few regions thereof occurs involuntarily when the individual feels under psychological stress and in certain seasons. Sweating in primary HH does not occur during nocturnal sleep. The incidence of this form in the community is 1-3% (1,2). The prevalence of primary HH is equal in both genders, but increases in early adulthood (2). It tends to start in early childhood, severity worsens in puberty, and the incidence decreases progressively with age (3,4).

Received: 11.03.2021

Accepted: 22.09.2021



Address for Correspondence: Ahmet Acıpayam, Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Kahramanmaraş, Turkey

Phone: +90 507 287 08 57 E-mail: ahmetacipayam@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-3896-1694

Cite this article as: Acipayam A, Sayan M, Tokur M. Single-port Endoscopic Thoracic Sympathectomy in Cases of Primary Hyperhidrosis: Single-center Experience. Eur Arch Med Res 2022;38(3):178-182

©Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital European Archives of Medical Research published by Galenos Publishing House. Treatment of HH depends on the type. Treatment with secondary HH targets the underlying disease. Various medical and surgical options are available for treating primary HH, although medical treatment applied in several cases produces temporary improvement. Oral anticholinergic drugs, topical agents, iontophoresis, and botulinum toxin injections can be employed as medical treatments (5). The most widely employed surgical option as surgical techniques have improved is endoscopic thoracic sympathectomy (ETS) (6). ETS is normally performed using a double port, although it can now be performed with a single port due to increased experience. This study aims to report our experience of ETS surgery with a single port applied in cases of primary HH, with a discussion of the current literature.

METHODS

Approval for the study was granted by the Kahramanmaras Sutcu Imam University Ethical Committee (session 2021/04, decision no: 15, dated: 25.01.2021). The research was performed incomplianc with the 1975 Declaration of Helsinki through a retrospective examination of the records of patients undergoing ETS with a single port due to palmar and/or axillary HH in the Kahramanmaras Sutcu Imam University Medical Faculty Thoracic Surgery Clinic between 15.03.2011 and 30.10.2020. Before the sympathectomy surgery, the risks of the surgery were explained to all patients and an informed consent form was obtained by signature. All patients' demographic data, symptoms, thoracic sympathectomy sites, complications, treatment outcomes, and post-treatment satisfaction were evaluated.

Surgical Procedure

Patients were placed in a semi-sitting position with both upper extremities in 90-degree abduction. The procedure was performed with patients under general anesthesia using a doublelumen endotracheal tube. Following single-lung ventilation, a 1 cm skin incision was made to the midaxillary line, and the thoracic cavity was entered through a blunt dissection. A port was installed in the hemothorax scheduled for the procedure. Depending on the patient's symptoms, the second sympathetic ganglion was resected in the presence of facial HH, the third and fourth sympathetic ganglia if palmar HH was present, and the fourth and fifth ganglia in case of axillary HH by cauterization with an electrocautery hook passed through the camera without the need for a second incision (Figure 1). The objective was to prevent recurrence following sympathectomy by cauterizing alternative sympathetic nerve connections such as the nerve of Kuntz. Following this procedure, anelaton catheter was inserted inside the lung through the port entrance, while the other end

was placed inside a container filled with saline solution. The procedure was maintained until the air outflow ended through ventilation of the lung. Following air outflow termination, the catheter was withdrawn and the entry site was sutured. The same procedure was also performed on the other hemothorax in patients under going bilateral thoracic sympathectomy. The procedure was concluded with the installation of a chest tube. Patients were evaluated with postoperative lung X-rays taken in the operating room and sent to the ward.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed on IBM SPSS 25 for Windows software. Continuous variables were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Categorical variables were analyzed using Fisher's Exact test and were expressed as frequency and percentage values.

RESULTS

Thirteen of the 23 patients with a mean age of 25 years (17-36) operated due to HH at the Kahramanmaras Sutcu Imam University Thoracic Surgery Department were men, and 10 were women (Table 1). Ten patients were operated for palmar HH, two for axillary HH, and 11 for both palmar and axillary. Bilateral thoracic sympathectomy was performed on all 23 patients, with



Figure 1. Images of the endoscopic thoracic sympathectomy operation (A: Endoscopic image of the sympathetic nerve, B: Image of the electrocautery hook capable of being passed through the camera, C: Cauterization of the sympathetic nerve with the electrocautery hook, D: Cauterization of the nerve of Kuntz)

one exception, using the single-port ETS method in the same session, 45 thoracic sympathectomies thus being carried out (Table 2).

The mean operative time was 28 min, and mean length of hospital stay was 1.1 days (0-8). All patients apart from one were transferred to the chest surgery ward without requiring chest tube insertion. Three patients were discharged on the same day, and 19 following control X-ray on the first day postoperatively. Primary repair using mini-axillary thoracotomy was performed on one patient due to parenchymal laceration during single-port ETS due to pulmonary parenchymal adhesion to the chest wall. The operation was concluded following the insertion of a chest tube. The patient was discharged on the eighth day with removal of the chest tube. Patients attended clinical following-ups 10 days, and two and 12 months after discharge.

No mortality occurred in the operated patients. Compensatory sweating was determined at follow-ups in two patients. This was in the inguinal region alone in one patient and in the inguinal region and back in the other. Sweating in the inguinal region improved spontaneously after the second month, while the other patient's symptoms resolved in the postoperative 12th month. Rebound sweating occurred in one patient, but improved without intervention after the third week. Recurrence was observed in one patient during postoperative follow-ups. Repeat left-side ETS was performed in the sixth month postoperatively in this case.

When asked about their satisfaction with the procedure during postoperative follow-ups, 21 (91%) expressed postoperative

Table 1. Demographic data and clinical outcomes	
Age	25 (17-36)
Gender M/F	13/10
Operative time (min)	28
Length of hospitalization (days)	1 (0-8)
Complications	
Compensatory sweating	2
Parenchymal laceration	1
Rebound sweating	1
Follow-up duration (months)	12
M: Male, F: Female	

Table 2. Operation indications and resection levels				
Indication No Levels				
Hand sweating	10	T3-4		
Axillary sweating	2	T4-5		
Hand and axillary sweating	11	T3-5		

satisfaction with thoracic sympathectomy using ETS. The other two patients were the case with compensatory sweating resolving on the 12th month, and the case undergoing mini thoracotomy due to parenchymal laceration.

DISCUSSION

The first sympathectomy in HH was reported by Kotzaref in 1920 (7). However, the size of the incision prevented the operation from being widely performed in subsequent years. The first endoscopic treatment of HH with the entry into surgical practice of closed surgical techniques was performed by Hughes in 1942 (8). Closed endoscopic procedures became more widely performed in the 1980s and gradually came to replace open surgery (9). ETS is a surgical technique of proven efficacy in cases of HH that fail to respond to medical treatment (10). Its efficacy for treating HH, its reliability, and the use of a small incision, have made the procedure a well-tolerated option for treating the (10,11). ETS was initially performed with two or three ports, but due to increasing experience, it has now become possible with only a single port. ETS surgery has been performed with a single port for the last decade in our clinic.

ETS is not only frequently employed for treating HH, but also in Reynaud's disease, reflex sympathetic dystrophy, and upper extremity ischemia. Selecting the endoscopic thoracoscopic approach in preference of top thoracotomy, or open surgery, provides greater patient comfort with both less muscle tissue damage and a smaller incision. This means the patient feels less pain in the postoperative period, increases patient satisfaction and contributes to a more rapid return to social life (12,13). Ninety-one percent of patient satisfaction was determined in thoracic sympathectomy operations performed with the ETS method and a single port in this study. We think that this high patient satisfaction rate can be attributed topatients experiencing less pain due to a smaller incision and lower tissue trauma with the single port ETS method, and to their early return to working and social life by being discharged on the same or the next day.

There are various operation application types in ETS. These differences derive from different thoracic entry sites or from the surgeon's use of different sympathetic nerve blocks (1,14). The thoracic sympathetic consists of 10-12 ganglia and extends beneath the parietal pleura on both sides of the spinal cord. ETS surgery is performed by interrupting the ganglia at predetermined levels and the branches between then (1,14). Although different methods with different names are employed, the essential aim is to interrupt the sympathetic chain. Removal by severing the sympathetic ganglion from above and below is
defined as sympathectomy, damaging the sympathetic ganglion by using ultrasound or laser is defined as ablation, attaching a clip over the desired ganglion in the sympathetic trunk is known as clipping, and clipping the ganglion in the sympathetic trunk from above and below is defined as sympathetic blockage. In our clinic, we perform thoracic sympathectomy with the ETS method and a single port by interrupting the sympathetic ganglion using the ablation technique with an electrocautery hook. One previous study determined no significant difference in terms of operation-related risk and/or patient satisfaction between different techniques including ablation, cutting, and clipping (15).

While the optimal level for sympathetic chain resection is still unclear, the T3 or T3-4 ganglia are recommended in palmar HH, T4 in axillary HH, and T2 in facial HH (16). In this study, ablation was applied to the T3 and T4 ganglia for palmar HH, and to the T4-T5 ganglia for axillary HH. Family histories are present in 12.5-56.5% patients (14). Cerfolio et al. (2) described the best patient group for treatment as individuals with symptom onset before the age of 16, without sweating during sleep, and without bradycardia or other additional diseases. Adolescence has been described as the ideal age for surgery in patients with HH. However, studies have revealed no significant difference in terms of surgical outcomes between adolescence and patients over 40 or under 14 (17,18). The essential aim of HH surgery is to achieve a dry skin with as few complications as possible. The objective must be to perform blockage at the appropriate level to achieve this balance. However, results are not always at the desired level, and complications capable of causing the patient to regret having undergone surgery can even develop (19). Postoperative dissatisfaction was determined in two cases in this study, one in which parenchymal laceration developed, and one with compensatory sweating.

The reasons for surgical failure and recurrence of the disease include anatomical variations of the sympathetic nerve, pleural adhesions, inability to clearly visualize the nerve due to excess adipose tissue, and insufficiency of the sympathetic incision because of venous structures in the proximity of the sympathetic canal (20). The most common complication of ETS is compensatory sweating, the prevalence of which among all different surgical approaches ranges between 3% and 98% (2,21). In this complication, sweating increases abnormally in the lower part of the line passing between the nipples (22). Compensatory sweating is also the principal cause of postoperative regret. Of the two cases in which compensatory sweating developed in this study, the symptoms resolved spontaneously in one in the second postoperative month, while the other patient's symptoms persisted for 12 months. Rebound sweating is a nonpermanent complication that resolves within 30 days and that consists of slight moisture in the early postoperative period (Table 3). This should not be interpreted as a recurrence. It is thought to be associated withtransient neurotransmitter release from the nerve end exposed to postganglionic degeneration (22). Rebound sweating developed in one patient in our series, but resolved entirely in the third week.

Another complication is excessively dry hands that can result in cracks in the palms, especially in cold weather. Dry hands are reported to be less common in patients in whom T4 is employed in preference to T3 in sweating of the hands (22). Another complication is Horner syndrome resulting from perioperative stellar ganglion damage in the C8-T1 junction. Although now not frequently seen, it was once one of the most frequent complications. The likelihood of development is higher in interventions at the T2 level or above in patients presenting with facial sweating. The prevalence is 0.7-5.6%. The effect may be transient in some patients, but can also produce permanent injury. However, the incidence has decreased as surgical interventions are increasingly performed to lower levels and to increased surgical experience (22). Horner syndrome was not encountered in any of our patients. Complications developing following thoracic sympathectomy are shown in Table 3. As with all interventional procedures, patients must be given comprehensive information and their consent must be obtained in terms of potential complications before ETS surgery (23).

Although tube thoracostomy is not currently required following thoracic sympathectomy using the ETS method, it is required in pneumothoraces, which develop at a rate of 4-6%. Pneumothorax is most frequently caused by parenchymal adhesions (22). Parenchymal adhesions were present in two cases in this study. Primary repair with axillary mini-thoracotomy associated with parenchymal laceration was required in one patient. In the other case, although bilateral sympathectomy was planned, no

Table 3. Sympathectomy complications					
Postoperative complications	Perioperative complications				
Compensatory hyperhidrosis	Vascular bleeding				
Gustatory sweating	Parenchymal laceration				
Phantom sweating	Rhythm changes (bradycardia- tachycardia)				
Recurrence	Plexus brachialis damage linked to surgical position				
Rebound sweating	-				
Horner syndrome	-				
Hydro-hemo-pneumothorax	-				

intervention was performed on the side with adhesion, while endoscopic sympathectomy was applied to the other side, and tube thoracostomy was not required.

CONCLUSION

ETS has been increasingly applied for treating HH with satisfactory results and low complication rates recently. We believe that the advantage of the single port endoscopic sympathectomy we performed is that it allows the operation with a single small incision, less pain and less scarring, resulting in higher satisfaction in patients and their return to social life earlier.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Approval for the study was granted by the Kahramanmaras Sutcu Imam University Ethical Committee (session 2021/04, decision no: 15, dated: 25.01.2021).

Informed Consent: Informed consent form was obtained by signature.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: M.S., M.T., Concept: A.A., Design: A.A., M.T., Data Collection or Processing: A.A., M.S., Analysis or Interpretation: A.A., M.S., Literature Search: M.S., Writing: A.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Hornberger J, Grimes K, Naumann M, Glaser DA, Lowe NJ, Naver H, et al. Recognition, diagnosis, and treatment of primary focal hyperhidrosis. J Am Acad Dermatol 2004;51:274-86.
- Cerfolio RJ, De Campos JR, Bryant AS, Connery CP, Miller DL, DeCamp MM, et al. The Society of Thoracic Surgeons expert consensus for the surgical treatment of hyperhidrosis. Ann Thorac Surg 2011;91:1642-8.
- Shargall Y, Spratt E, Zeldin RA. Hyperhidrosis: what is it and why does it occur? Thorac Surg Clin 2008;18:125-32, v.
- 4. Solish N, Wang R, Murray CA. Evaluating the patient presenting with hyperhidrosis. Thorac Surg Clin 2008;18:133-40.
- Nawrocki S, Cha J. The etiology, diagnosis, and management of hyperhidrosis: a comprehensive review: therapeutic options. J Am Acad Dermatol 2019;81:669-80.

- Gürkök S, Genç O. Hyperhidrosis (endoscopic thoracal sympathectomy). Turkiye Klinikleri J Thor Surg-Special Topics 2009;2:62-9.
- 7. Hashmonai M, Kopelman D. History of sympathetic surgery. Clin Auton Res 2003;13(Suppl 1):16-9.
- 8. Robertson AG, Russell A, Kirk AJB. Endoscopic thoracic sympathectomy: a review. Eur J Plast Surg 2006;29:73-8.
- Gossot D, Kabiri H, Caliandro R, Debrosse D, Girard P, Grunenwald D. Early complications of thoracic endoscopic sympathectomy: a prospective study of 940 procedures. Ann Thorac Surg 2001;71:1116-9.
- 10. Krasna MJ, Demmy TL, McKenna RJ, Mack MJ. Thoracoscopic sympathectomy: the U.S. experience. Eur J Surg Suppl 1998:19-21.
- 11. Kaplan T, Ekmekçi P, Koçer B, Han S. Bilateral sympathicotomy for hyperhidrosis without using single-lung ventilation. Turk J Med Sci 2015;45:771-4.
- 12. Chen YB, Ye W, Yang WT, Shi L, Guo XF, Xu ZH, et al. Uniportal versus biportal video-assisted thoracoscopic sympathectomy for palmar hyperhidrosis. Chin Med J (Engl) 2009;122:1525-8.
- 13. Shanthanna H, Aboutouk D, Poon E, Cheng J, Finley C, Paul J, et al. A retrospective study of open thoracotomies versus thoracoscopic surgeries for persistent postthoracotomy pain. J Clin Anesth 2016;35:215-20.
- 14. Ro KM, Cantor RM, Lange KL. Palmar hiperhidrozu: genetikgeçiş kanıtı. J Vasc Surg 2002;35:382-6.
- Whitson BA, Andrade RS, Dahlberg PS, Maddaus MA. Evolution of clipping for thoracoscopic sympathectomy in symptomatic hyperhidrosis. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech 2007;17:287-90.
- Dewey TM, Herbert MA, Hill SL, Prince SL, Mack MJ. One-year follow-up after thoracoscopic sympathectomy for hyperhidrosis: outcomes and consequences. Ann Thorac Surg 2006;81:1227-32; discussion 1232-3.
- 17. Neves S, Uchoa PC, Wolosker N, Munia MA, Kauffman P, de Campos JR, et al. Long-term comparison of video-assisted thoracic sympathectomy and clinical observation for the treatment of palmar hyperhidrosis in children younger than 14. Hyperhidrosis. Pediatr Dermatol 2012;29:575-9.
- Faustino CB, Milanez de Campos JR, Kauffman P, Leiderman DD, Tedde M, Cucato G, et al. Analysis of the results of videotoracoscopic sympathectomy in the treatment of hyperhidrosis in patients 40 years or older. Ann Vasc Surg 2020;65:107-12.
- 19. Schreiner W, Mykoliuk I, Dudek W, Sirbu H. Impact of selective quality of life analysis in patients with local hyperhidrosis after sympathicus clipping. Zentralbl Chir 2019;144:139-45.
- Lin TS, Chou MC. Treatment of palmar hyperhidrosis using needlescopic T2 sympathetic block by clipping: analysis of 102 cases. Int Surg 2004;89:198-201.
- 21. Li X, Chen R, Tu YR, Lin M, Lai FC, Li YP, et al. Epidemiological survey of primary palmar hyperhidrosis in adolescents. Chin Med J (Engl) 2007;120:2215-7.
- 22. Dumont P. Side effects and complications of surgery for hyperhidrosis. Thorac Surg Clin 2008;18:193-207.
- Currie AC, Evans JR, Thomas PR. An analysis of the natural course of compensatory sweating following thoracoscopic sympathectomy. Int J Surg 2011;9:437-9.



Evaluation of Compliance to Diabetes Treatment, Care Standards in Diabetes Treatment and Follow-up and Awareness of Patients

D Orçun Yaşmut¹, D Mine Adaş²

¹Bakırköy Prof. Dr. Mazhar Osman Mentah Health and Neurological Diseases Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

²University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine and Endocrinology and Metabolism, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: Diabetes is a lifelong disease caused by the deficiency or ineffectiveness of insulin hormone. The aim of diabetes treatment is to keep blood sugar regulated thus improving quality of life and preventing the development of long-term complications. In this study, the sociodemographic characteristics that cause diabetes regulation and the complications that may occur because of the disease are examined. We compared the regulation of diabetes and complications and awareness by determining the complications, awareness of patients and the other factors that affect the regulation of diabetes.

Methods: A questionnaire form was applied to 216 patients with diabetes older than 18 years old who applied to the Endocrinology, Diabetes and Internal Medicine outpatient clinics of Okmeydani Training and Research Hospital. Data on sociodemographic information, awareness levels, the values and factors effecting the disease regulation and complications were analyzed.

Results: 58.7% of the patients were female and 41.3% were male. 70.8% of the patients were over 50 years old. 26.3% of the patients did not have any graduation and 49% were primary school graduates. 48.6% of the patients had an income level of 2,000 TL and below. The rate of patients with regulated HbA1c was 30.5%. The rate of patients using insulin was 54.6%. In our study, the mean HbA1c of the retinopathy group was found to be significantly higher than that of the non-retinopathy patients, but there was no significant difference between HbA1C levels and nephropathy. The awareness points of the HbA1c group, which were not regulated, were significantly lower than the ones in the regulated group.

Conclusion: Determining the factors affecting diabetes regulation, the presence of complications and awareness levels play an important role in the follow-up and treatment of diabetes.

Keywords: Diabetes mellitus, complication, related factors, awareness, diabetes

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic metabolic disorder in which the organism cannot make sufficient use of carbohydrates, fats, and proteins due to insulin deficiency or disorders in the effect of insulin. It is important to inform and educate health workers and patients to reduce the risk of acute complications and to prevent long-term treatment costs and most importantly, chronic (retinal, renal, neural, cardiac, and vascular) complications (1). The awareness level of patients with DM increases the compliance of the treatment and thus the treatment success. Especially in diseases such as diabetes, where the patient himself is a part of the treatment, it is of great importance in terms of awareness, compliance and treatment success. Our aim is to regulate blood sugar in patients and to prevent future complications and related mortality and morbidity. For this reason, awareness is of great importance to ensure that the treatment given to the patient is used properly and that the patients comply with the



Address for Correspondence: Orçun Yaşmut, Bakırköy Prof. Dr. Mazhar Osman Mentah Health and Neurological Diseases Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 546 690 90 20 E-mail: orcunyasmut@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0112-0533

Cite this article as: Yaşmut O, Adaş M. Evaluation of Compliance to Diabetes Treatment, Care Standards in Diabetes Treatment and Follow-up and Awareness of Patients. Eur Arch Med Res 2022;38(3):183-188

©Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital European Archives of Medical Research published by Galenos Publishing House. Received: 17.04.2021

Accepted: 24.09.2021

recommendations for lifestyle changes. Simultaneously, the internet can be a powerful support for diabetes nutrition, self-care and self-management. In our study, sociodemographic features, awareness levels, the frequency of macrovascular and microvascular complications, which are of great importance in the control with diabetes, and the effects of the recommendations presented in the follow-up of the patients on the control with diabetes were compared.

METHODS

A guestionnaire was applied to 216 patients who were admitted to the endocrinology, Internal Medicine and Diabetes Outpatient Clinics of University of Health Sciences Turkey, Okmeydani Health Application and Research Center with a diagnosis of DM for more than 6 months, who were older than 18 years, who were pregnant and had no previous history of gastrointestinal system surgery. A questionnaire was prepared as our data collection tool. After sociodemographic characteristics such as age, sex, weight, height, body mass index (BMI), education level, income level, smartphone and internet usage, type of diabetes treatment, type, and year of DM, presence of micro and macrovascular complications and treatment and in the followup, the suggestions and applications to the branches related to the complications were questioned. Simultaneously, albumin/ creatinine ratios in the spot urine, epidermal growth factor receptor (GFR), low-density lipoprotein, fasting blood sugar and HbA1c levels were recorded. In the last part of the study, parameters were determined by questions about the level of awareness of patients, smoking, diabetes education, exercise, and nutrition recommendations, blood sugar measurement at home and frequency of admission to the physician.

The Ethical Committee approved this study at University of Health Sciences Turkey, Okmeydani Health Application and Research Center on 21.11.2017 no: 48670771-514.10. All patients were informed and consent forms were obtained.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis in this study were performed using the Number Cruncher Statistical System (NCSS) 2007 Statistical Software (Utah, USA) package program.

In the power analysis performed using the G*power 3.1 program related to our study, the effect size for HbA1c \leq 7 among the study groups was found to be 0.10 (Quality of Care for Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Dubai: A HEDIS like assessment) (alpha error probability: 0.05); the total number of patients required to be taken in total was found to be at least 160 in the sample size analysis performed with a power value of 0.80.

In addition to descriptive statistical methods (mean, standard deviation, frequency and percentage distributions) in the evaluation of data, we used

- One-Way analysis of variance for intergroup comparison of normally distributed variables (One-Way ANOVA),

- Independent t-test for comparison of paired groups,

- Mann-Whitney U test for comparing non-normally distributed variables between binary groups.

RESULTS

There was a statistically significant difference between the HbA1c averages of no graduation, primary school, high school and university groups (p<0.001). HbA1c averages of the no graduation group were found to be significantly higher than the high school and university groups (p<0.001, p=0.001). HbA1c averages of the primary school group were found to be statistically higher than the high school and university groups (p=0.006, p=0.033). There was no statistically significant difference between the other groups (p>0.05).

The mean HbA1c of the smartphone users was found to be statistically lower than the ones who don not use smartphones (p<0.001) (Table 1).

The mean HbA1c of the internet users was found to be significantly lower than the patients who did not use internet (p=0.002) (Table 1).

A statistically significant difference was observed between the HbA1c averages of the income groups <1,000 TL, 1,000-2,000 TL, 2,000-3,000 TL, 3,000-5,000 TL, and >5,000 TL (p=0.0001) (Table 1). HbA1c averages of <1,000 TL income group were found to be significantly higher than the income groups 2,000-3,000 TL, 3,000-5,000 TL, and >5,000 TL (p=0.006, p=0.012), HbA1c averages of the income group 1,000-2,000 TL were found to be statistically higher than the income groups 2,000-3,000 TL, 3,000-5,000 TL, and >5,000 TL (p<0.001, p=0.002), there was no statistically significant difference between the other groups (p>0.05) (Table 1).

The mean HbA1c of the dietary group was significantly lower than that of the non-dietary group (p<0.001) (Table 2).

A statistically significant difference was observed between the mean HbA1c of the exercise groups not doing, once a week and >2 times a week (p<0.001). The HbA1c averages >2 times a week were found to be significantly lower than those who did not exercise (p<0.001), and no statistically significant difference was observed between the other groups (p>0.05) (Table 2).

The mean HbA1c of oral antidiabetic (OAD) users was significantly lower than those without OAD (p=0.023) (Table 2).

The mean HbA1c levels of the insulin users were significantly higher than those of the non-insulin users (p<0.001) (Table 2).

The mean HbA1c of the group that used treatment regularly was significantly lower than that of the group that uses treatment irregularly (p<0.001) (Table 2).

The mean HbA1c of the DM year ≤ 10 group was found to be significantly lower than the DM year > 10 group (p=0.004) (Table 2).

There was a statistically significant difference between the mean HbA1c of diabetic retinopathy (DRP) unknown, none and existing groups (p=0.019). The mean HbA1c of the DRP existence group was found to be significantly higher than the no DRP group (p=0.01), but no statistically significant difference was observed between the other groups (p>0.05) (Table 3).

No statistically significant difference was observed between the mean of the control visit recommendations for the branches about DM complications of the \leq 7 HbA1c and >7 HbA1c groups (p=0.703) (Table 4).

The mean examination score for the branches with DM complications in the >7 HbA1c group was statistically significantly lower than that in the <7 HbA1c group (p=0.013) (Table 4).

Table 1. Comparison of mean HbA1c levels and demographic characteristics					
		n	HbA1c	р	
	20-40	21	7.96±1.9		
	41-50	42	8.68±2.37]	
Age	51-60	67	7.87±1.53	0.284	
	61-70	58	8.27±2.03		
	>71	28	8.44±2.4		
Covuality	Female	127	8.12±1.96	0.200	
Sexuality	Male	89	8.36±2.07	0.369	
	No graduation	57	9.04±2.13		
Education status	Primary school	106	8.33±1.97	<0.001	
	Collage	43	7.2±1.44		
	University	10	6.62±0.78		
Smart phone	Not using	136	8.63±2.11	<0.001	
usage	Using	80	7.51±1.59	<0.001	
Internet usage	Not using	163	8.46±2.05	0.002	
internet usage	Using	53	7.47±1.67	0.002	
	<1,000 TL	12	9.43±3.13		
	1,000-2,000 TL	93	9.1±1.94		
Income status	2,000-3,000 TL	59	7.46±1.29	<0.001	
	3,000-5,000 TL	39	7.25±1.52		
	>5,000TL	13	7.08±2.06	1	

The awareness score averages of >7 HbA1c groups were significantly lower than the \leq 7 HbA1c group (p<0.001) (Table 4).

DISCUSSION

Turkish Diabetes Epidemiology Study (TURDEP) is the most comprehensive research guideline in which epidemiological diabetes is examined nationally. According to TURDEP I and II, diabetes is seen more frequently in women in our country and 58.7% of the participants were women in our study (Table 1). When the TURDEP II results are examined, cigarette consumption has decreased from 30% to 17.3% in the last 12 years. The smoking rate of the patients in our study was found to be 26% (2).

Although type 2 diabetes may be seen in young people, although less frequently, it is usually seen in the population aged 40 years and over. In an other study, the mean age of type 2 diabetic patients was found to be 53.99 ± 7.75 (3). In our study, 70.8% of

Table 2. Con	Table 2. Comparison of clinical features and mean HbA1c levels					
		n	HbA1c	р		
	<20 BMI	7	7.67±2.22			
DMI	20-25 BMI	28	7.42±1.33			
BINI	25-30 BMI	72	8.37±2.23	0.117		
	>30 BMI	109	8.36±1.95]		
Diet	Not in diet	89	9.39±2.13	<0.001		
Diet	In diet	127	7.39±1.42	<0.001		
	None	119	8.91±2.12			
Exercise	Once in a week	6	8.27±2.14	<0.001		
Exercise	2 or more times in a week	91	7.30±1.41			
040	Not using	33	8.94±1.95	0.022		
UAD	Using	183	8.08±1.99	0.023		
Inculin	Not using	98	7.2±1.4	<0.001		
IIISUIIII	Using	118	9.06±2.05	<0.001		
Treatment	Regularly	33	10.52±1.79	<0.001		
regularity	Irregularly	183	7.8±1.75	<0.001		
DM ago	≤10 years	149	7.95±1.89	0.004		
Divi age	>10 years	67	8.80±2.14	0.004		
DM type	Туре І	9	8.77±1.76	0.401		
Divi type	Type II	207	8.19±2.02	0.401		
	≤120	65	6.67±0.9	<0.001		
rru	>120	151	8.87±1.98	<0.001		
	≤100	9	7.87±1.87	0 166		
	>100	207	8.31±2.05	0.100		
BMI: Body mass	index, OAD: Oral antidiabe	tic, DM:	Diabetes mellitus,	FPG: Fasting		

		n	HbA1c	р	
	Unknown	14	8.02±2.01		
	None	154	8.11±1.99		
DNP	Microalbuminuria	23	8.63±2.21	0.506	
	Proteinuria	14	8.93±1.9		
	Renal failure	11	8.22±1.92		
	Unknown	38	8.51±1.99		
DRP	None	128	7.91±1.82	0.019	
	Exist	50	8.78±2.34		
	Unknown	127	8.33±1.99		
Diabetic	None	74	7.94±1.92	0.285	
neuropatny	Exist	15	8.64±2.51		
Chronic	None	162	8.23±1.95		
ischemic heart disease	Exist	54	8.17±2.2	0.850	
ит	None	128	8.13±1.99	0.462	
nı	Exist	88	8.34±2.04	0.405	
	None	205	8.19±1.97	0.442	
CVD	Exist	11	8.7±2.72	0.412	
BAD	None	214	8.19±1.99	0.057	
PAD	Exist	2	10.9±3.39	0.05/	
	None	213	8.18±1.98	0.026	
Diabetic foot	Exist in past and healed	1	13.3±		
	Still exist	2	9.45±1.34	1	
Diabet	None	178	8.38±2.01		
education	Exist	38	7.43±1.8	0.008	
Weight loss	No	5	6.86±1.81	0.127	
advice	Yes	211	8.25±2	0.12/	
	No	3	7.5±2.07	0.525	
Diet advice	Yes	213	8.23±2.01	0.555	
Exercise	No	7	7.34±1.52	0.242	
advice	Yes	209	8.24±2.02	0.243	
Smoking	Yes	47	8.95±1.96		
cessetion	No	9	8.14±1.33	0.017	
advice	Not using	160	8±2.01]	
	0-3 months	125	7.81±1.93		
Frequency	3-6 months	57	8.64±2	0.004	
or physician control	6-12 months	21	9.1±1.96	0.004	
CONTROL	>12 months	13	8.84±2.08]	
Home blood	No	40	8.64±2.19	ĺ	
		i	i	0.136	

DN: Diabetic nephropathy, DRP: Diabetic retinopathy, H1: Hypertension, CVD: Cardiovascular disease, PAD: Peripheral artery disease the patients with diabetes were found to be over 50 years of age (Table 1).

Another study found that most patients had a low educational level and had a disease duration of more than 5 years (3). The patients in our study had similar characteristics in this respect (Table 2).

HbA1c averages of patients with smartphone and internet usage were lower than those without use (Table 1). In a study by Grant et al. (4), it was found that those who did not use the internet were older and had lower education levels and therefore, some differences were found in treatment and complications.

As it is known, factors such as high income level, diet and exercise have positive effects on diabetes regulation. The mean HbA1c levels of the groups with an income of 2,000 TL or more, who paid attention to their diet and fed regularly and exercised 2 or more times a week were found to be significantly lower than the other groups (Tables 1, 2). In a meta-analysis, positive effects of diet and exercise on type 2 DM were reported (4). In a study by Houle et al. (5), it also shows that low education and socioeconomic factors have negative effects on diabetes regulation.

There is strong and consistent evidence that obesity management can delay the transition from prediabetes to type 2 diabetes and is useful for treating type 2 diabetes (6). In our study, the presence of BMI above 25 and more was significantly higher in the HbA1c >7 group than in the HbA1c \leq 7 group, and the mean BMI of patients who have HbA1c above 7 was significantly higher than the other group (Table 2). In another study, Oğuz et al. (7) it has been stated that obesity is a major problem in providing diabetes regulation.

Diabetes age and regular use of treatment are important factors for diabetes regulation. In our study, the mean HbA1c levels were lower in the group receiving regular treatment and in the group with DM age less than 10 years compared to the other groups (Table 2). Simultaneously, the mean year of DM was significantly lower in patients with regulated HbA1c than non-regulated ones (Table 2). In a study by Ahmad et al. (8), each 1 year increase in the duration of DM was associated with a 5% reduction in the probability of achieving target glycemic control. In another study, HbA1c levels showed a significant increase as diabetes duration increased (9).

In our study, the percentage of patients with regulated HbA1c levels was found to be 30.5%. In a study by Oğuz et al. (7), the percentage of patients with regulated HbA1c was 36%.

Table 4. Comparison of awareness and complication scores in between blood glucose regulation groups							
	All patients n=216	≤7 HbA1c n=71	>7 HbA1c n=145	р			
Control visit advice for complications	1.79±1.15	1.83±1.16	1.77±1.14	0.703			
Control visit for complications	4.58±3.31	5.39±3.41	4.18±3.19	0.013			
Awareness score	4.29±3.38	5.69±3.4	3.61±3.17	<0.001			

DRP is one of the common complications of diabetes. In our study, the incidence of retinopathy was found to be 23.1% (Table 3). In a study conducted in 2016, retinopathy was associated with advanced age, early onset of the disease, longer disease duration, uncontrolled blood sugar, hypertension and insulin use, and the presence of neuropathy and nephropathy and retinopathy was found to be 36.4% (10).

Another important complication associated with diabetes is nephropathy. In a study in Albania, the prevalence of microalbuminuria in patients with type 2 diabetes was 26.3%. Ahmed et al. (10) found a rate of 16.6% patients with microalbuniria. In our study, the rate of microalbuminuria was 10.6%, the rate of macroalbuminuria was 6.4% and patients with GFR below 60 were 5% (Table 3). In our study groups, differences in disease regulation rates and disease duration were thought to be effective the differences between the results determined in the literature.

According to the data of a study conducted in our country dealing with the relationship between target glycemic values and complication frequencies; there was a weak positive correlation between diabetic nephropathy and retinopathy rates and mean HbA1c values, but no statistically significant correlation was found between microalbuminuria and neuropathy rates (11). In our study, the mean HbA1c values of the group with DRP were significantly higher than those without DRP, but no significant difference was found between HbA1c levels with and without DNP.

In terms of control visit frequency for complications, the mean HbA1c levels of the 0-3 months group were found to be significantly lower than those of the other groups (Table 4). In another study, they also mentioned that HbA1c monitoring frequency is associated with diabetes control (12).

The awareness level of diabetes patients is a critical factor in reaching the target glycemic values in the disease. Awareness also plays an important role in preventing complications and achieving treatment success. In our study, a significant relationship was found between the awareness questionnaire score and the regulation of the disease (Table 4). Awareness of the non-regulated HbA1c group was significantly lower than that of the regulated group (Table 4). Increasing the awareness of patients in a chronic disease such as diabetes will make a significant contribution to the regulation of diabetes.

CONCLUSION

It is also important to achieve the goals of glycemic control and to identify other factors that are effective in preventing complications.

As mentioned in our study, the factors that are adversely affecting diabetes regulation, such as; low level of education and income, advanced age of diabetes, the use of technological devices such as smart phones and the internet, frequency of physician control, smoking and obesity, will create serious complications in the short and long term and will also cause serious economic burden is obvious.

With the help of larger studies, it is possible to achieve clearer and more effective results and thus, short- and long term complications of diabetes can be prevented using both conventional and technological methods and to increase the quality of life of patients and decrease the economic burden of diabetes.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The Ethical Committee approved this study at University of Health Sciences Turkey, Okmeydani Health Application and Research Center on 21.11.2017 no: 48670771-514.10.

Informed Consent: All patients were informed and consent forms were obtained.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: O.Y., M.A., Concept: O.Y., M.A., Design: O.Y., M.A., Data Collection or Processing: O.Y., M.A., Analysis or Interpretation: O.Y., M.A., Literature Search: O.Y., M.A., Writing: O.Y., M.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Türkiye Endokrinoloji ve Metabolizma Derneği (TEMD) Diabetes mellitus ve komplikasyonlarının tanı, tedavi ve izlem kılavuzu - 2022. Available from: https://file.temd.org.tr/Uploads/publications/guides/ documents/diabetes-mellitus_2022.pdf
- 2. Satman I, Omer B, Tutuncu Y, Kalaca S, Gedik S, Dinccag N, et al. Twelve-year trends in the prevalence and risk factors of diabetes and prediabetes in Turkish adults. Eur J Epidemiol 2013;28:169-80.
- 3. Ustaalioğlu S, Tam M. Examination of type 2 diabetics attitudes and behaviours against care and treatment. GUSBD 2017;6:12-20.
- 4. Grant RW, Cagliero E, Chueh HC, Meigs JB. Internet use among primary care patients with type 2 diabetes: the generation and education gap. J Gen Intern Med 2005;20:470-3.
- 5. Houle J, Lauzier-Jobin F, Beaulieu MD, Meunier S, Coulombe S, Côté J, et al. Socioeconomic status and glycemic control in adult patients with type 2 diabetes: a mediation analysis. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care 2016;4:e000184.
- 6. American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes. 2019;42 (Suppl 1):S1S194.

- 7. Oğuz A, Gedik O, Hatemi H, Yılmaz T, İmamoğlu Ş, Kamel N, et al. Glycemic control of Turkish adult diabetic patients. Turk Jem 2008;12:50-4.
- Ahmad NS, Islahudin F, Paraidathathu T. Factors associated with good glycemic control among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Investig 2014;5:563-9.
- 9. Verma M, Paneri S, Badi P, Raman PG. Effect of increasing duration of diabetes mellitus type 2 on glycated hemoglobin and insulin sensitivity. Indian J Clin Biochem 2006;21:142-6.
- 10. Ahmed RA, Khalil SN, Al-Qahtani MA. Diabetic retinopathy and the associated risk factors in diabetes type 2 patients in Abha, Saudi Arabia. J Family Community Med 2016;23:18-24.
- 11. Ilkova H, Damci T, Siva ZO, Ozyazar M, Yumuk V, Gorpe EU, et al. The relation of changes in prescribing patterns of anti-diabetic drugs and [HbA.sub.1c] levels among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: systematic analysis of studies from the the past 20 years in Turkey. Turk Jem 2011:77-105.
- 12. Driskell OJ, Holland D, Waldron JL, Ford C, Scargill JJ, Heald A, et al. Reduced testing frequency for glycated hemoglobin, HbA1c, is associated with deteriorating diabetes control. Diabetes Care 2014;37:2731-7.



Comparison of the Efficacy of Endoscopic and Microscopic Type 1 Tympanoplasty

😰 Semih Uşaklıoğlu, 🕲 Onur Üstün, 🕲 Gökhan Gürbüz, 🕲 Yağmur Barcan

University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Haseki Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Otorhinolaryngology, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: To compare the graft success rates and hearing gains of patients who underwent endoscopic and microscopic tympanoplasty.

Methods: A total of 90 patients, 45 patients who underwent endoscopic tympanoplasty and 45 patients who underwent microscopic tympanoplasty between 2014 and 2019, were included in the study. Patients' age, gender, operation side, perforation location, graft material type, graft placement type, preoperative, and postoperative audiological findings and graft success were compared in the two groups.

Results: There was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of age, gender, operation side, perforation location and the way the graft was placed (p>0.05). There was a difference between the two groups in terms of the graft material used. The mean hearing gain was found statistically significant in the audiological evaluations performed before and after the operation in both groups (p<0.001), but there was no difference between the groups (p=0.222). When the graft success rates were compared between the two groups, no statistically significant difference was found (p=0.748).

Conclusion: There is no difference between endoscopic tympanoplasty and microscopic tympanoplasty operations in terms of graft success rates and hearing gain. Both methods are effective and safe methods to use in chronic otitis media surgery.

Keywords: Endoscopic tympanoplasty, microscopic tympanoplasty, tympanoplasty, chronic otitis media

INTRODUCTION

Chronic otitis media (COM) is one of the most common otological problems with permanent changes in the tympanic membrane and/or middle ear structures. It is generally divided into two subgroups as with and without cholesteatoma. Tympanoplasty is the surgical reconstruction of the tympano-ossicular system, which includes canaloplasty, meatoplasty, myringoplasty, and ossiculoplasty (1). The tympanoplasty procedure has been performed microscopically for many years. However, with the development of endoscopic instruments, especially since the 90's, the endoscopic tympanoplasty procedure has been used with increasing acceleration and its popularity has increased recently (2,3). During microscopic surgery, the surgical field view is limited to the narrowest part of the external ear canal, while in endoscopic surgery, this narrow area is bypassed and a wide view of the surgical field is provided even with 0° endoscopes. In microscopic tympanoplasty, retroauricular or endaural incisions are usually made to expand the view of the surgical field and canaloplasty may be required when necessary. However, one of the most important advantages of endoscopic tympanoplasty is that it can be performed transcanally without the need for any incision or canaloplasty, deep and corner areas that are difficult to see with a microscope can be easily seen, and it is a less invasive procedure (3-5). The greatest advantage of microscopic tympanoplasty is that it allows the use of 2 hands together at the same time (6).



Address for Correspondence: Yağmur Barcan, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Haseki Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Otorhinolaryngology, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 212 453 20 00 E-mail: yagmurbarcan@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-3751-166X **Received:** 26.04.2021 **Accepted:** 14.10.2021

Cite this article as: Uşaklıoğlu S, Üstün O, Gürbüz G, Barcan Y. Comparison of the Efficacy of Endoscopic and Microscopic Type 1 Tympanoplasty. Eur Arch Med Res 2022;38(3):189-193

©Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital European Archives of Medical Research published by Galenos Publishing House. Although the rate of successful closure of the tympanic membrane perforation in microscopic tympanoplasty varies between 83%-100% in the literature, these rates are between 80%-100% in endoscopic tympanoplasty (7). In this study, we aimed to compare the results of endoscopic and microscopic type 1 tympanoplasty and examine the graft success rate and the changes in the hearing of the patients.

METHODS

Forty five patients [5 females, 20 males; endoscopic tympanoplasty (ET) group] who underwent endoscopic type 1 tympanoplasty and 45 patients [22 females, 23 males; microscopic tympanoplasty (MT) group] who underwent microscopic type 1 tympanoplasty in the ENT Clinic of Haseki Training and Research Hospital between January 2014 and December 2019, in 90 patients were analyzed retrospectively. Ethics committee approval of the study was obtained from the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Haseki Training and Research Hospital Local Ethics Committee (date: 14.05.2020, decision no: 2020-57). Patients with cholesteatoma and otosclerosis who underwent ossiculoplasty in the same session and revision operations were excluded from the study. Age, gender, side of the perforation, location of the perforation, average airbone conduction gap in the preoperative and postoperative 3rd month, mean hearing gain, the graft material used in the operation and the success rates of the graft in the postoperative follow-ups were evaluated. Hearing thresholds were calculated by taking the averages of 500 Hz, 1000 Hz and 2000 Hz in the audiogram. All patients underwent type 1 tympanoplasty under general anesthesia. A retroauricular or endaural approach was used in patients who underwent microscopic tympanoplasty. During endoscopic tympanoplasties standard endoscope assisted transcanal tympanoplasty was performed. Perforations were grouped according to their anatomical location as centralmarginal and anterior-posterior-inferior. The temporal fascia, perichondrium, tragal cartilage, or conchal cartilage were used as graft materials in all operations. The grafts were placed as underlay or over-underlay. Postoperative routine control of the patients was carried out in the 1st week, 3rd week, 3rd month and 6th month. Complete closure of the perforation in these controls was defined as graft success.

Statistical Analysis

SPSS 15.0 for Windows program was used for statistical analysis. Descriptive statistical methods were given the number and percentage for categorical variables; mean, standard deviation, minimum, maximum, and median for numerical variables. The rates in the groups were compared using the chi-squared test. Since the numerical variables did not provide normal distribution condition, the comparisons of the two groups were made using the Mann-Whitney U test. Dependent group analyzes were performed using the paired t-test when the differences in numerical variables provided the normal distribution condition and the Wilcoxon test when the normal distribution condition was not met. The statistical significance level was set as p<0.05.

RESULTS

A comparison of the demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients in the ET group and in the MT group is shown in Table 1. The mean age of the ET group was 31.4 ± 12.6 (range 18-63 years) while the mean age of the MT group was 32.5 ± 11.2 (range 18-60 years). There was no statistical difference between the two groups in terms of age (p=0.387). There were 20 males (44.4%), 25 females (55.6%) in the ET group; 23 males (51.1%), 22 females (48.9%) in the MT group and there was no significant difference in terms of gender (p=0.527). While 17 left ears (37.8%) and 28 right ears (62.2%) were operated in the ET group; 20 left ears (44.4%) and 25 right ears (55.6%) were operated in the MT group and there was no significant difference between the groups in terms of the operated side (p=0.520).

Perichondrium was used in 19 patients (42.2%), tragal cartilage in 17 patients (37.8%), the fascia in 7 patients (15.6%) and conchal cartilage in 2 patients (4.4%) who underwent endoscopic tympanoplasty. However, perichondrium was used in 3 patients (6.7%), tragal cartilage in 6 patients (13.3%), the fascia in 14 patients (31.1%) and conchal cartilage in 22 patients (48.9%) who underwent microscopic tympanoplasty. A statistically significant difference was found between the two groups in terms of the graft materials used (p<0.001).

In the ET group, the grafts of 20 patients (44.4%) were placed as underlay, while 25 patients' grafts (55.6%) were placed as overunderlay. In the MT group, the grafts of 14 patients (31.1%) were placed as underlay, while 31 patients' grafts (68.9%) were placed as over-underlay. There was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of graft placement position (p=0.192).

The perforations of the patients who underwent endoscopic tympanoplasty were posteriorly located in 19 patients (42.2%), anteriorly located in 15 patients (33.3%) and inferiorly located in 11 patients (24.4%). Simultaneously, 40 of the perforations (88.9%) were central perforation while 5 of them (11.1%) were marginal. The perforations of the patients who underwent microscopic tympanoplasty were posteriorly located in 24 patients (53.3%), anteriorly located in 7 patients (15.6%) and inferiorly located in

14 patients (31.1%). While 39 of the perforations (86.7%) were central perforation, 6 of them (13.3%) were marginal. There was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of the location of the perforations (p=0.146 and p=0.748).

In the controls performed in the postoperative 6th month, the graft success rate in the ET group was found 86.7% (39 of 45 patients). The graft success rate in the MT group was found 88.9% (40 of 45 patients). No statistically significant difference was found between the two groups in terms of graft success rate (p=0.748) (Table 2).

The average preoperative air-bone conduction gap was 20.4 ± 9.7 in the ET group. In the postoperative 3^{rd} month measurements,

it was found 13.2±10.7 (Table 2). The mean hearing gain in the ET group was statistically significant (p<0.001) (Table 3). While the average preoperative air-bone conduction gap was 20.6±8.8 in the MT group, it was found 10.4±9.9 in the measurements at the postoperative 3rd month (Table 2). The mean hearing gain in the MT group was found to be statistically significant (p<0.001) (Table 3). However, when the mean hearing gains were compared between the ET and MT groups, no statistically significant difference was found (p=0.222) (Table 2).

DISCUSSION

Tympanoplasty is a term used to describe the surgical procedure performed not only for reconstructing the tympanic membrane,

Table 1. Comparison of the preoperative clinical characteristics of patients						
		Endoscopic tympanoplasty	Microscopic tympanoplasty	p		
Conder n (0/)	Male	20 (44.4)	23 (51.1)	0.527		
Genuer n (%)	Female	25 (55.6)	22 (48.9)	0.52/		
Age mean ± SD (min-max)		31.4±12.6 (18-63)	32.5±11.2 (18-60)	0.387		
	Tragal	17 (37.8)	6 (13.3)			
Graft type n (%)	Conchal	2 (4.4)	22 (48.9)	<0.001*		
	Fascia	7 (15.6)	14 (31.1)			
	Perichondrium	19 (42.2)	3 (6.7)			
Operation side n (%)	Left	17 (37.8)	20 (44.4)	0.520		
	Right	28 (62.2)	25 (55.6)	0.520		
	Underlay	20 (44.4)	14 (31.1)			
Graft position n (%)	Overlay	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0.192		
	Over-underlay	25 (55.6)	31 (68.9)			
	Posterior	19 (42.2)	24 (53.3)			
Perforation location n (%)	Anterior	15 (33.3)	7 (15.6)	0.146		
	Inferior	11 (24.4)	14 (31.1)			
	Central	40 (88.9)	39 (86.7)	0.740		
Perioration type n (%)	Marginal	5 (11.1)	6 (13.3)	0.748		
*p<0.05, SD: Standard deviation, min	: Minimum, max: Maximum					

Table 2. Comparison of audiological results and graft success						
		Endoscopic tympanoplasty	Microscopic tympanoplasty	р		
Average preoperative a Mean ± SD (min-max/me	ir-bone conduction gap edian)	20.4±9.7 (3-43/20)	20.6±8.8 (5-40/20)	0.689		
Average postoperative a Mean ± SD (min-max/me	air-bone conduction gap edian)	13.2±10.7 (0-41/10)	10.4±9.9 (0-40/8)	0.095		
Mean hearing gain Mean ± SD (min-max/m	edian)	7.1±6.9 (-16-18/7)	9.9±11.7 (-19-36/10)	0.222		
Craft success p (0/)	Yes	39 (86.7)	40 (88.9)	0.740		
	No	6 (13.3)	5 (11.1)	0.748		
SD: Standard deviation, min: 1	Minimum, max: Maximum					

Table 3. Comparison of hearing gain							
	Average preoperative air-bone conduction gap	Average postoperative air-bone conduction gap	р				
Endoscopic tympanoplasty mean \pm SD	20.4±9.7	13.2±10.7	<0.001*				
Microscopic tympanoplasty mean ± SD	20.6±8.8	10.4±9.9	<0.001*				
*p<0.05, SD: Standard deviation, min: Minimum, max: Maximum							

but also to remove middle ear pathologies such as COM, cholesteatoma and ossicular chain problems.

With the invention of binocular microscopes, ear surgery has undergone a great change and the foundations of modern otology have been laid. Then, with the introduction of rigid endoscopes, modern otology has passed to another stage. In 1978, Eichner (8) introduced the use of a 2.7 mm diameter and high resolution rigid endoscope for autological examination. Since el-Guindy's (9) first publication in 1992, endoscopes are now widely used in tympanoplasty. While the most important advantages of microscopic ear surgery are that both hands can be used simultaneously, it provides stereoscopic vision and requires a shorter training period, the most important disadvantage is that it cannot provide sufficient vision of the hidden areas in the middle ear without performing canaloplasty, particularly in patients with narrow and curved external auditory canal (10-12). These hidden areas, which cannot be seen easily with a microscope, have been easily accessible without canaloplasty with rigid endoscopes. However, working with one hand, difficulty in using endoscopes at the beginning of the training and not providing stereoscopic guidance are important disadvantages of endoscopic ear surgery (12,13).

In studies in the literature, many publications have shown that endoscopic tympanoplasty takes less time than microscopic tympanoplasty (11,14). As the most important reason for this, it has been advocated that there is no need for suturing in endoscopic tympanoplasty at the end of the operation.

Choi et al. (15) compared the results of endoscopic and microscopic tympanoplasty in their study published in 2017 and found no difference between the two groups in terms of graft success rate. Likewise, Shakya et al. (16) compared the graft success rate in endoscopic and microscopic tympanoplasty, achieved a success rate of 91.42% in both groups and found no significant difference in graft success rate between the groups. In our study, the graft success rate was 86.7% in the endoscopic tympanoplasty group, while it was 88.9% in the microscopic tympanoplasty group and no significant difference was found between the two groups (p=0.748).

Güler and Özcan (17) found a mean hearing gain of 12.8 dB and 12.4 dB, respectively, in their study comparing endoscopic and microscopic techniques and found no significant difference in gain between the two groups. Gulsen and Baltacı (14) found a mean hearing gain of 19.4 dB in endoscopic tympanoplasty and 18.7 dB in microscopic tympanoplasty and they found no significant difference in terms of hearing gain between the two techniques. In both studies, postoperative hearing gain was found to be significant in both techniques. In our study, the mean hearing gain was found to be 7.1 dB in the endoscopic tympanoplasty group and 9.9 dB in the microscopic tympanoplasty group. While the hearing gain in both groups was statistically significant (p<0.001), no significant difference was found when the mean hearing gain was compared between the two groups (p=0.222).

The biggest disadvantage of endoscopic tympanoplasty is the difficulty of working with one hand. Working with one hand, especially in the case of bleeding, makes the operation difficult and can prolong the duration of the surgery. However, with sufficient practice and experience, these disadvantages can be manageable.

We think that it is important to start tympanoplasty training with microscopic tympanoplasty first and to switch to endoscopic tympanoplasty after gaining the necessary experience because endoscopic surgeries require more experience.

Study Limitations

The main limitation of the study is that there was a statistically significant difference between the microscopic and endoscopic tympanoplasty groups in terms of the graft materials used. Further studies with a larger sample of patients and using the same graft materials are needed to confirm the data presented in this work.

CONCLUSION

When the results of our study and other studies in the literature are evaluated, there is no difference between the two techniques in terms of graft success rate and average hearing gain in both endoscopic and microscopic tympanoplasty. Although studies in the literature have shown that endoscopic tympanoplasty shortens the operation time, it requires more experience due to the difficulty of working with one hand. After gaining the necessary experience, we believe that endoscopic tympanoplasty may be preferred more frequently by surgeons as it provides a better surgical field view, is less invasive and short operation time.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval of the study was obtained from the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Haseki Training and Research Hospital Local Ethics Committee (date: 14.05.2020, decision no: 2020-57).

Informed Consent: Informed consent was obtained from all the patients included in the study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: S.U., O.Ü., G.G., Y.B., Concept: S.U., O.Ü., Design: O.Ü., G.G., Y.B., Data Collection or Processing: G.G., Y.B., Analysis or Interpretation: O.Ü., G.G., Y.B., Literature Search: O.Ü., G.G., Y.B., Writing: S.U., O.Ü.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Patel J, Aiyer RG, Gajjar Y, Gupta R, Raval J, Suthar PP. Endoscopic tympanoplasty vs microscopic tympanoplasty in tubotympanic csom: a comparative study of 44 cases. Int J Res Med Sci 2015;3:1953-7.
- Thomassin JM, Korchia D, Doris JM. Endoscopic-guided otosurgery in the prevention of residual cholesteatomas. Laryngoscope 1993;103:939-43.
- 3. Tarabichi M. Endoscopic middle ear surgery. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1999;108:39-46.

- 4. Tarabichi M, Ayache S, Nogueira JF, Al Qahtani M, Pothier DD. Endoscopic management of chronic otitis media and tympanoplasty. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 2013;46:155-63.
- 5. Ayache S. Cartilaginous myringoplasty: the endoscopic transcanal procedure. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2013;270:853-60.
- Gülşen S, Arıcı M. Endoscopic transcanal versus conventional microscopic tympanoplasty in treatment of anterior tympanic membrane perforations. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2019;276:3327-33.
- 7. Tseng CC, Lai MT, Wu CC, Yuan SP, Ding YF. Comparison of the efficacy of endoscopic tympanoplasty and microscopic tympanoplasty: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Laryngoscope 2017;127:1890-6.
- 8. Eichner H. A "mother-and baby scope-optic" for middle ear endoscopy. Laryngol Rhinol Otol (Stuttg) 1978;57:872-6.
- 9. el-Guindy A. Endoscopic transcanal myringoplasty. J Laryngol Otol 1992;106:493-5.
- 10. Farahani F, Shariatpanahi E, Jahanshahi J, Poorolajal J. Diagnostic performance of endoscopic and microscopic procedures for identifying different middle ear structures and remaining disease in patients with chronic otitis media: a prospective cohort study. PLoS One 2015;10:e0132890.
- 11. Kuo CH, Wu HM. Comparison of endoscopic and microscopic tympanoplasty. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2017;27:2727-32.
- Lade H, Choudhary SR, Vashishth A. Endoscopic vs microscopic myringoplasty: a different perspective. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2014;271:1897-902.
- 13. Kaya I, Sezgin B, Sergin D, Ozturk A, Eraslan S, Gode S, et al. Endoscopic versus microscopic type 1 tympanoplasty in the same patients: a prospective randomized controlled trial. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2017;274:3343-9.
- 14. Gulsen S, Baltacı A. Comparison of endoscopic transcanal and microscopic approach in type 1 tympanoplasty. Braz J Otorhinolaryngol 2021;87:157-63.
- 15. Choi N, Noh Y, Park W, Lee JJ, Yook S, Choi JE, et al. Comparison of endoscopic tympanoplasty to microscopic tympanoplasty. Clin Exp Otorhinolaryngol 2017;10:44-9.
- 16. Shakya D, Kc A, Nepal A. A comparative study of endoscopic versus microscopic cartilage type i tympanoplasty. Int Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2020;24:e80-5.
- 17. Güler İ, Özcan M. A comparison of endoscopic and microscopic techniques for the repair of tympanic membrane perforations. ENT Updates 2019;9:166-71.



The Relationship Between the First Trimester Pregnancy Loss and Maternal Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Level. A Case-control Study

🕩 Buse Kurtdereli, 🕩 Orhan Şahin, 🕩 Veli Mihmanlı

University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: Following the discovery of 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] receptor expression in the reproductive system organs and placenta, many studies exploring the relationship between pregnancy complications and 25(OH)D is being performed. In this study, we examined serum 25(OH)D levels in early pregnancy loss.

Methods: Patients who were in 20-30 years old age range whose body mass index >25 and <30, between April 2019 and January 2020 were included in the study at the Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology of University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Tascioglu City Hospital in Istanbul/Turkey. Those who had miscarriage within the first 10 weeks (as a study group) and those who were diagnosed within the first 10 weeks and continued their pregnancies as live pregnancies after the 10th week (as a control group) were included in the study as two groups. Cases where the pregnancy was conceived through artificial reproductive technology, cases with a history of recurrent pregnancy losses, cases with chronic diseases and cases treated for imminent abortion were excluded. First prenatal visit 25(OH)D levels were retrospectively extracted from the hospital medical records.

Results: A statistically significant difference was observed between the 25(OH)D levels in women with an early pregnancy loss and 25(OH) D levels in women with an ongoing healthy pregnancy (p<0.01). The mean 25(OH)D level was found to be 8.61 ng/mL in the spontaneous pregnancy loss group; whereas, the mean level was found to be 16.61 ng/mL in the control group. As of this significance, a cut-off value for 25(OH)D levels was calculated using receiver operator characteristic curve analysis (sensitivity 94%, specificity 74%). Additionally, among other factors, older paternal age and vaginitis were also correlated with early pregnancy loss.

Conclusion: Our results show that 25(OH)D deficiency may play a role in early pregnancy loss. 25(OH)D may be a useful marker in predicting and preventing early pregnancy loss.

Keywords: Pregnancy loss, early, pregnancy trimester, first, 25(OH)D, miscarriage, spontaneous abortion

INTRODUCTION

Early pregnancy loss is the most common early pregnancy complication and is observed in approximately 30% of all pregnancies. This incidence decreases to 10% when evaluated as clinically recognized pregnancies (1). It is difficult to measure the full burden of miscarriage and is related to how early women realize their pregnancy. However, it is difficult to distinguish between abortion and stillbirth and the concept of early pregnancy is not fully clarified, and differences between studies make it difficult to give a clear incidence of miscarriage. Early pregnancy loss (miscarriage) is defined as a non-viable empty intrauterine gestational sac or a gestational sac containing an embryo or fetus without fetal heart activity within the first 10 0/7 weeks of gestation (2). In recent studies, modifiable factors like advanced maternal age, prepregnancy body mass index (BMI) and alcohol consumption have been emphasized (3-5). Although the cause of most miscarriages is unknown, it is likely due to

This study was derived and produced from Dr. Buse Kurtdereli thesis raw data in the field of gynecology and obstetrics in 2019.



Address for Correspondence: Orhan Şahin, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul,Turkey Phone: +90 532 240 00 12 E-mail: drorhansahin@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-7216-3816 Received: 08.08.2021 Accepted: 07.11.2021

Cite this article as: Kurtdereli B, Şahin O, Mihmanlı V. The Relationship Between the First Trimester Pregnancy Loss and Maternal Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Level. A Case-control Study. Eur Arch Med Res 2022;38(3):194-200

©Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital European Archives of Medical Research published by Galenos Publishing House. the complex interplay between parental age, genetic, hormonal, immunological and environmental factors (6).

The fetus is characterized as a semi-allograft which is incapable of survival if there is no maternal immune tolerance. 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] is a fat-soluble steroid prohormone mainly synthesized in the lower layers of the skin epidermis through a chemical reaction that depends on ultraviolet B radiation by sun exposure, and it can also be ingested from the diet and from supplements (7). Although the main function of 25(OH)D is on calcium metabolism and bone mineralization, recent studies have noted the expression of 25(OH)D receptors in peripheral and central organs that regulate the female reproductive system such as the uterus, ovary, placenta, pituitary gland and hypothalamus (8). Correlations between low levels of 25(OH)D and adverse outcomes of pregnancy such as preeclampsia, gestational diabetes mellitus, fetal growth restriction and preterm labor have been shown (9-11). This study aimed to compare the 25(OH)D levels in women having a first trimester pregnancy loss with the 25(OH)D in women ongoing a healthy first trimester pregnancy.

METHODS

Forty women with early pregnancy loss and 62 women with a healthy ongoing first trimester pregnancy seen between April 2019 and January 2020 at the Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology of University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Tascioglu City Hospital (formerly known as Okmeydani Education and Research Hospital) in Istanbul/Turkey were included in this retrospective case-control study. Women aged 20-30 years and having a single pregnancy less than 10 weeks of gestation according to transvaginal ultrasound (TVUSG) or the last menstrual period and admitted to the hospital for antenatal care were included in the study population.

Women without any chronic disease like diabetes, hypertension, hypo or hyperthyroidism, a history of 2 or more previous miscarriages, consanguineous marriage, multiple pregnancies, ectopic pregnancies, pregnancies conceived through artificial reproductive technology, patients with a BMI less than 25 or greater than 30, Rh incompatibility, any confirmed chromosomal abnormality in either one of the couples, vitamin D supplement use and patients using any medications other than only folic acid were excluded from the study.

Comprehensive gynecology and obstetric history was conducted. Patient ID number, hospital registry number, age, height, weight, education level, gravidity, parity, smoking, and alcohol intake history, any vaginal bleeding or vaginitis episodes during the current pregnancy, a history of pelvic surgery, sexual intercourse history in the current pregnancy, paternal age, blood group and Rh status and consanguine marriage if present, were recorded.

Miscarriage was defined as confirmation of a pregnancy with a crown-rump length (CRL) of 7 mm or greater without cardiac activityor an empty gestational sac measuring 25 mm or greater in mean gestational sac diameter according to the guidelines of the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (12). When these ultrasonographic criteria were not met but when there were findings suspicious for pregnancy failure, additional criteria from the Society of Radiologists in Ultrasound Multispecialty Panel on Early First Trimester Diagnosis of Miscarriage and Exclusion of a Viable Intrauterine Pregnancy (13) were considered:

- Absence of embryo with heartbeat 2 weeks or more after a scan that showed a gestational sac without a yolk sac.

- Absence of embryo with heartbeat 11 days or more after a scan that showed a gestational sac with a yolk sac.

Gestational age was calculated from the date of the last menstrual period and verified by ultrasound findings. If the patient could not recall or was not sure of the first day of her last menstrual period, or had irregular cycles, CRL was used to determine the gestational age. Speculum was examined in patients with vaginal bleeding to check the cervical status and identify the bleeding. Ultrasonographic evaluation of the pregnancy allowed us to document intrauterine pregnancy, measure CRL, evaluate gestational sac, yolk sac, fetal cardiac activity, and visualize any subchorionic hematoma. The control group consisted of patients with a live pregnancy whose gestational week was less than 10 weeks according to the last menstrual period and confirmed by TVUSG.

The medical records and laboratory results of the pregnant women who met the inclusion criteria were checked and extracted from the hospital database. Pregnant women who had routine first prenatal care visit laboratory workup results (complete blood count, biochemistry, 25(OH)D, vitamin B12, folate, blood group, and Rh type) were included in the study.

The study was approved by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Okmeydani Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee in April 2019 (no: 4867071-514.10, approval number: 1216). All participants provided informed written consent if they agreed to participate after oral description of the study.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistical methods (mean, standard deviation, median, frequency, ratio) as well as the Shapiro-Wilk test for

normally distributed data and box plot graphs for visualization were used. Mann-Whitney U test was used for comparing of nonnormally distributed data between groups. Student's t-test was used for comparison of normally distributed data, Chi-square test, Fisher's Exact test and Fisher-Freeman-Halton test were used for comparing categorical data. Cut-off value for 25(OH)D levels was determined by receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curve analysis as for determination of the most appropriate cutoff value in a diagnostic test. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

A total of 102 patients, 62 in the control group and 40 in the study group, were included in the study. No significant difference was observed between the mean ages of the control group and the study groups (26.21 ± 3.01 vs. 26.33 ± 3.2 , respectively; p=0.750). When the ages of the husbands were analyzed, it

was realized that the mean husband age of the group with early pregnancy loss was significantly higher than the mean husband age of the control group (32.3 ± 5.71 and 30.18 ± 4.59 , respectively; p=0.041). BMI, gravidity, parity in the two groups did not have a statistically significant differences (p=0.278, p=0.099, p=0.517; respectively) (Table 1). Vaginitis was significantly higher among women with early pregnancy loss (p=0.003). Sexual intercourse during pregnancy, folic acid usage, Rh incompatibility and consanguineous marriage status did not show statistically significant differences between the two groups (p>0.05) (Table 1).

A statistically significant difference was observed between vitamin D levels of the two groups; 25(OH)D levels of the early pregnancy loss group were significantly lower than those of the control group [miscarriage mean 8.61 mcg/L (21.4 nmol/L) vs. non-miscarriage mean 16.61 mcg/L (41.43 nmol/L); p=0.001, Studen's t-test]. Folate, PTH and vitamin B12 levels were not significantly different between the two groups (p>0.05) (Table

	Total (n=102)		Abort group (n=40)	Alive group (n=62)	p value	
Age*	26.21±3.01		26.33±3.2	26.13±2.91	0.750ª	
BMI*	22.86±1.99		23.13±2.00	22.68±1.99	0.278ª	
Gravida*	2.55±1.26		2.83±1.38	2.37±1.16	0.099 ^b	
Parity*	1.13±1.35		1.86±1.02	1.78±1.43	0.087 ^b	
	Illiterate	7 (6.9)	4 (10)	3 (4.8)	0.517 ^c	
	Primary school	34 (33.3)	16 (40)	18 (29)		
Educational status n (%)	Middle school	27 (26.5)	8 (20)	19 (30.6)	-	
	High school	19 (18.6)	6 (15)	13 (21)		
	Graduate	15 (14.7)	6 (15)	9 (14.5)		
Partner age*	31.01±5.14		32.3±5.71	30.18±4.59	0.041 ^a	
Alchol status; n (%)	No		40 (100)	62 (100)	-	
Smalling status n (0/)	No		30 (75.0)	54 (87.1)	0.118	
Smoking status, n (%)	Yes		10 (25.0)	8 (12.9)	0.118	
Vaginitis; n (%)	No		30 (75.0)	59 (95.2)	0.003 °	
	Yes		10 (25.0)	3 (4.8)		
Sexual intercourse during pregnancy	No		7 (17.5)	11 (17.7)	0.0750	
n (%)	Yes		33 (82.5)	51 (82.3)	0.975	
-olicopid usaga n (0()	No		21 (52.5)	39 (62.9)	0.2070	
Fond acid usage if (%)	Yes		19 (47.5)	23 (37.1)	0.297	
	No		40 (100)	60 (96.8)	0 510d	
kn incompatibility n (%)	Yes		0 (0)	2 (3.2)	0.519	
Consanguineous marriage status n	No		40 (100)	61 (98.4)	1 000d	
(%)	Yes		0 (0)	1 (1.6)	- 1.000 ^d	

2). However, phosphorous levels showed significant differences between the groups, where levels in the early pregnancy loss group were significantly higher than the levels in the control group (miscarriage median 4.18 mg/dL vs. non-miscarriage median 3.46 mg/dL; p=0.043, Mann-Whitney rank-sum test). A cut-off value of 12.5 mcg/L for 25(OH)D levels in women with early pregnancy loss and 25(OH)D levels in women with a healthy pregnancy was determined. For this 12.5 mcg/L cut-off value, sensitivity and specificity were 95% and 74.19%, respectively, with a positive predictive value of 70.37% and a negative predictive value of 95.83%. The area under the curve was calculated as 90.1% in the ROC curve used to determine the cut-off value (Tables 3, 4, Figure 1). The difference observed between the two groups at this cut-off value of 12.5 g/L for vitamin D levels was statistically significant (p=0.001) (Figure 1).

DISCUSSION

In this study, we attempted to reveal any relationship between early pregnancy loss and low levels of 25(OH)D, which is a predictable, preventable and treatable condition. Our study results demonstrate a significant difference between the 25(OH) D levels of women with an early pregnancy loss and the 25(OH)D levels of women without an early pregnancy loss.

Andersen et al. (12) found an association with low maternal serum 25(OH)D levels and the first trimester pregnancy loss in their cohort study on 1,683 patients. The authors attribute the



Figure 1. ROC curve for 25(OH)D2 ROC: Receiver operator characteristic, 25(OH)D: 25-hydroxyvitamin D

beneficiary effects of 25(OH)D to its regulation of the innate and adaptive immune system. In a small Danish controlled cohort study (13). Three women who had miscarriage during the second trimester of pregnancy had a lower 25(OH)D than 84 controls who completed their pregnancy.

Conversely, in a randomized controlled trial of pregnant women taking different doses of vitamin D supplements (400, 2000, or 4000 IU of vitamin D 3 per day until delivery), 25(OH)D levels at the 12th week of pregnancy. There was no significant difference in I25(OH)D concentrations [circulating 25(OH)D level mean ± standard deviation; 61.2±27.1, 57.5±22.4, 59.8±25.4, respectively) at 12 weeks gestation when women who experienced pregnancy loss were compared with women who gave birth to a live baby (14). In a cohort study from Australia, when vitamin D levels at 10-14 weeks of pregnancy were compared among 3,714 women with healthy pregnancies and 39 women with pregnancy losses no significant difference was observed with mean 25(OH) D concentrations of 56.9 nmol/L [95% confidence interval (CI): 43.9, 70.8] vs. 53.5 nmol/L (95% CI: 42.4, 61.7) (15). In our study, we found that 25(OH)D was related to miscarriage in the first trimester. It is possible that 25(OH)D plays a protective role against miscarriage.

Discussions on vitamin D deficiency as a global public health problem continue to be relevant due to low levels of serum 25(OH)D in a vast number of studies conducted worldwide. Prevailing low 25(OH)D levels, especially in pregnant women and neonates is keeping drawing attention (16).

Nevertheless, Dietary Reference Intake (DRI) recommendations for daily intake of vitamin D by the US Institute of Medicine (IOM) and Health Canada is 600 IU/day; these DRIs being based on maintaining bone health, do not provide recommendations on health issues besides maintaining skeletal health (17). Although a 2016 update of a Cochrane Systematic Review and some other current reviews propose that vitamin D supplement

Table 2. Evaluations of blood biochemical measurements						
	Abort group (n=40)* Alive group (n=62)*		p value			
25(OH)D (µg/L)	8.61±2.42	16.61±6.12	0.001ª			
Hemoglobin (g/L)	12.71±1.04	12.07±1.38	0.014ª			
Folate (mcg/L)	16.69±5.33	14.55±5.11	0.077 ^b			
PTH (pcg/mL)	36.17±17.29	36.62±17.03	0.997 ^b			
P (mg/dL)	4.18±2.37	3.46±0.54	0.043 ^b			
B12 (ng/L)	178.33±60.53	198.98±66.76	0.257 ^b			
^a Student's t-test, ^b Mann-Whitney U test, [*] Data are given as mean ± standard deviation. PTH: Parathormone, P: Phosphorus, B12: Vitamin B12, 25(OH)D: 25-hydroxyvitamin D						

Table 3. Diagnostic screening tests and ROC curve results for vitamin D measurement							
Diagnostic scan ROC curve							
Cutt-off	Sensitivity	Specifity	PPV	NPV	AUC	95% CI	p value
≤12.5 95.00 74.19 70.37 95.83 0.901 0.838- 0.963 0.001							
PPV: Positive predictive value, NPV: Negative predictive value, CI: Confidence interval, AUC: Area under curve, ROC: Receiver operator characteristic							

Table 4. Relation measurement	ship be	tween	groups	and	25(OH)D2		
	25(OH)D2	2 (cut-off	value 1	2.5)	n value*		
	>12.5 ≤12.5			p value"			
	n	%	n	%			
Alive group	46	95.8	16	29.6	0.001		
Abort group	2	4.2	38	70.4			
*Pearson's chi-squared test, 25(OH)D: 25-hydroxyvitamin D							

during pregnancy may lower the incidence of pre-eclampsia and fetal growth restriction, no high-quality evidence for significant effects on other maternal and fetal outcomes could be found (18-20).

Ergocalciferol (vitamin D2) absorbed through diet and cholecalciferol (vitamin D3), mainly synthesized in the skin by UV rays, are converted to 25(OH)D in the liver, 25(OH) D is later transformed into the most active form 1,25-OH 2D, primarily in the kidneys. 25(OH)D is the major circulating form of vitamin D, but its activity is less than 1% of 1,25-OH 2D, the most active form of vitamin D. Serum concentration of 25(OH)D is currently the main indicator of vitamin D status. It reflects vitamin D produced endogenously through sun exposure and that obtained from foods and supplements (21).

ACOG (22) has emphasized that measuring serum 25(OH)D levels would be an acceptable indicator of the vitamin D status of pregnant women. However, there is no consensus on what a healthy serum level should be. Generally, for optimal skeletal health, a minimum serum level is considered as 20 ng/mL (50 nmol/L) (23). However, some researchers have stressed in a serum level of at least 32 ng/mL (80 nmol/L) (24). In 2010, the Food and Nutrition Board of the National Academies' IOM stated that a daily intake of 600 IU of vitamin D would be sufficient during pregnancy and lactation (25).

Over the past decades, there has been growing research on the potential links between 25(OH)D and major human diseases and clinical conditions. Dark skin pigmentation, insufficient sun exposure, inadequate dietary intake are major reasons for 25(OH)D deficiency (26). 25(OH)D metabolism during pregnancy is still less clear than in the non-pregnant state and is under ongoing research.

The immunomodulator effect of vitamin D on the endometrium that secures implantation, may imply that in 25(OH)D deficiency or insufficiency, dysfunction through the implantation process may be responsible for early pregnancy losses and late placental dysfunctions (27). Additionally, fetal rejection that may occur during this period because the conceptus may be considered a semi-allograft, will not occur due to the effects of 25(OH)D on the immune system. Consequently, the immunomodulator and the anti-inflammatory properties of 25(OH)D play an important role in preventing early pregnancy losses (28).

In a study of 133 women with 3 or more consecutive pregnancy losses, those with 25(OH)D levels less than 30 ng/mL (75 nmol/L) had a significantly higher prevalence of auto- and cellular immune abnormalities (29). Similarly, various *in vitro* studies have illustrated that in the endometrial cells of women with spontaneous recurrent abortions, 1,25(OH)2D3 plays an essential role in cytokine regulation (30).

Vitamin D receptor is expressed in many cell types and controls antigen-receptor signalization and T-cell activation (31). It has also been demonstrated that the active form of 25(OH)D inhibits the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-6, and interferon-gamma in the placenta (32).

1,25(OH)2D3, the active form of 5(OH)D, has potent antiinflammatory effects at the maternal-fetal interface, by decreasing the T helper cell type 1 (Th1)/Th2 ratio, suppressing Th17 cell activity, and increasing T regulatory cell production (33). Animal studies have shown that treatment with vitamin D regulates endometrial decidualization (34). *In vitro* studies on trophoblasts cultured from human placenta revealed that 1,25(OH)2D3 stimulated estradiol and progesterone secretion in trophoblasts (35). It has also been demonstrated that 1,25(OH)2D3 is involved in HOXA10 expression, a key target gene in the implantation process (36).

Some study findings suggest that women with sufficient levels of 25(OH)D are more likely to achieve clinical pregnancy following in vitro fertilisation (8). Bacterial vaginosis, which has been shown to be associated with adverse pregnancy outcomes, mostly with preterm birth, has also been shown to be associated with low vitamin D levels (37). Many studies have demonstrated

that vitamin D deficiency may play a role in recurrent pregnancy losses. Still, it may seem compulsive to presume an active role for vitamin D at the maternal-fetal immunologic interface leading to pregnancy loss.

We found that vitamin D levels were low both in the study group and in the control group of our study. We assume that these low levels are due to the low economic profile of our patient group, leading to nutritional deficiencies and most of the patient population choosing to dress according to religious restrictions leading to limited sun exposure.

Study Limitations

The limitations of our study are the retrospective design of the study, the small number of participants, the likely confounding factors resulting from the low socioeconomic profile of the participants, and the serum vitamin D measurements not being cleared of seasonal variations.

CONCLUSION

As a result, we found that women with the first trimester pregnancy losses had much lower serum 25(OH)D levels of <12.5 ng/mL. These findings suggest that vitamin D plays a protective role in preventing pregnancy losses. Randomized controlled trials are needed to test the protective effect of vitamin D supplements for low levels of 25(OH)D during early pregnancy or even in the preconception period.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Okmeydani Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee in April 2019 (no: 4867071-514.10, approval number: 1216).

Informed Consent: All participants provided informed written consent if they agreed to participate after oral description of the study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: B.K., O.Ş., V.M., Concept: B.K., O.Ş., V.M., Design: B.K., O.Ş., V.M., Data Collection or Processing: B.K., O.Ş., V.M., Analysis or Interpretation: B.K., O.Ş., V.M., Literature Search: B.K., O.Ş., V.M., Writing: B.K., O.Ş., V.M.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Magnus MC, Wilcox AJ, Morken NH, Weinberg CR, Håberg SE. Role of maternal age and pregnancy history in risk of miscarriage: prospective register based study. BMJ 2019;364:1869.
- Kolte AM, Bernardi LA, Christiansen OB, Quenby S, Farquharson RG, Goddijn M, et al. Terminology for pregnancy loss prior to viability: a consensus statement from the ESHRE early pregnancy special interest group. Hum Reprod 2015;30:495-8.
- 3. Feodor Nilsson S, Andersen PK, Strandberg-Larsen K, Nybo Andersen AM. Risk factors for miscarriage from a prevention perspective: a nationwide follow-up study. BJOG 2014;121:1375-84.
- Nybo Andersen AM, Wohlfahrt J, Christens P, Olsen J, Melbye M. Maternal age and fetal loss: population based register linkage study. BMJ 2000;320:1708-12.
- 5. Slama R, Bouyer J, Windham G, Fenster L, Werwatz A, Swan SH. Influence of paternal age on the risk of spontaneous abortion. Am J Epidemiol 2005;161:816-23.
- 6. Larsen EC, Christiansen OB, Kolte AM, Macklon N. New insights into mechanisms behind miscarriage. BMC Med 2013;11:154.
- Adams JS, Hewison M. Unexpected actions of vitamin D: new perspectives on the regulation of innate and adaptive immunity. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab 2008;4:80-90.
- 8. Lerchbaum E, Obermayer-Pietsch B. Vitamin D and fertility: a systematic review. Eur J Endocrinol 2012;166:765-78.
- Bodnar LM, Catov JM, Zmuda JM, Cooper ME, Parrott MS, Roberts JM, et al. Maternal serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations are associated with small-for-gestational age births in white women. J Nutr 2010;140:999-1006.
- 10. Brooke OG, Brown IR, Bone CD, Carter ND, Cleeve HJ, Maxwell JD, et al. Vitamin D supplements in pregnant Asian women: effects on calcium status and fetal growth. Br Med J 1980;280:751-4.
- 11. Javaid MK, Crozier SR, Harvey NC, Gale CR, Dennison EM, Boucher BJ, et al. Maternal vitamin D status during pregnancy and childhood bone mass at age 9 years: a longitudinal study. Lancet 2006;367:36-43. Erratum in: Lancet 2006;367:1486.
- Andersen LB, Jørgensen JS, Jensen TK, Dalgård C, Barington T, Nielsen J, et al. Vitamin D insufficiency is associated with increased risk of first-trimester miscarriage in the Odense Child Cohort. Am J Clin Nutr 2015;102:633-8.
- 13. Møller UK, Streym S, Heickendorff L, Mosekilde L, Rejnmark L. Effects of 250HD concentrations on chances of pregnancy and pregnancy outcomes: a cohort study in healthy Danish women. Eur J Clin Nutr 2012;66:862-8.
- 14. Hollis BW, Johnson D, Hulsey TC, Ebeling M, Wagner CL. Vitamin D supplementation during pregnancy: double-blind, randomized clinical trial of safety and effectiveness. J Bone Miner Res 2011;26:2341-57. Erratum in: J Bone Miner Res 2011;26:3001.
- Schneuer FJ, Roberts CL, Guilbert C, Simpson JM, Algert CS, Khambalia AZ, et al. Effects of maternal serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations in the first trimester on subsequent pregnancy outcomes in an Australian population. Am J Clin Nutr 2014;99:287-95.
- Palacios C, Gonzalez L. Is vitamin D deficiency a major global public health problem? J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2014;144 Pt A:138-45.
- De-Regil LM, Palacios C, Lombardo LK, Peña-Rosas JP. Vitamin D supplementation for women during pregnancy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016:CD008873.

- Pérez-López FR, Pasupuleti V, Mezones-Holguin E, Benites-Zapata VA, Thota P, Deshpande A, et al. Effect of vitamin D supplementation during pregnancy on maternal and neonatal outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Fertil Steril 2015;103:1278-88.e4.
- Thorne-Lyman A, Fawzi WW. Vitamin D during pregnancy and maternal, neonatal and infant health outcomes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 2012;26(Suppl 1):75-90.
- 21. DeLuca HF. Overview of general physiologic features and functions of vitamin D. Am J Clin Nutr 2004;80(Suppl 6):1689S-96S.
- 22. ACOG Committee Opinion No. 495: Vitamin D: screening and supplementation during pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol 2011;118:197-8.
- 23. National Institutes of Health, Office of Dietary Supplements. Vitamin D. Available from: http://ods.od.nih.gov/factsheets/ list-all/VitaminD. Retrieved December 16, 2010.
- 24. Hollis BW, Wagner CL. Normal serum vitamin D levels. N Engl J Med 2005;352:515-6; author reply 515-6.
- 25. Institute of Medicine of the National Academies (US). Dietary reference intakes for calcium and vitamin D. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2010.
- 26. Autier P, Boniol M, Pizot C, Mullie P. Vitamin D status and ill health: a systematic review. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2014;2:76-89.
- 27. Ghanavatinejad A, Rashidi N, Mirahmadian M, Rezania S, Mosalaei M, Ghasemi J, et al. Vitamin D3 controls TLR4- and TLR2-mediated inflammatory responses of endometrial cells. Gynecol Obstet Invest 2021;86:139-48.
- 28. Woon FC, Chin YS, Ismail IH, Abdul Latiff AH, Batterham M, Chan YM, et al. Maternal vitamin D levels during late pregnancy and risk of allergic diseases and sensitization during the first year of life-a birth cohort study. Nutrients 2020;12:2418.

- 29. Ota K, Dambaeva S, Han AR, Beaman K, Gilman-Sachs A, Kwak-Kim J. Vitamin D deficiency may be a risk factor for recurrent pregnancy losses by increasing cellular immunity and autoimmunity. Hum Reprod 2014;29:208-19.
- Tavakoli M, Jeddi-Tehrani M, Salek-Moghaddam A, Rajaei S, Mohammadzadeh A, Sheikhhasani S, Kazemi-Sefat GE, et al. Effects of 1,25(OH)2 vitamin D3 on cytokine production by endometrial cells of women with recurrent spontaneous abortion. Fertil Steril 2011;96:751-7.
- von Essen MR, Kongsbak M, Schjerling P, Olgaard K, Odum N, Geisler C. Vitamin D controls T cell antigen receptor signaling and activation of human T cells. Nat Immunol 2010;11:344-9.
- 32. Díaz L, Noyola-Martínez N, Barrera D, Hernández G, Avila E, Halhali A, et al. Calcitriol inhibits TNF-alpha-induced inflammatory cytokines in human trophoblasts. J Reprod Immunol 2009;81:17-24.
- Joshi S, Pantalena LC, Liu XK, Gaffen SL, Liu H, Rohowsky-Kochan C, et al. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) ameliorates Th17 autoimmunity via transcriptional modulation of interleukin-17A. Mol Cell Biol 2011;31:3653-69.
- Halhali A, Acker GM, Garabédian M. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 induces in vivo the decidualization of rat endometrial cells. J Reprod Fertil 1991;91:59-64.
- 35. Barrera D, Avila E, Hernández G, Halhali A, Biruete B, Larrea F, et al. Estradiol and progesterone synthesis in human placenta is stimulated by calcitriol. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2007;103:529-32.
- Du H, Daftary GS, Lalwani SI, Taylor HS. Direct regulation of HOXA10 by 1,25-(OH)2D3 in human myelomonocytic cells and human endometrial stromal cells. Mol Endocrinol 2005;19:2222-33.
- Bodnar LM, Krohn MA, Simhan HN. Maternal vitamin D deficiency is associated with bacterial vaginosis in the first trimester of pregnancy. J Nutr 2009;139:1157-61.



Effects of a COVID-19 Pandemic on Breast Cancer Management

Semra Günay¹, Ali Murat Pussane², Binnur Dönmez Yılmaz³, Pinar Özay Nayır⁴, Muhammed Mustafa Atçı⁵, Arzu Akan¹

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Breast and Endocrine Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of General Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey ³University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Radiation Oncology, İstanbul, Turkey ⁴University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Pathology, İstanbul, Turkey ⁵University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Medical Oncology, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: The coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) pandemic caused some difficulties in the management of breast cancer, so we examined the effect of this challenging condition on the diagnosis and treatment of breast cancer.

Methods: In this study, the 26 month period from March 2019 to April 2021 was divided into two periods according to the start date of the pandemic. The previous 13 months were defined as A, the next 13 months as B, and the first 3 months of both periods were defined as A* and B*. All patients diagnosed with breast cancer were evaluated retrospectively based on hospital records, in terms of some characteristics like histopathological, and molecular subtypes of the tumor, primary systemic treatment (PST) frequency and its model, axillary staging method before PST, and surgical method. The results were evaluated with the chi-square test, and p>0.05 was statistically significant.

Results: All patients were female, 356 cases were in the A period, 30.3% of them had PST as neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NAC) and 37% (n=40) had sentinel lymph node biopsy before PST. There were 281 patients in period B, 116 cases received PST (41.2%); NAC and neoadjuvant endocrine therapy (NET) were staged radiologically and cytologically if necessary. When the findings of periods A and B (and A*-B*) were compared, the difference in PST in B compared to period A was statistically significant (p=0.005), insignificant for NAC (p=0.849), and highly significant for axillary approach and NET (p=0.000). In period B, more breast-conserving surgery (BCS) was applied, which may have been due to more initiation of PST. Overall, results in A* and B* were broadly similar to periods A and B.

Conclusion: During the COVID-19 pandemic, some adjustments were made in breast cancer management plans. PST was applied more often, NET became an option to start treatment, the axillary staging was performed based on a non-invasive method and surgically, BCS was performed more frequently.

Keywords: COVID-19 outbreak, breast cancer, primary systemic therapy, neoadjuvant chemotherapy, sentinel lymph node biopsy

INTRODUCTION

The severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus-2 outbreak has created some unexpected challenges in healthcare around the world. There are still disruptions in health services in all countries that still prevail and can be fatal, especially in conditions that affect the immune system, such as cancer. The risk of morbidity and mortality with the transmission of coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) infection is 4.5 times higher than that in the general population (1).

However, early diagnosis and treatment are particularly important for cancer patients and should not be delayed or compromised. For this reason, some changes have been made to the standard care for breast cancer patients to refrain from the risk of infection, and relevant guidelines have been prepared (1-3).



Address for Correspondence: Semra Günay, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Breast and Endocrine Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey Received: 22.07.2021 Accepted: 18.11.2021

Phone: +90 532 683 79 79 E-mail: gunaysemra@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-6845-658X

Cite this article as: Günay S, Pussane AM, Dönmez Yılmaz B, Özay Nayır P, Atçı MM, Akan A. Effects of a COVID-19 Pandemic on Breast Cancer Management. Eur Arch Med Res 2022;38(3):201-206

©Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital European Archives of Medical Research published by Galenos Publishing House. More than 600 newly diagnosed breast cancer patients apply to the oncology clinic of our hospital every year, more than half of them are treated by the breast surgery department of the surgery clinic, and their treatment is planned by discussing the case in the breast tumor council after preliminary diagnostic procedures are achieved. But when the epidemic started, our hospital was been organized as a COVID-19 center, when the first case was identified in our country namely in March 2020. Accordingly, health services and work plans have changed, elective surgeries have been cut for a short while, and there are still some restrictions. During this period, some changes were made in the treatment planning and application in patients with breast cancer.

In this study, we reviewed the effect of the pandemic on the diagnosis and treatment of breast cancer in our center in terms of the number of patients, the way of starting the treatment, the choice of neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NAC) or neoadjuvant endocrine therapy (NET) for primary systemic treatment (PST), the approach to the axilla, and the surgical technique, by comparing these parameters with those of the previous similar time.

METHODS

According to "March 2020" the Start date of the Pandemic, the 26-month between March 2019 and April 2021 were divided into two periods. The 13-month period before March 2020 was defined as periods 'A' and the 13 months after that as period 'B.'

We also aimed to examine whether the effects of uncertainties and restrictions in the B period, especially in the first months of the pandemic, were different in the first 3 months compared to the whole process. As result, the first 3 months of periods A and B were handled separately as A* and B*.

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Tascioglu City Hospital, with the decision dated 07.01.2021-271.

Statistical Analysis

All patients diagnosed with breast cancer were analyzed retrospectively using breast cancer board records. The number of patients, whether the patients were metastatic at the time of diagnosis, the histopathological structure, and molecular sub-type of the tumor, the selected model as PST and its frequency of use, sentinel lymph node biopsy (SLNB) for axillary staging before PST, and the surgical method were examined. The results were analyzed with the chi-square test, and a p-value of <0.05 was statistically significant.

RESULTS

Our study population consisted of female patients with a mean age of 61 years (22-91) in period A, and 59.5 years (30-88) in period B. When analyzed according to the histopathological structure of the tumor, an equal number of patients with ductal carcinoma *in situ* was in A and B periods the same (n=27), but rates of them were 7.5%-9.6% respectively. In periods A, and B respective number of patients received the diagnosed with lobular carcinoma [n=16 (4.5%) vs. n=24 (8.5%)], and invasive ductal carcinoma [n=313 (88%) vs. n=230 (81.9%)] (Table 1).

We also defined breast cancer patients according to their molecular subtypes. In periods A, and B, respective numbers of patients had luminal A [n=210 (63.8%) vs. n=147 (57.9%)], luminal B [n=20 (7.9%) vs. n=20 (7.9%), HER-2 (+) [n=61 (18.6%) vs. n=55 (21.6%)], triple-negative breast cancer [n=38 (11.6%) vs. n=32 (12.6%)]. The results of the two periods were found to be similar in terms of histopathological structure.

In period A, 15, and in period B, 12 patients had metastatic breast cancer at their first admission with a similar metastatic breast cancer detection rate (4.2%) (Table 2).

In period A, 356 patients had newly diagnosed breast cancer, and 30.3% (n=108) had received all PST all in the form of PST. Before PST, 40 (37%) cases had undergone SLNB.

In period B, the total number of patients decreased by 22% to 281, and 116 (41.3%) patients were started on PST. In the PST group 10 (3.5%) patients received NET, and 106 (37.8%) PCT. SLNB was not applied to any patient in period B before PST. In

Table 1. Histopathologic characteristics of tumors and patients'					
Characteristics of tumor and patients A B					
Age (median)	61	59.5			
DCIS	27	27			
Lobular	16	24			
Ductal	313	230			
Total	356	281			
DCIS: Ductal carcinoma in situ					

Table 2. Specific characteristics of the tumors						
Molecular subtype of tumor A B						
Luminal A	210	147				
Luminal B	20	20				
HER-2 (+)	61	55				
Triple-negative	38	32				
Total	356	281				
M+	15	12				

the comparison of these periods, the rates of receiving PST and NAC was found to be borderline significant (p=0.005), while the intergroup difference was found to be highly significant (p=0.000) in terms of receiving NET and SLNB for axillary staging before PST (Table 3).

The total number of patients in A* was 75, and in B* 79. In periods A* and B *, the same number of patients (n=20) were started on NAC, in period B a slightly higher number of patients (53% vs. 38.3%) received NAC, but without any statistically significant intergroup difference (p=0.0849). In A*, 12 patients underwent SLNB before PST, while SLNB was not performed in B* with a highly significant intergroup difference (p=0.000), (Table 4).

Our patients were also analyzed according to the surgical procedures; mastectomy (Mx) or breast-conserving surgery (BCS) they had undergone in periods A and B. In period A 232 (71%) of the 334 cases were treated with BCS, while Mx was applied to 102 patients for treatment (n=96; 27%) or prophylaxis (n=6; 1.8%) In period B, a total of 228 patients underwent surgery, including BCS (n=181: 79%) and Mx (n=47: 21%). Within the first 3 months, BCS was performed for 57 (24%), and Mx for 20 (21%) patients

Table 3. First line of treatment and staging of axille before treatment				
First line of treatment and approach to axilla	A	В	р	
PST	108	116	0.005	
NAC	108	106	0.005	
NET	0	10	0.000	
SLNB	40	0	0.000	
Total	356	281	-	
PST: Primary systemic therapy, NAC: Neoadjuvant chemotherapy, NET: Neoadjuvant endocrine therapy, SLNB: Sentinel lymph node biopsy				

Table 4. Comparison PST and SLNB between in A^{\ast} and B^{\ast} period				
	A*	B*	р	
PST	20	20	0.849	
SLNB	12	0	0.000	
PST: Primary systemic therapy, SLNB: Sentinel lymph node biopsy				

Table 5. The surgical method used in both period and A*and \mathbf{B}^{*}					
Surgical method	A* (%)	A	B* (%)	В	
BCS	57 (24.5)	232	40 (22)	181	
Mx	20 (21)	96	13 (27)	47	
Prophylactic Mx	3 (3.75)	6	0 (0)	0	
Total	80	334	53	228	
BCS: Breast-conserving surgery, Mx: Mastectomy					

in A*, while in B* 40 (22%) patients received BCS, and Mx was performed for 13 (27%) patients (Table 5).

Six patients who have diagnosed in period A and completed PST did not want to wait on days when surgical procedures were limited in our hospital and were operated on other centers. In period B, 4 patients died from COVID.

DISCUSSION

The COVID pandemic has caused some problems in the field of health apart from itself. It directly affected health services, patients, and healthcare workers. Knowing that it is necessary to avoid risks while planning the treatment of our patients, we tried overcoming them with the least morbidity, especially for patients with breast cancer. Our hospital has been organized as a COVID-19 center since March 2020, when the first case was identified in our country, and elective surgeries were interrupted for a while and continued partially for a certain period.

The risk of morbidity and mortality with the transmission of COVID-19 infection in cancer patients is 4.5 times higher than that in the general population (1). For this reason, some changes have been made in the standard care that avoids the risk of infection for breast cancer patients in the world and in our country, and guidelines have been prepared to that end (1,2).

According to the current staging method of breast cancer, treatment should be started according to the molecular subtype. The first step of treatment option is general surgery or PST, according to criteria such as hormone receptor status, tumor size, axillary involvement, nuclear grade of the tumor, Ki-67 proliferation index, which is evaluated individually in each patient. Triple-negative and cERB 2 (+) cases are the most common patients in whom PST is started because these patients respond well or even completely to treatment. Luminal A-B tumors respond less to PST, but less surgery in these conditions necessitated some changes in treatment planning (1-3).

In our country, a study was initiated to provide a consensus on what can be done in order not to disrupt breast cancer treatment in the first days of the pandemic (3). In this study, where we also participated in, 46 statements related to 28 different case scenarios were voted electronically by a panel consisting of 51 surgeons and medical oncologists with the necessary skills and experience in breast cancer management, using the Delphi method. While 37 of them reached a consensus in the first round as acceptance or rejection, nine of them were put to vote as the required decision threshold could not be reached in the second round. At the end of two rounds, a statement was approved as a proposal for each of the 14 case scenarios.

For patients with node-negative, small-sized triple-negative, HER-2-positive, and luminal A-like tumors, the consensus was that neoadjuvant systemic therapy should be administered until conditions improve for surgical treatment. Panelists also agreed to expand systemic therapy for patients with clinically and completely responsive HER-2-positive and luminal B-like tumors after application of neoadjuvant systemic therapy (3).

While evaluating our patients, we considered the current conditions, the Turkish consensus report, and the other guidelines; we postponed reconstructive surgery, benign breast surgeries, those with low-grade malignancy, and only operated on cancers that should not be delayed. The breast cancer council did not take a break from its work at our hospital, it continued online for the first 3 months, then in accordance with the pandemic measures and with the participation of as few specialists as possible from all departments.

We had to use the resources of the operating room very sparingly, during the 2nd and 3rd waves, (December 2020 and April 2021), the operating room was converted into an intensive care unit (4). Based on these challenging conditions, and up-to-date information, we reduced the number of invasive procedures.

In the period when the working hours in the operating room were very restricted, PST was brought to the agenda in the TI-T2 HER-2 negative luminal A and B patients, for whom we did not routinely prefer. As well as NET became an option in treatment, it was chosen as the PST before surgery; NET came to the fore with only extremely limited indications previously ie. for only those who could not receive NAC or had no chance for surgery. Before and during period A, SLNB for axillary staging was being applied before PST, although with gradually decreasing frequency. The SLNB procedure before PST was not applied anymore in period B because of its decreasing use and overwhelming information indicating that the surgical procedure increased morbidity, and that radiological evaluation and then, if necessary, biopsy yielded comparable results (2,3).

In this way, the number of intraoperative frozen examinations decreased. The reduction of frozen procedures to be studied in fresh material with a high risk of contamination and working with cytological samples fixed with 70% alcohol also reduced the risk exposed by pathology department workers.

With the pandemic, interruptions, and disruptions were seen in cancer screening programs worldwide, and the number of newly diagnosed breast cancer patients decreased compared to the period A. Corsi et al. (1) reported an approximately 32% decrease in the rates of newly diagnosed breast cancers in their breast cancer clinics "a non-COVID center" compared to the same period as the previous year (93 vs. 63).

In another study conducted in France, a decrease of 43.5% was reported during the pandemic (5). In our study, a 22% decrease was noted between periods A and B. The first 2 months were conducted in the studies conducted in Italy and France. The pandemic started earlier in Italy and France and led to serious disruptions in health services. Our country was relatively more prepared against a pandemic. In these two studies, authors reported that elective surgery was not performed in the first month, while in our hospital, cancer surgery continued, albeit to a limited extent.

Curigliano et al. (6) listed suggestions on how breast cancer treatment should be performed in this process. Accordingly, there are 4 categories in health services; emergency, high, medium, and low priority; breast cancer is in the high and medium-risk group. The authors emphasize that cancer patients should be treated in clean hospitals or departments with meticulously careful use of resources. In our hospital, a vertical structuring plan was applied during the COVID process, and the departments allocated to COVID patients in our hospital, which consists of five blocks, and the entrance and exit of other departments and the work schedules of the employees were arranged separately (4).

Similar recommendations were made to surgeons in the guide written by Curigliano et al. (6) and in the Turkish consensus report (3). These recommendations concern basic patients whose NAC was completed, and emphasize performing emergency-priority surgeries, but postponing surgeries to be performed for benign conditions, esthetic indications, oncoplastic procedures larger than level 1, and reconstruction plans. We followed these rules. While prophylactic Mx and reconstruction were performed in 6 patients in period A, none of the patients included in this study in period B underwent these surgeries.

The study by Rocco et al. (7), it was aimed to evaluate how breast surgeons adapt their surgical activities due to the rapid spread of COVID-19 around the world. A panel of 12 breast surgeons from the most affected areas of the world held a virtual meeting on April 7, 2020, and a web-based questionnaire was designed to assess changes in surgical practices to be carried out by breast surgeons from various countries. The virtual meeting showed that different countries and regions are experiencing different stages of the pandemic. Surgery was given priority to patients with aggressive disease who were not candidates for PST, patients with the progressive disease under neoadjuvant systemic therapy, and those who completed neoadjuvant therapy. Although 100 breast surgeons who participated in this survey favored traditional standards for treating potentially fatal diseases such as breast cancer, it was concluded that as the situation worsened, alternative strategies should be adopted. In a consensus study conducted in our country, it was observed that surgeons participating from different centers were not willing to postpone surgery in the first round of voting (3).

Physicians dealing with breast cancer in China, the origin of the COVID-19 pandemic, emphasized that the timing of the surgery should be decided according to factors such as the severity of the pandemic and the allocation of medical resources in their study, where they sought an answer to the question of how to manage the treatment in this period. For this purpose, by presenting a short algorithm, surgical candidates who received the diagnosed with T1N0 tumors were allocated for surgery, and patients with breast cancers at T2 and N1 and above stages were allocated as PST candidates (8).

Sheng et al. (9), on the other hand, have stated that cancer treatment has changed during the COVID-19 pandemic, and doctors must carefully weigh the risks and benefits of administering immunosuppressive therapy during the pandemic. They have emphasized that tumor biology should guide breast cancer treatment planning, and genomic tumor profiling should be used more often with a resultant increase in the use of PST. Our practice and data also support this view.

NET, which was not preferred previously as a primary treatment, found supporters in this period. According to a survey by Park et al. (10), conducted with 114 physicians from 29 states in the USA, including 42 (37%) medical oncologists, 14 (12%) radiation oncologists, and 58 (51%) surgeons, most of these participants were "rarely" using NET for ER. + Breast cancer before the COVID-19 pandemic. In this process, 54% of them recommended using NET until surgery, while 46% suggested that they could delay the surgery for 2 months without NET. The preferred NET regimen was tamoxifen for premenopausal and an aromatase inhibitor for postmenopausal women. In this study, it was also argued that NET also reduces the rates of axillary surgery and that axillary surgery may not be required after the NET, which changes the clinical scenario of a patient with micrometastasis in the sentinel lymph node as the duration of drug administration is prolonged (10).

In a study presented at the 2020 San Antonio Breast Cancer Virtual Symposium, it was reported that rates of interest in and acceptance of NET by both physicians and patients during the pandemic period increased compared to the previous period, and NETwas started in 36 patients in this small series of 45 patients to act as a bridge until surgery (11). In the series we presented, we found that while NET was not performed as PST in any patient in period A, NET was administered to 10 patients (8.6%) in period B. Although we do not have a prediction about the effect of NET on axillary surgery, this issue is worth examining in a larger series.

The use of radiotherapy as a PST option during the pandemic period has been discussed both in our country and in the world, but any different application specific to this period has not been made.

As for the effect on the COVID-19 pandemic in the choice of technique in patients who can undergo surgery, a surgical technique can be chosen in a way that does not prolong the duration of surgery and hospitalization at times and places where surgery can be performed. In a study in which the results of 64 breast centers in England were compiled, it was reported that 62% of 957 patients who underwent surgery during this period underwent BCS and 37% had a Mx (2).

To summarize, in this study 108 (30.33%) patients received PST in period A and 116 (41.3%) patients in period B. Despite a 22% decrease in the total number of cases between periods A and B, the increase in the rate of PST was found to be significant. Before PST, SLNB was performed in period A, albeit in decreasing numbers, it was not performed in period B.

While NET was planned as the only treatment option for patients who could not receive anesthesia in period A, it was applied as the first treatment choice in period B and to save time until surgery.

Study Limitations

In our opinion, the weakness of this study was that it could not be determined whether there was a delay in the initial diagnosis. Our hospital is not a screening center, only registered women and women who apply themselves are included in the screening group for breast cancer. Other studies conducted during the epidemic will be useful to learn the effects in terms of early diagnosis.

CONCLUSION

During the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the breast cancer council of our hospital is still carrying on and makes its decisions, as always, with the "tailoring management" in addition to considering the working schedules of the clinics. Breast surgery for benign conditions, prophylactic and reconstructive surgery were not performed. Prominent differences were observed between periods A and B about PST, where is planned more

frequently when surgery is limited, including NET as PST, probably due to this, BCS was applied more.

The approach to the axilla has changed significantly. In patients with breast cancer, the axillary staging is currently performed only by radiological and cytological examinations in our clinic.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Tascioglu City Hospital, with the decision dated 07.01.2021-271.

Informed Consent: Obtained from all patients and available in their files.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: S.G., A.M.P., B.D.Y., P.Ö.Y., M.M.A., A.A., Concept: S.G., B.D.Y., Design: S.G., B.D.Y., Data Collection or Processing: S.G., A.M.P., P.Ö.Y., A.A., Analysis or Interpretation: S.G., A.M.P., P.Ö.Y., M.M.A., A.A., Literature Search: S.G., A.M.P., Writing: S.G., A.M.P.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Corsi F, Caruso A, Albasini S, Bossi D, Polizzi A, Piccotti F, et al. Management of breast cancer in an EUSOMA-accredited Breast Unit in Lombardy, Italy, during the COVID-19 pandemic. Breast J 2020;26:1609-10.
- 2. Dave RV, Kim B, Courtney A, O'Connell R, Rattay T, Taxiarchi VP, et al. Breast cancer management pathways during the COVID-19 pandemic:

outcomes from the UK 'Alert Level 4' phase of the B-MaP-C study. Br J Cancer 2021;124:1785-94. Erratum in: Br J Cancer 2021; Erratum in: Br J Cancer 2021;125:905.

- Sezer A, Cicin İ, Karadeniz Çakmak G, Özkan Gürdal S, Başaran G, Oyan B, et al. Turkish national consensus on breast cancer management during temporary state of emergency due to COVID-19 outbreak. Turk J Surg 2020;36:147-63.
- 4. İlhan P, Gürbüz H. Management format in Turkey in the pandemic; how was the pandemic managed in our hospital? Eur Arch Med Res 2020;36(Suppl 1):1-3.
- Gosset M, Gal J, Schiappa R, Dejode M, Fouché Y, Alazet F, et al. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on breast and gynecologic cancers management. Experience of the Surgery Department in the Nice Anticancer Center. Bull Cancer 2021;108:3-11.
- Curigliano G, Cardoso MJ, Poortmans P, Gentilini O, Pravettoni G, Mazzocco K, et al. Recommendations for triage, prioritization and treatment of breast cancer patients during the COVID-19 pandemic. Breast 2020;52:8-16.
- Rocco N, Montagna G, Di Micco R, Benson J, Criscitiello C, Chen L, et al. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on surgical management of breast cancer: global trends and future perspectives. Oncologist 2021;26:e66-e77.
- 8. Wang W, Guo B, Cui C, Sun T, Liu S. Management of early-stage breast cancer patients during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic: the experience in China from a surgical standpoint. J Cancer 2021;12:2190-98.
- 9. Sheng JY, Santa-Maria CA, Mangini N, Norman H, Couzi R, Nunes R, et al. Management of breast cancer during the COVID-19 pandemic: a stageand subtype-specific approach. JCO Oncol Pract 2020;16:665-74.
- 10. Park KU, Gregory M, Bazan J, Lustberg M, Rosenberg S, Blinder V, et al. Neoadjuvant endocrine therapy use in early stage breast cancer during the covid-19 pandemic. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2021;188:249-58.
- 11. Cindy Cen, Freya Schnabel, Sylvia Adams, Magdalena Plasilova, Janet Yeh, Marleen Meyers, et al. "Bridge" neoadjuvant endocrine therapy for early stage breast cancer patients during COVID-19 at an academic hospital in NYC: Lessons learned [abstract]. In: Proceedings of the 2020 San Antonio Breast Cancer Virtual Symposium; 2020 Dec 8-11; San Antonio, TX. Philadelphia (PA): AACR; Cancer Res 2021;81(Suppl 4):Abstract nr PS12-26.



Congenitally Short Pedicles; as an Underlying Cause of Lumbar Spinal Stenosis

🕩 Hakan Önder, 🕩 Berrin Erok, 🕩 Tanju Kisbet, 🕩 Eyüp Kaya

University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Radiology, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: A major element of developmental anatomical abnormalities associated with congenital lumbar spinal stenosis is congenitally shortened pedicles. We analyzed the role of congenitally shortened pedicles in LSS by quantitatively analyzing the antero-posterior midsagittal diameter of the spinal canal and the pedicle lengths on lumbar magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).

Methods: The lumbar MRI database of our hospital was retrospectively searched for terms' lumbar spinal stenosis, spinal stenosis and stenosis' in patients older than 18 years between January 2020 and January 2021. Midsagittal AP diameters of the lumbar spinal canal were measured at L2, L3, L4, and L5 levels on sagittal T2w images. Patients having at least one level of AP diameter equal to or less than 12 mm were considered as having LSS and included in the study group. After exclusions, 19 patients met the criteria and additional measurements were made for the pedicle lenght. They were compared with 76 control subjects.

Results: The rate of AP diameter being 12 mm or less at all levels was statistically significantly higher in the LSS group. The mean length of pedicles at the L2, L3, L4 and L5 levels in the LSS group was significantly shorter. The cut-off value for the pedicle length at the L2 level in the diagnosis of LSS was ≤ 8.7 mm. This was ≤ 9.7 for L3 level, ≤ 9.5 for L4 level and ≤ 10.1 for L5 level.

Conclusion: Decrease in pedicle length is proportionally associated with reduced diameter of the spinal canal resulting in CCS. Furthermore, the congenitally shortened pedicles give the canal a flattened appearance. The other-discriminating feature is that narrowing of the spinal canal is usually distributed throughout the lumbar spine. We found greater threshold values for shortened pedicles associated with decreased spinal canal AP diameter than found in other studies in the literature. In conclusion, the congenitally shortened pedicle plays an important role by increasing the likelihood of symptomatic presentations in LSS patients.

Keywords: Short pedicle, lumbar spinal stenosis, congenital stenosis

INTRODUCTION

Spinal stenosis is characterized by the narrowing of the spaces for the neural and vascular elements in the spinal canal to the point where it can exert pressure on the nerves running through the spine. It is subdivided based the relevant anatomical regions into central canal stenosis (CCS), lateral (recess) stenosis (LS) and foraminal stenosis (FS). The most commonly affected region is the lumbar spine followed by the cervical spine (1). CCS in the lumbar spine can cause impingement on the nerves of the cauda equina or on the thecal sac itself, resulting in debilitating buttock or lower extremity pain, with or without accompanying low back pain. Symptoms of lumbar radiculopathy may also be present when the lateral recess and neural foramen are stenosed. Lumbar spinal stenosis (LSS) is the most common cause for lumbar spinal surgery in elderly patients older than 65 years (2,3). However, because of the lack of universally accepted radiological diagnostic criteria, the exact epidemiology is difficult to determine. Nonetheless, radiological examinations are the key non-invasive tests for the diagnosis (2,4). Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is the most commonly preferred modality of choice with its excellent soft tissue resolution that demonstrates



Address for Correspondence: Berrin Erok, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Tascıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Radiology, İstanbul, Turkey Received: 25.04.2022 Accepted: 15.06.2022

Phone: +90 535 100 33 87 E-mail: drberinerok@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8036-547X

Cite this article as: Önder H, Erok B, Kisbet T, Kaya E. Congenitally Short Pedicles; as an Underlying Cause of Lumbar Spinal Stenosis. Eur Arch Med Res 2022;38(3):207-213

©Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital European Archives of Medical Research published by Galenos Publishing House. the thecal sac and the neural elements in the neuroforamina. On lumbar MRIs, absent fluid around the cauda equine and osseous/soft tissue hypertrophic degenerative changes, including degenerative disc disease, facet joint hypertrophy and ligamentum flavum hypertrophy are gualitative indicators of CCS. These degenerative changes are prominent imaging findings responsible for the acquired, degenerative form of LSS (DLSS). However, the presence of developmental anatomical abnormalities of the spinal canal can increase the likelihood of LSS with minimal, less severe degenerative changes. This type of LSS, which is less common than its degenerative form, is named as congenital LSS (CLSS) (5,6). Therefore, patients with DLSS may have a preexisting developmentally narrowed canal when they are treated at later ages (7,8). A major element of these developmental anatomical abnormalities is congenitally shortened pedicles (9). In this study, we analyzed the role of congenitally shortened pedicles in LSS by quantitatively analyzing the antero-posterior (AP) midsagittal diameter of the spinal canal and the pedicle lengths on lumbar MRIs.

METHODS

Study Population

The lumbar MRI database of our hospital was retrospectively searched for the terms' LSS, spinal stenosis and stenosis' in the reports of adult patients (older than 18 years) in one year period between January 2020 and January 2021, until a study group of 19 patients and a control group of 76 patients were formed. Patients with severe degenerative changes, lumbar spondylolisthesis, history of trauma, infection, and tumor interfering with the central canal diameter, and patients with achondroplasia and lumbar spinal surgery for any reason were not included. Ethics approval was obtained from the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Tascioglu City Hospital Local Institutional Review Board (no: E-48670771-514.99, date: 18.04.2022). Two radiologists with more than 20 years (H.Ö.) and 7 (B.E.) years of radiology experience, respectively, evaluated the examinations in consensus. All were examined on 1.5 T or 3.0 T MR scanners and included sagittal T1w and T2w images, and axial T2w images of the lumbar spine.

Midsagittal AP diameters of the lumbar spinal canal were measured at the L2, L3, L4, and L5 levels on sagittal T2w images. Patients having at least one level of AP diameter equal to or less than 12 mm were considered as having LSS and included in the study group. Among the study patients, the values smaller than 10 mm were accepted as absolute LSS and the values between 10 and 12 were accepted as relative LSS. Nineteen patients met the criteria in whom additional measurements were made for the pedicle length on the sagittal T2w images. They were compared with 76 control subjects between the ages of 20-40 with normal AP diameters (>12 mm) of the lumbar spine at all four levels.

Statistical Analysis

While evaluating the findings obtained in the study, IBM SPSS Statistics 22 program was used for statistical analysis. The conformity of the parameters to the normal distribution was evaluated with the Shapiro-Wilks test. While evaluating the study data, in addition to descriptive statistical methods (mean, standard deviation, frequency), Student's t-test was used for comparisons of normally distributed parameters between two groups, and Mann-Whitney U test was used for comparisons between groups of parameters that did not show normal distribution. Continuity (Yates) correction and Fisher's Exact test were used to compare qualitative data. The most appropriate cut-off point was chosen on the basis of the ROC curve analysis. Statistical significance was defined at p<0.05.

RESULTS

The study was conducted with 95 subjects, 53 (55.8%) men and 42 (44.2%) women, whose ages ranged from 20 to 79, with a mean age of 37.19 ± 13.95 years. The subjects were evaluated under two groups as "LSS" (n=19) and "control" (n=76). The mean age of the LSS group was statistically significantly higher than that of the control group (p=0.000; p<0.05). There was no statistically significant difference between the groups in terms of gender distribution (p>0.05) (Table 1).

The mean AP diameter at the L2 level of the control group was 20.04 \pm 2.74, and 12.93 \pm 2.03 in the LSS group. The rate of AP diameter being 12 mm or less at the L2 level in the LSS group (31.6%) was statistically significantly higher than that in the control group (0%) (p=0.000; p<0.05). The rate of having AP diameter of 10 mm or less at the L2 level was higher than in the LSS group (5.3%) than in the control group (0%) but, this was not statistically significant (p>0.05). The mean AP diameter at the L3 level of the control group was 18.61 \pm 2.93 mm and it was

Table 1. Evaluation of groups in terms of age and gender					
	LSS Control p				
Age mean ± SD (median)	58.74±16.01 (62)	31.80±5.96 (35)	¹ 0.000*		
Gender n (%)					
Male	10 (52.6%)	43 (56.6%)	² 0.959		
Female	9 (47.4%)	33 (43.4%)			
$^1Mann\mathchar`Whitney U test, ^2Continuity (Yates) correction, *p<0.05, SD: Standard deviation, LSS: Lumbar spinal stenosis$					

11.48±2.10 mm in the LSS group. The rate of having AP diameter of 12 or less at L3 level in the LSS group (63.2%) was statistically significantly higher than that in the control group (0%) (p=0.000; p<0.05). The rate of having AP diameter of 10 mm or less at the L3 level in the LSS group (31.6%) was statistically significantly higher than that in the control group (0%) (p=0.000; p<0.05). The mean AP diameter at the L4 level of the control group was 17.62±2.48, and 11.09±2.04 in the LSS group. The rate of having AP diameter of 12 mm or less at the L4 level in the LSS group (57.9%) was statistically significantly higher than the control group (0%) (p=0.000; p<0.05). The rate of having AP diameter of 10 mm or less at the L4 level in the LSS group (47.4%) was statistically significantly higher than the control group (0%) (p=0.000; p<0.05). The mean AP diameter at the L5 level of the control group was 17.10 ± 2.48 , and 12.51 ± 2.33 for the LSS group. The rate of having AP diameter of 12 mm or less at the L5 level in the LSS group (36.8%) was statistically significantly higher than the control group (2.6%) (p=0.000; p<0.05). The AP diameter in these 2 patients was 11.99 mm. The rate of having AP diameter of 10 mm or less at the L5 level in the LSS group (21.1%) was statistically significantly higher than that in the control group (0%) (p=0.000; p<0.05) (Table 2).

The mean length of pedicles at the L2, L3, L4, and L5 levels of the cases in the LSS group were statistically significantly shorter than that in the control group (p=0.000; p<0.05) (Table 3). In the diagnosis of LSS, the ROC curve was drawn for the pedicle length at the L2 level (Figure 1). The area under the curve was 0.961 and its standard error was 0.01. The area under the ROC curve was found to be significantly higher than 0.5 (p=0.001; p<0.05). The cut-off point determined for the pedicle length at the L2 level in the diagnosis of LSS was ≤ 8.7 mm. The sensitivity of this value was 89.5% and the specificity was 92.1%. The rate

Table 2. Evaluation of groups in terms of AP diametermeasurements being shorter than 10 and 12 mm					
		Control (n=76)	LSS (n=19)	Total (n=95)	
Spinal AP diameter		n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	р
L2	<12	0 (0%)	6 (31.6%)	6 (6.3%)	0.000*
L2	<10	0 (0%)	1 (5.3%)	1 (1.1%)	0.200
L3	<12	0 (0%)	12 (63.2%)	12 (12.6%)	0.000*
L3	<10	0 (0%)	6 (31.6%)	6 (6.3%)	0.000*
L4	<12	0 (0%)	11 (57.9%)	11 (11.6%)	0.000*
L4	<10	0 (0%)	9 (47.4%)	9 (9.5%)	0.000*
L5	<12	2 (2.6%)	7 (36.8%)	9 (9.5%)	0.000*
L5	<10	0 (0%)	4 (21.1%)	4 (4.2%)	0.000*
Fisher's Exact test, *p<0.05, LSS: Lumbar spinal stenosis, AP: Antero-posterior					

of having pedicle length of 8.7 mm or less at the L2 level in the LSS group (89.5%) was statistically significantly higher than that in the control group (7.9%) (p=0.000; p<0.05) In the diagnosis of LSS, the ROC curve was drawn for the pedicle length at the L3 level (Figure 2). The area under the curve was 0.917 and its standard error was 0.02. The area under the ROC curve was found to be significantly higher than 0.5 (p=0.001; p<0.05). The cut-off point determined for the pedicle length at the L3 level in the diagnosis of LSS was ≤9.7 mm. The sensitivity of this value was 94.7% and the specificity was 77%. The rate of having pedicle length of 9.7 mm or less at the L3 level in the LSS group (94.7%) was statistically significantly higher than that in the control group (23%) (p=0.000; p<0.05). In the diagnosis of LSS, the ROC curve was drawn for the pedicle length at the L4 level (Figure 3). The area under the curve was 0.919 and its standard error was 0.02. The area under the ROC curve was found to be significantly higher than 0.5 (p=0.001; p<0.05). The cut-off point determined for the pedicle length at the L4 level in the diagnosis of LSS was \leq 9.5 mm. The sensitivity of this value was 84.2% and the specificity

Table 3. Evaluation of groups in terms of pedicle length measurements				
	LSS	Control		
Pedicle	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	р	
L2	7.64±0.92	10.14±1.27	0.000*	
L3	8.22±1.05	10.64±1.55	0.000*	
L4	8.52±1.15	11.09±1.56	0.000*	
L5	8.82±1.41	11.92±1.86	0.000*	
Student t-test. *p<0.05. LSS: Lumbar spinal stenosis. SD: Standard deviation				

Determination of cut off point for pedicle at L2 level



Figure 1. ROC curve for the pedicle length at L2 level in the diagnosis of LSS

LSS: Lumbar spinal stenosis, ROC: Receiver operating characteristic

was 87.5%. The rate of having pedicle length of 9.5 mm or less at the L4 level in the LSS group (84.2%) was statistically significantly higher than that in the control group (12.5%) (p=0.000; p<0.05). In the diagnosis of LSS, the ROC curve was drawn for the pedicle length at the L5 level (Figure 4). The area under the curve was 0.921 and its standard error was 0.02. The area under the ROC curve was found to be significantly higher than 0.5 (p=0.001; p<0.05). The cut-off point determined for the pedicle level at





Figure 2. ROC curve for the pedicle length at the L3 level in the diagnosis of LSS

LSS: Lumbar spinal stenosis, ROC: Receiver operating characteristic





Figure 3. ROC curve for the pedicle length at the L4 level in the diagnosis of LSS

LSS: Lumbar spinal stenosis, ROC: Receiver operating characteristic

the L5 level in the diagnosis of LSS was $\leq 10.1 \text{ mm}$ (Table 4). The sensitivity of this value was 86.8% and the specificity was 82.9%. The rate of having pedicle length of 10.1 mm or less at the L5 level in the LSS group (86.8%) was statistically significantly higher than the control group (17.1%) (p=0.000; p<0.05).

DISCUSSION

LSS is a common cause of lumbar spinal surgery in patients with leg and low back pain. However, there is a lack of universally accepted radiological diagnostic criteria for LSS due to significant variability regarding the relationship between the imaging findings and the clinical symptoms. Fourteen different semiquantitative or qualitative radiologic criteria that were identified in a systematic review [according to the involved anatomic spaces including criteria for CCS, lateral (recess) stenosis, and FS] showed remarkable variability based on the subjectivity of the evaluation of the interpreter (10). Quantitative measurements of LSS also showed great variability among the results of different studies in the literature. AP and transverse diameters of the spinal canal with regard to its shape were reported as a reliable indicator for CCS (11,12). In the Delphi survey, the highest rated quantitative criterion for CCS was the AP diameter of the osseous canal (13). Epstein et al. (14) found the lower limit of normal for a sagittal canal diameter of approximately 15 mm. A mean AP canal diameter of 14.1 mm was identified by Schonstrom et al. (15) on computed tomography scans. Sortland et al. (16) determined that 10.5 mm in extension was the lower value of the normal by describing

Determination of cut off point for pedicle at L5 level



Figure 4. ROC curve for the pedicle length at the L5 level in the diagnosis of LSS

LSS: Lumbar spinal stenosis, ROC: Receiver operating characteristic

improved myelographic techniques with flexion-extension views. In a systematic review which identified 10 different quantitative parameters to measure LSS, the AP mid-sagittal diameter <10 mm was found to be one of the most frequently reported criteria (17). Verbiest divided LSS into two subgroups as absolute stenosis having an AP diameter <10 mm and relative stenosis as AP diameter between 10 and 12 mm (18,19). We also measured the midsagittal AP diameter in lumbar MRI to define CCS, and we accepted a central canal diameter of <10 mm as absolute LSS and diameters between 10 and 12 mm as relative LSS (Figure 5). It is well known that evidence of lumbar spondylosis (LS) usually accompanies LSS in varying degrees. However, in congenitally stenotic patients, the spinal canal is primarily narrowed by an anatomical abnormalities that

Table 4. Evaluation of the pedicle measurements of the groups in terms of the rate of being shorter than the cut-off values					
		Control (n=152)	LSS (n=38)	Total (n=190)	
Pedicle		n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	р
L2	≤8.7	12 (7.9%)	34 (89.5%)	46 (24.2%)	0.000*
L3	≤9.7	35 (23%)	36 (94.7%)	71 (37.4%)	0.000*
L4	≤9.5	19 (12.5%)	32 (84.2%)	51 (26.8%)	0.000*
L5	≤10.1	26 (17.1%)	33 (86.8%)	59 (31.1%)	0.000*
Continuity (Yates) correction, *p<0.05, LSS: Lumbar spinal stenosis					



Figure 5. A-C) Sagittal T2w MR images of a 32-year-old female demonstrating the decreased AP diameter of the lumbar spinal canal at the L3 level (A) and associated short pedicle lengths in both the right (B) and the left (C) side

MR: Magnetic resonance, AP: Antero-posterior



Figure 6. A) Axial lumbar T2w MR image of a 32-year-old female with short pedicles shows a compressed appearance of the lumbar spinal canal (A, arrow) B) axial lumbar T2w MR image of a 22-year-old female with normal pedicle lengths shows a more rounded (non-compressed) appearance of the lumbar spinal canal (B, arrow) MR: Magnetic resonance

increase the likelihood of neural compression with fewer, less severe degenerative spondylotic changes. These patients are at a disadvantage because a small disc bulge may convert them from asymptomatic to severely symptomatic LSS, which is probably present at earlier ages than the degenerative form. The most common cause of the congenital narrowing of the spinal canal is short pedicles. The decrease in pedicle length is proportionally associated with reduced diameter and cross-sectional area of the spinal canal resulting in CCS, which is the pertinent feature in CLSS due to short pedicles. Furthermore, there are additional unique features of the spinal canal in these congenitally stenotic patients with short pedicles that differentiate them from their primarily degenerative counterparts. First, the congenitally shortened pedicles give the canal a flattened (compressed) appearance compared to the more round shape of the spinal canal in healthy patients (Figure 6). This is referred to as trefoilshaped bony spinal canal, particularly when the lateral recesses are also stenosed (12,20). The other-discriminating feature of CLSS is that narrowing of the spinal canal is usually distributed throughout the lumbar spine as opposed to the DLSS in which the stenosis is often limited to a single level, reported much more frequently at L4-5 level (Figure 7) (19,21). In their comparative study of 15 patients with CLSS, Singh et al. (9) reported a shorter pedicle length with a critical cutoff value of 6.5 mm and proportionally decreased cross-sectional area of the spinal



Figure 7. Axial T2w MR images of a 20-year-old male with short pedicles showing the long segment of narrowing of the central spinal canal at all four levels; L2-L3 (A), L3-L4 (B), L4-L5 (C) and L5-S1 (D). The associated compressed appearance of the central spinal canal is noted MR: Magnetic resonance

canal in congenitally stenotic patients in contrast to the control group subjects with pedicle lengths closer to 9 mm. Although, the preoperative MRI and plain radiographs of the congenitally stenotic patients were evaluated, the major limitation of this study was that all congenitally stenotic patients in this study were treated surgically, i.e. these patients aforementioned in this study represent severely symptomatic patients. However, congenital stenosis does not correspond only to the extreme end of the narrowing requiring surgical treatment, but includes a spectrum of changes with increasing clinical severity. We found greater threshold values for shortened pedicles associated with decreased spinal canal AP diameter than found in this study. We think that this is because our study group consisted of patients with lumbar spinal canal diameter less than 12 mm, who were considered stenotic, but did not require surgical management because to the lack of significant degenerative changes made them not significantly symptomatic. However, less severe degenerative hypertrophic changes may convert them into severely symptomatic states than expected.

Our study stands out with its following features; first, we included congenitally stenotic patients who were not surgically treated to obtain the cut values associated with decreased midsagittal AP diameter at the lumbar spine. However, as one of the shortcomings of this study, we did not compare patients with symptomatic CLSS to asymptomatic CLSS to determine the phenotypic differences that may result in/or correlate with the symptoms. Additionally, we did immeasure the transverse diameter of the spinal canal in our study. In this regard, Singh et al. (9) found no notable difference in the transverse diameter of the canal and concluded that the reduction in cross-sectional area is mainly due to the reduced AP diameter of the lumbar spinal canal. Another shortcoming is that we did immeasure the diameters of the lumbar vertebral bodies to evaluate if the congenitally shortened pedicles are also associated with smaller vertebral bodies. We believe that our results will contribute to the understanding of CLSS and conducting further studies regarding the limitations of our study.

CONCLUSION

LSS is an important cause of low back and leg pain. In patients suffering from LSS, the congenitally shortened pedicle plays an important role by increasing the likelihood of symptomatic presentations in less severe degenerative changes compared to with normal individuals. Additionally, since it is more often multilevel pathology defining this subgroup of stenotic patients is also important in the management approaches.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics approval was obtained from the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Tascioglu City Hospital Local Institutional Review Board (no: E-48670771-514.99, date: 18.04.2022).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: H.Ö., Design: H.Ö., B.E., Data Collection or Processing: H.Ö., B.E., T.K., E.K., Analysis or Interpretation: H.Ö., B.E., Literature Search: B.E., T.K., E.K., Writing: B.E.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Yasuda T, Suzuki K, Kawaguchi Y, Seki S, Makino H, Watanabe K, et al. Clinical and imaging characteristics in patients undergoing surgery for lumbar epidural lipomatosis. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2018;19:66.
- 2. Kreiner DS, Shaffer WO, Baisden J, Gilbert T, Summer J, Toton J, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of degenerative lumbar spinal stenosis. Boulevard, USA: North American Spine Soc. 2011.
- 3. Deyo RA, Gray DT, Kreuter W, Mirza S, Martin BI. United States trends in lumbar fusion surgery for degenerative conditions. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2005;30:1441-5; discussion 1446-7.
- 4. Andreisek G, Hodler J, Steurer J. Uncertainties in the diagnosis of lumbar spinal stenosis. Radiology 2011;261:681-4.
- 5. Arnoldi CC, Brodsky AE, Cauchoix J, Crock HV, Dommisse GF, Edgar MA, et al. Lumbar spinal stenosis and nerve root entrapment syndromes. Definition and classification. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1976:4-5.
- Soldatos T, Chalian M, Thawait S, Belzberg AJ, Eng J, Carrino JA, et al. Spectrum of magnetic resonance imaging findings in congenital lumbar spinal stenosis. World J Clin Cases 2014;2:883-7.
- Cheung JPY, Ng KKM, Cheung PWH, Samartzis D, Cheung KMC. Radiographic indices for lumbar developmental spinal stenosis. Scoliosis Spinal Disord 2017:12:3.
- 8. Kitab SA, Alsulaiman AM, Benzel EC. Anatomic radiological variations in developmental lumbar spinal stenosis: a prospective, control-matched comparative analysis. Spine J 2014;14:808-15.
- 9. Singh K, Samartzis D, Vaccaro AR, Nassr A, Andersson GB, Yoon ST, et al. Congenital lumbar spinal stenosis: a prospective, control-matched, cohort radiographic analysis. Spine J 2005;5:615-22.
- 10. Andreisek G, Imhof M, Wertli M, Winklhofer S, Pfirrmann CW, Hodler J, et al. A systematic review of semiquantitative and qualitative radiologic criteria for the diagnosis of lumbar spinal stenosis. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2013;201:W735-46.
- 11. Eisenstein S. The morphometry and pathological anatomy of the lumbar spine in South African negroes and caucasoids with specific reference to spinal stenosis. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1977;59:173-80.

- 12. Eisenstein S. The trefoil configuration of the lumbar vertebral canal. A study of South African skeletal material. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1980;62-B:73-7.
- Mamisch N, Brumann M, Hodler J, Held U, Brunner F, Steurer J, et al. Radiologic criteria for the diagnosis of spinal stenosis: results of a Delphi survey. Radiology 2012;264:174-9.
- 14. Epstein BS, Epstein JA, Jones MD. Lumbar spinal stenosis. Radiol Clin North Am 1977;15:227-39.
- Schonstrom NS, Bolender NF, Spengler DM. The pathomorphology of spinal stenosis as seen on CT scans of the lumbar spine. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 1985;10:806-11.
- 16. Sortland O, Magnaes B, Hauge T. Functional myelography with metrizamide in the diagnosis of lumbar spinal stenosis. Acta Radiol Suppl 1977;355:42-54.

- 17. Steurer J, Roner S, Gnannt R, Hodler J; LumbSten Research Collaboration. Quantitative radiologic criteria for the diagnosis of lumbar spinal stenosis: a systematic literature review. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2011;12:175.
- 18. Verbiest H. Pathomorphologic aspects of developmental lumbar stenosis. Orthop Clin North Am 1975;6:177-96.
- Verbiest H. Results of surgical treatment of idiopathic developmental stenosis of the lumbar vertebral canal. A review of twenty-seven years' experience. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1977;59:181-8.
- 20. Papp T, Porter RW, Aspden RM. Trefoil configuration and developmental stenosis of the lumbar vertebral canal. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1995;77:469-72.
- 21. An HS, Butler JP. Lumbar spinal stenosis: historical perspective, classification, and pathoanatomy. Semin Spine Surg 1999;11:184-90.



Clinical Issues in Tibia Shaft Fractures Performed Fasciotomy: A 4 Year Follow-up Study

🕲 Tahsin Olgun Bayraktar, 🕲 Emin İrfan Gökçay, 🕲 Müjdat Adaş, 🕲 Ali Çağrı Tekin, 🕲 Ali Yüce, 🕲 Mustafa Yerli, 🕲 Nazım Erkurt, 🕲 Hakan Gürbüz

University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Tascioğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Orthopedics and Traumatology, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: The only known effective treatment for acute compartment syndrome is fasciotomy. Our aim is to present a long-term analysis of the clinical problems encountered by patients who underwent fasciotomy after suspicion of acute compartment syndrome with a tibial shaft fracture.

Methods: Thirty-three patients who were treated between 2013 and 2017, with at least 4 years of follow-up, and who remained after the exclusion criteria, were included in the study.

The total number of operations, total hospitalization time, and return to work time, second and 4th year visual analog scale (VAS) score in the crus area for pain assessment, second and 4th year American Orthopedic Foot & Ankle Association scala (AOFAS) score for ankle functionality, second and 4th year knee injury and osteoarthritis outcome score, short version (KOOS-PS) score for knee functionality parameters were obtained from the medical records of the patients. Information was added on whether the patients had complaints about the appearance of the fasciotomy area and whether they had changed their clothes for this situation.

Results: The mean time to return to work of the patients was 9.0 ± 2.7 months. A significant difference was observed between the VAS and AOFAS scores of the patients in the 2nd year compared to the fourth year (<0.001, <0.001). Postoperative 4th year VAS, AOFAS and KOOS-PS scores of patients who developed pseudoarthrosis did not differ significantly from those of other patients (p=0.41, p=0.51, p=0.62).

Conclusion: The coexistence of tibial shaft fracture and fasciotomy can clinical cause problems affecting the social life of patients. It appears that clinical and functional scores are affected more significantly in the short term. We believe that patients should be informed about these issues at the beginning of treatment.

Keywords: Fasciotomy, tibia, fracture, acute compartment syndrome

INTRODUCTION

Acute compartment syndrome is a serious health issue that can result in severe morbidity if treatment is delayed (1). Fasciotomy is the only known effective treatment method for acute compartment syndrome (2). Clinically, acute compartment syndrome is most commonly associated with tibial shaft fractures and the coexistence of these two appears to be associated with poor clinical outcomes (3). There are few studies in the literature examining the clinical long-term follow-up of these patients following fasciotomy treatment (3,4). Our hypothesis is that although the clinical problems of these patients are more evident in the early period, these problems are less effective in the long term. Our aim is to present a long-term analysis of the clinical problems encountered by patients who underwent fasciotomy after suspicion of acute compartment syndrome with a tibial shaft fracture.



Address for Correspondence: Tahsin Olgun Bayraktar, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Tascioğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Orthopedics and Traumatology, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 506 877 59 52 E-mail: olgun.bayraktar@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-6544-1710 Received: 20.09.2021 Accepted: 30.06.2022

Cite this article as: Bayraktar TO, Gökçay Eİ, Adaş M, Tekin AÇ, Yüce A, Yerli M, Erkurt N, Gürbüz H. Clinical Issues in

Tibia Shaft Fractures Performed Fasciotomy: A 4 Year Follow-up Study. Eur Arch Med Res 2022;38(3):214-219

©Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital European Archives of Medical Research published by Galenos Publishing House.

METHODS

After receiving Ethics Committee approval from the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital (number: E-48670771-514.10), 76 fasciotomy performed tibia fractures between 2013 and 2017 were retrospectively analyzed. Inclusion criteria included being over the age 18, having at least four years of follow-up, having no additional injuries in the same extremity, having no neurological injuries and not having acute bone loss. Twelve patients without adequate medical records, 3 patients who had Gustillo-Andersen type 3c fractures, 1 patient who was under the age of 18, one patient who had peroneal nerve injury, one patient with acute death, and 25 patients without a tibial shaft fracture were excluded. The remaining 33 patients were included in the study.

The same surgical team operated on all the patients (T.O.B., M.A., A.C.T., A.Y.). The same team-decided fasciotomy in all the patients due to a suspicion of acute compartment syndrome. Pain, swelling, paresthesia, presence of pain with passive stretch were used as suspicious findings (5). All patients had a single lateral incision 4 compartment fasciotomy (6). The Tasarım Medical TF-ERS Rail Fixator[®] was applied to all patients using 6 mm Schanz nails from the medial side of the tibia to parallel to the posterior surface of the tibia, with at least three Schanz placed proximal and distal to the fracture line. The treatment of the fracture with this fixator was planned and it was applied to bridge the entire tibia (7).

All patients received traditional wet-to-dry dressings after fasciotomy (8), as well as the first generation cephalosporin and aminoglycoside prophylaxis. Debridement was performed if necessary at the 48th hour examination after clinical follow-up. The debridements were performed in the operating room under general anesthesia. If there was no microorganism growth in the culture taken between 5 and 7 days and the skin examination was appropriate, the wound was closed with split-thickness skin grafting (9). When there was microorganism growth in the culture, the closure operation was postponed and appropriate antibiotic therapy was started. Fasciotomy closure operations were performed by the plastic surgeons of our hospital.

Union times were calculated from the control roentgenograms of the patients. Delayed union was defined as the failure of fracture union by 20 weeks and nonunion was defined as a lack of union at 36 weeks and failure of the progression of fracture callus over a 6 week (3). Patients who nonunion, required additional surgical procedures. Deformity analyses were performed using the tibia anatomical axis from the patients' radiographs after union for deformity measurement. The shortness of more than 10 mm, a coronal angulation of more than 5 degrees, and a sagittal angulation of more than 10 degrees were deemed unacceptable and classified as deformity (10). Three senior orthopedic surgeons who did not perform the surgery evaluated the radiographs and their joint decisions were used as the basis. Preoperative and postoperative radiographic measurements were performed using the imaging software named INFINITT PACS (Picture Archiving and Communication Systems) version 3.0.11.4 (BN13)[®] used in our hospital.

Patients started isometric exercises and exercises for joint range of motion on the 1st postoperative day and continued isometric exercises until their fasciotomy was closed. Following the closure of the fasciotomy, isokinetic and muscle-strengthening exercises were initiated and continued until the return of the work.

Age, gender, fracture type, type of injury, soft tissue injury according to Gustillo-Andersen classification, infection development, causative microorganism if infection developed, the total number of operations, total hospitalization time, and return to work time, visual analog scale (VAS) score in the crus area for pain assessment, 2nd year American Orthopedic Foot & Ankle Association scala (AOFAS) score for ankle functionality, 2nd year knee injury and osteoarthritis outcome score, short version (KOOS-PS) score for knee functionality parameters were obtained from the medical records the patients. As time to return to work; It was determined as being able to start the profession before the trauma in people with a profession, and being able to do their daily work fully in people without a profession. The patients' most recent (minimum 48 months) VAS, AOFAS, and KOOS-PS scores were obtained by calling their registered phones and interviewing them. They were asked again during the interview if they had any complaints about the appearance of the fasciotomy area and if they had changed their any clothing modification due to this situation.

Statistical Analysis

The SPSS Windows version 24.0 package program was used for statistical analysis. Mean \pm standard deviation was given for numerical variables as descriptive statistics and number and percentage values were given for categorical variables. The compliance of the data to a normal distribution was tested with the Shapiro Wilk test. Student's t-test was performed for the normally distributed features in comparison of numerical data in 2 independent groups while Mann-Whitney U test was performed for non-normally distributed features. The relationship of two independent variables at the categorical measurement level with other was tested using the chi-square test and Fisher's Exact test. A p value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Of the patients, 30 (90.1%) were male and 3 (9.1%) were female. The mean age was 29.3 ± 8.5 . The mean duration of follow-up was 59.3 ± 11.8 months.

According to the Arbeitsgemeinschaft für Osteosynthesefragen classification, the fracture types of the patients were A2 5 (15.1%), A3 10 (30.3%), B1 7 (21.2%), B2 6 (18.1%), B3 1 (3%), C2 2 (6.06%), C3 2 (6.06%). Eight (24.2%) of the patients suffered additional injuries, without the same extremity. Twenty-eight (84.8%) of the patients were involved in traffic accidents, two (6%) had fallen from a height, two (6%) had a gunshot injury, and one (3%) had crush-type injuries.

There were 24 (72.7%) closed fractures and 9 (27.3%) open fractures among the fractures. According to the Gustillo Andersen classification, 5 (55.5%) of the fractures were type 1, 1 (11.1%) were type 2, and 3 (33.3%) were type 3a. It was observed that patients with open fractures required statistically significantly higher rates of infection and debridement than patients with closed fractures (p<0.001, p<0.001). However, the rates of pseudoarthrosis in patients with open fractures were not significantly different from those in the other patients (p=0.104) and there was no significant difference in clinical VAS, AOFAS and KOOS-PS scores at the end of the fourth year (p=0.41, p=0.51, p=0.62).

The patients' average hospital stay after the first operation was 20.3 ± 6.1 days, and the average total hospitalization time for fractures was 24.3 ± 10.1 days. Debridement was required in 10 (30.3%) of the patients, and the duration of hospital stay (31.7 \pm 8.5) was significantly longer in these patients (p<0.001). The patients had undergone an average of 4.05 \pm 1.5 operations because of this fracture. In patients whose fasciotomy wounds required debridement before closure, the total number of operations was 6 \pm 1.05 (p<0.001).

The patients' average union time was 7.03 \pm 2.3 months. While 12 (36.3%) patients had delayed union, 10 (30.3%) patients required a second operation for nonunion, 6 (60%) of these patients were treated with tibial intramedullary nailing, and 4 (40%) patients were treated with Ilizarov type circular external fixator applications. The duration of hospitalization, return to work and the number of operations they underwent were significantly higher in those operated for non-union (p<0.001, p<0.001, p<0.001).

The patients' average time to return to work was 9.0±2.7 months.

While all patients had paresthesia in the fasciotomy area, 4 (12.1%) had dysesthesia in the fasciotomy area that required

medical treatment, and 3 (18.1%) had dysesthesia in the donor area. While 16 (48.4%) of the patients stated that they were uncomfortable with the appearance of the wound, 5 (31.2%) of these patients stated that they had modified their clothes so that the wounds were not visible.

Cultures from 7 (21.2%) patients showed growth before their fasciotomy was closed. *Klebsiella* spp. growth was observed in 3 (42.8%) patients, *Staphylococcus aureus* growth in 3 (42.8%) patients, and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* growth in 1 (14.2%) patient, and they were all treated with antibiotics and debridement. No patient had osteomyelitis.

Five (15.1%) of the patients had received medical treatment multiple times for peroneal tendonitis. The rate of developing dysesthesia following debridement or in patients who developed an infection in the fasciotomy area was not significantly different from that of other patients (p=0.36, p=0.13). However, the frequency of tenosynovitis problems was found to be significantly higher in both groups of patients who underwent debridement and developed an infection (p<0.001, p<0.001). Patients with recurrent tenosynovitis had significantly lower AOFAS scores at 2^{nd} and 4^{th} years (p<0.05). Table 1 shows the postoperative VAS, AOFAS, and KOOS-PS scores for the second and fourth years.

While the VAS scores of patients who required pseudoarthrosis surgery were significantly higher in the second year (p<0.05), no significant difference in the AOFAS or KOOS-PS scores was observed in the second year (p=0.56, p=0.64). Table 2 compares some parameters and clinical scores of patients who require pseudoarthrosis surgery with those of other patients.

There were no clinical complaints about the deformities in any of the five patients who had residual deformities. Patients' deformities were observed to be 10 degrees valgus in two patients, 1.5 cm shortness in two patients, and 7 degrees valgus and 1.5 cm shortness in one patient. Table 3 compares the clinical scores of patients with deformities to those of other patients.

Table 1. Comparison of the 2 nd and 4 th year postoperative clinical results of the patients				
Mean ± SD*Postoperative 2nd yearPostoperative 2nd 4th yearPostoperative p**				
VAS	3.06±0.9	1.9±1.04	<0.001	
AOFAS	71.8±5.2	80.6±7.1	<0.001	
KOOS-PS	72.2±4.8	76.9±16.6	0.13	
Steps choice that the factory state and the state of variable and a state of the				

*SD: Standard deviation, **Mann-Whitney U test. VAS: Visual analog scale, AOFAS: American Orthopedic Foot & Ankle Association scala, KOOS-PS: Knee injury and osteoarthritis outcome score, short version
Table 2. Some parameters of patients undergoing pseudoarthrosis surgery compared with other patients			
Mean ± SD*	Pseudoarthrosis (+)	Pseudoarthrosis (-)	p**
Hospital stay (day)	35.2±6.6	20.8±6.3	<0.006
Return to work (month)	12.2±2.2	7.7±1.7	<0.001
Number of operations	5.3±1.5	3.5±1.1	<0.002
VAS***	2.1±0.5	2±1.1	0.68
AOFAS***	77±3.6	82.2±7.8	0.56
KOOS-PS***	73.9±6.6	73.9±6.6	0.72
*CD: Standard doubtion **Mann Whitney Ultert ***Dectonerative 4th year VAS: Visual analog scale AOEAS: American Orthonodic East S. Ankle Association scale KOOS DS			

*SD: Standard devitation, **Mann-Whitney U test, ***Postoperative 4th year. VAS: Visual analog scale, AOFAS: American Orthopedic Foot & Ankle Association scala, KOOS-PS: Knee injury and osteoarthritis outcome score, short version

Table 3. Comparison of clinical scores of patients with andwithout deformity				
Mean ± SD*	Deformity (+)	Deformity (-)	p**	
VAS***	2.2±0.8	1.9±1.0	0.71	
AOFAS***	75.6±1.6	82±9.2	0.11	
KOOS-PS***	76.2±6.6	79.8±9.3	0.58	

*SD: Standard devitation, **Mann-Whitney U test, ***Postoperative 4th year. VAS: Visual analog scale, AOFAS: American Orthopedic Foot & Ankle Association scala, KOOS-PS: Knee injury and osteoarthritis outcome score, short version

DISCUSSION

The association of tibial fracture and compartment syndrome with poor clinical outcomes is mentioned in the literature (3). Although factors such as delayed rehabilitation processes, fasciotomy wounds, and skin graft problems, a high rate of pseudoarthrosis, and infection development are thought to contribute to these poor outcomes, there are no conclusive results in the literature (4). We think that our study examines the clinical and social problems of injury well in the medium-long term. We think that it is especially important to show an increase in clinical scores in the long term.

When closing the fasciotomy wound, split-thickness skin grafts are commonly used (9). This surgical procedure is associated with various issues, including poor appearance and pain in the fasciotomy area (9). In fact, this out-of-favor appearance may lead to avoidance of displaying the fasciotomy area and associated clothing modifications (11). This appears to be one of the important social issues confronting patients who have undergone fasciotomy. Although paresthesia at the fasciotomy area is generally well tolerated, dysesthesia is a significant clinical issue that may contribute to patient dissatisfaction (12). Tendon problems in the fasciotomy area appear to have a negative impact on clinical scores in both our study and the literature (13). The closure of the fasciotomy wound with a splitthickness skin graft may be a situation that adversely affects both social and clinical scores in the mid-long term. Although it has been reported in the literature that primary closure is associated

with better clinical outcomes, it is impossible to apply it in every case (14). Therefore, primary closure may be a good option in appropriate cases.

Although nonunion and infection are more common in the association of fasciotomy and tibial shaft fracture, there appears to be no significant difference in the patients' clinical scores in the long term (15). Clinical scores are lower in the early period due to long treatment periods (4). This effect was more pronounced in our study, particularly in patients who developed pseudoarthrosis. Fasciotomy may affect the clinical scores of tibial shaft fractures, particularly in the early stages.

The aim of our technique, with the rail external fixator placed on the medial side of the tibia, is to reduce the possibility of deep infection in a patient with a fasciotomy wound (16), obtain a stable fixation, and make fasciotomy wound care easier (17). However, this system appears less stable against valgus forces generated by the cruris posterolateral compartment (18). As a result, a mild valgus deformity may be observed (18). However, for at least four years, these deformities do not appear to have a negative effect on clinical outcomes. In the case of compartment syndrome and tibial shaft fracture, this technique may provide safe and functional results in terms of bone infection.

Because of the additional surgical procedures required, fasciotomy appears to significantly increase both the duration of hospital stay and the cost (19). In our study, patients who required debridement stayed in the hospital for significantly longer. The higher infection rate in patients with open fractures may increase the cost of debridement and anti-biotherapy protocols. When the frequency of delayed union, nonunion, and the associated repetitive examinations, as well as longer labor loss, is added to this situation, the cost increase to both social institutions and the patient may become more clear. Since costrelated information could not be obtained from the medical records of the patients, we could not perform a cost analysis in our study. We think that these results are valuable for our study and we think that this is an important shortcoming of our study.

Study Limitations

The limitations of our study were that it is a retrospective study, the relatively short follow-up period, the absence of a comparison group, the small number of cases, and the fasciotomy indication based on clinical findings. Determining the diagnosis of compartment syndrome with absolute values may be a method to prevent unnecessary fasciotomy and related morbidity (20,21). However, it is available in a limited centers due to its dependence on technical equipment (21). Therefore, many studies in the literature are based on clinical observations in the diagnosis of acute compartment syndrome (3,7,17,22).

CONCLUSION

As a result; the coexistence of tibial shaft fracture and fasciotomy can cause problems affecting the social life of patients. It appears that clinical and functional scores are affected more significantly in the short term. We believe that patients should be informed about these issues at the beginning of treatment.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital Ethics Committee approval was obtained (number: E-48670771-514.10).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent forms of all patients who were treated were obtained and recorded.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: T.O.B., M.A., A.Ç.T., A.Y., M.Y., N.E., Concept: T.O.B., E.İ.G., M.A., A.Y., N.E., H.G., Design: T.O.B., E.İ.G., M.A., A.Y., N.E., H.G., Data Collection or Processing: T.O.B., A.Ç.T., M.Y., N.E., Analysis or Interpretation: T.O.B., E.İ.G., A.Ç.T., M.Y., N.E., H.G., Literature Search: T.O.B., A.Ç.T., M.Y., N.E., Writing: T.O.B., A.Y., N.E.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

REFERENCES

1. Duckworth AD, McQueen MM. The diagnosis of acute compartment syndrome: a critical analysis review. JBJS Rev 2017;5:e1.

- 2. Schmidt AH. Acute compartment syndrome. Injury 2017;48(Suppl 1):S22-5.
- 3. Blair JA, Stoops TK, Doarn MC, Kemper D, Erdogan M, Griffing R, et al. Infection and nonunion after fasciotomy for compartment syndrome associated with Tibia fractures: a matched cohort comparison. J Orthop Trauma 2016;30:392-6.
- 4. MacKenzie SA, Carter TH, MacDonald D, White TO, Duckworth AD. Longterm outcomes of fasciotomy for acute compartment syndrome after a fracture of the tibial diaphysis. J Orthop Trauma 2020;34:512-7.
- 5. Ulmer T. The clinical diagnosis of compartment syndrome of the lower leg: are clinical findings predictive of the disorder? J Orthop Trauma 2002;16:572-7.
- 6. Chang G, Fram B, Krieg JC. Single-incision 4-compartment fasciotomy of the lower leg: safe, effective, and advantageous. Orthopedics 2020;43:e225-30.
- Tekin AÇ, Saygılı MS, Adaş M, Çabuk H, Arslan SM, Dedeoğlu SS. Outcome of type 3 open tibial diaphyseal fractures managed with a limb reconstruction system: analysis of a 49-patient cohort. Med Princ Pract 2016;25:270-5.
- 8. Zannis J, Angobaldo J, Marks M, DeFranzo A, David L, Molnar J, et al. Comparison of fasciotomy wound closures using traditional dressing changes and the vacuum-assisted closure device. Ann Plast Surg 2009;62:407-9.
- 9. Kakagia D. How to close a limb fasciotomy wound: an overview of current techniques. Int J Low Extrem Wounds 2015;14:268-76.
- 10. Anneberg M, Brink O. Malalignment in plate osteosynthesis. Injury 2018;49(Suppl 1):S66-S71.
- Kakagia D, Karadimas EJ, Drosos G, Ververidis A, Trypsiannis G, Verettas D. Wound closure of leg fasciotomy: comparison of vacuumassisted closure versus shoelace technique. A randomised study. Injury 2014;45:890-3.
- 12. Fitzgerald AM, Gaston P, Wilson Y, Quaba A, McQueen MM. Long-term sequelae of fasciotomy wounds. Br J Plast Surg 2000;53:690-3.
- Dover M, Memon AR, Marafi H, Kelly G, Quinlan JF. Factors associated with persistent sequelae after fasciotomy for acute compartment syndrome. J Orthop Surg (Hong Kong) 2012;20:312-5.
- 14. Kenny EM, Egro FM, Russavage JM, Spiess AM, Acartürk TO. Primary closure of wide fasciotomy and surgical wounds using rubber band-assisted external tissue expansion: a simple, safe, and cost-effective technique. Ann Plast Surg 2018;81:344-52.
- 15. Giannoudis PV, Harwood PJ, Kontakis G, Allami M, Macdonald D, Kay SP, et al. Long-term quality of life in trauma patients following the full spectrum of tibial injury (fasciotomy, closed fracture, grade IIIB/IIIC open fracture and amputation). Injury 2009;40:213-9.
- Rupp M, Popp D, Alt V. Prevention of infection in open fractures: where are the pendulums now? Injury 2020;51(Suppl 2):S57-S63.
- 17. Patil MY, Gupta SM, Kurupati SK, Agarwal S, Chandarana V. Definitive management of open tibia fractures using limb reconstruction system. J Clin Diagn Res 2016;10:RC01-4.
- Park H, Ryu KJ, Kim HW, Hwang JH, Han JW, Lee DH. Is there an increase in valgus deviation in tibial distraction using the lengthening over nail technique? Clin Orthop Relat Res 2016;474:1283-91.

- 19. Schmidt AH. The impact of compartment syndrome on hospital length of stay and charges among adult patients admitted with a fracture of the tibia. J Orthop Trauma 2011;25:355-7.
- von Keudell AG, Weaver MJ, Appleton PT, Bae DS, Dyer GSM, Heng M, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of acute extremity compartment syndrome. Lancet 2015;386:1299-310. Erratum in: Lancet 2015;386:1824.
 Appelton, Paul T [corrected to Appleton, Paul T]. Erratum in: Lancet 2015;386:1824.
- 21. Guo J, Yin Y, Jin L, Zhang R, Hou Z, Zhang Y. Acute compartment syndrome: cause, diagnosis, and new viewpoint. Medicine (Baltimore) 2019;98:e16260.
- 22. Kim JW, Oh CW, Oh JK, Kyung HS, Park KH, Kim HJ, et al. Staged minimally invasive plate osteosynthesis of proximal tibial fractures with acute compartment syndrome. Injury 2017;48:1190-3.



Clinical and Radiological Findings of COVID-19 Pneumonia in Immunodeficient Patients: A Single Center Retrospective Analysis

😰 Naciye Kış, 🕲 Berrin Erok, 🕲 Melis Koşar Tunç, 🕲 Hülya Kurtul Yıldız, 🕲 Funda Şimşek, 🕲 Hakan Önder

University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Radiology, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: Various chest computed tomography (CT) manifestations of coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) pneumonia have been reported in immunocompetent patients. In immunodeficient patients, the clinical manifestations and chest CT imaging findings may differ from usual patterns and may cause mistakes in the diagnosis and management. We evaluated the chest CT manifestations in patients with immunosuppression from various causes and to compare with those seen in immunocompetent patients.

Methods: Forty-four immunodeficient and 44 immunocompetent patients with positive real-time reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction test for severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus-2 having suspicious chest CT manifestations were included and the chest CT images were retrospectively evaluated. The making manifestations were divided as typical findings including ground-glass opacity (GGO)and/ or consolidations, air bronchogram sign, crazy paving pattern, microvascular dilatation, halo sign&reverse halo signs and atypical findings including bronshiectasia, tree in bud appearance, pulmonary nodules, pleural effusion and cavitation.

Results: There were 28 males and 16 females in the immunodeficient group and 27 males and 17 females in the control group. A statistically significant difference was found in terms of the length of hospital stay and mortality. The most frequent symptom was fever in immunodeficient patients, while it was dyspnea in the control group. The most common underlying cause for immunosuppression was receiving chemo-radiotheraphy, and the lung&gastric cancers were the most common. In terms of CT features, GGO was the most common finding. A significant difference was found in crazy paving pattern and peripheral-subpleural distribution. Atypical findings were detected significantly higher in immunodeficient patients. When all patients considered together, there was a significant association between mortality and tree-in-bud appearance, pleural effusion, bronchiectasis.

Conclusion: In our study, there was an increased risk of more severe COVID-19 disease and a higher mortality rate in immunodeficient patients. Radiologists should consider COVID-19 pneumonia in cases of rare, atypical and vague CT findings in immunodeficient patients. Since the course of COVID-19 pneumonia may be more severe in immunodeficient patients, being aware of rare atypical findings will decrease morbidity and mortality rates.

Keywords: COVID-19, immunodeficiency, pneumonia

INTRODUCTION

The coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) presents mild-tomoderate upper and lower respiratory tract manifestations in most of the cases. However, particularly older patients or patients with underlying chronic disease progress to severe pneumonia associated with massive alveolar damage and acute respiratory failure. Moreover, as the pandemic progressed, various other systems like musculoskeletal system, central nervous system have been shown to be involved (1,2). Definitive diagnosis requires a positive real-time reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (rRT-PCR) test on respiratory specimens (3). Although, chest computed tomography (CT) is not recommended in the



Address for Correspondence: Berrin Erok, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Radiology, İstanbul, Turkey

Received: 14.10.2021 Accepted: 02.04.2022

Phone: +90 530 260 41 50 E-mail: drberinerok@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8036-547X Cite this article as: Kış N, Erok B, Koşar Tunç M, Kurtul Yıldız H, Şimşek F, Önder H. Clinical and Radiological Findings

of COVID-19 Pneumonia in Immunodeficient Patients: A Single Center Retrospective Analysis. Eur Arch Med Res 2022;38(3):220-226

©Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital European Archives of Medical Research published by Galenos Publishing House.

diagnosis and screening of the patients due to its lower specifity. it plays an important role with a low rate of missed diagnosis by revealing the abnormalities immediately. Various chest CT findings have been reported in COVID-19 patients, of which some are typical and frequently observed findings while others are atypical and rare. As shown in many studies and our previous studies, multifocal ground glass opacities (GGOs) with peripheral/ subpleural distribution and accompanying areas of consolidation are the most frequently observed scenerio in immunocompetent patients. Additionally, perilesional/intralesional microvascular dilatation, halo and reversed halo signs have been reported as guite characteristic CT features of COVID-19 pneumonia, observed more commonly than non-COVID-19 viral pneumonia (4-6). However, in immunodeficient patients the clinical manifestations and chest CT imaging findings may differ from these usual patterns and may cause mistakes in the diagnosis and management. In this study, we evaluated the chest CT imaging findings seen in patients with immunodeficiency from various causes and to compare with those seen in immunocompetent patients.

METHODS

Between 16 March-30 May 2020, 88 patients (44 immunodeficient and 44 immunocompetent) with positive rRT-PCR test for severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus-2 having uspicious chest CT imaging findings of COVID-19 pneumonia (typical or atypical) were included in the study and the chest CT images were retrospectively evaluated. The exclusion criteria included a paucity of clinical or radiological data, a significant artifact on CT images and being under the age of 18. The radiological findings have been divided as typical findings including GGOs and/or consolidations (non-lobar/non-segmental), air bronchogram sign, crazy paving pattern, microvascular dilatation, halo sign and reverse halo sign and atypical findings including bronshiectasia, tree in bud appearance, pulmonary nodules, pleural effusion and cavitation. Additionally, the distribution of the pneumonic infiltration, presenting symptoms, underlying causes of the immunodeficiency and comorbidities of the patients were recorded. Mortality rates and the length of hospital stay were used as clinical markers. Chest CT images were evaluated in consensus by two experienced radiologists (NK and BE).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical significance level was set as p<0.05.

RESULTS

There were 28 male and 16 female patients in the immunodeficient group and 27 male 17 female patients in the control group. The

mean age of the immunodeficient group was 58.6 ± 12.17 versus 58.9±10.9 years in the control group. There was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of age and gender. Accompanying comorbidities in patients are shown in (Figure 1). Nineteen (43.1%) patients in the immunodeficient group and 3 (6.8%) patients in the immunocompetent group died during hospital stay and the rest of them were discharged. Additionally, the mean length of hospital stay was 16.13±14.15 days in immunodeficient patients and 10.18±5.87 in the control group. A statistically significant difference was found between the two groups in terms of the length of hospital stay and mortality (p=0.012 and p<0.001, respectively) The most frequent symptom was fever (54.5%) in immunodeficient patients, whereas it was dyspnea (84.1%) in the control group and there was a statistically significant difference in symptoms including fever, dyspnea, and confusion between the two groups (p=0.005, p=0.005, and p=0.049, respectively) (Table 1). The most common underlying cause for immunodeficiency was receiving chemo-radiotheraphy for cancer, and the lung &gastric cancers were the most common (13.6% and 9.1%, respectively) (Table 2). In terms of CT features, GGO was the most common finding and was detected in all chest CT scans (Figures 2-4). A significant difference was found in crazy paving pattern and peripheral-subpleural distribution of lesions between the two groups (p=0.031 and p=0.006, respectively) (Figure 3). Atypical findings, including bronchiectasis, pulmonary nodules, tree-in-bud appearance, and pleural effusion were detected statistically significantly higher in immunodeficient patients (p=0.002, p=0.047, p<0.001 and p=0.001, respectively) (Figures 2, 3, 5-7). When all patients were considered together, there was a significant association between mortality and treein-bud appearance, pleural effusion, bronchiectasis (each of p < 0.05). In addition to these atypical findings, air bronchogram sign was associated with mortality (p < 0.05) (Table 3).



Figure 1. Distribution of comorbidities for both groups of the patients

Table 1. Demographics, prognosis and initial symptoms of the patients			
	Immunocompromised patients (n=44, %)	Immunocompetent patients (n=44, %)	p values
Demographic			
Gender			
-Male n (percentage)	28 (63.6%)	27 (61.3%)	p=0.826
-Female n (percentage)	16 (36.3%)	17 (38.6%)	
Age (years)			
-Range	30-77	33-86	p=0.898
-Mean (± SD)	58.6 <u>±12.17</u>	58.9±10.9	
Prognosis			
Length of hospital stay $(\pm 5D)$		10 10 + E 07 (2 20)	p=0.012*
-Mean $(\pm SD)$	16.13±14.15(1-73)	10.18±5.87 (3-30)	<u> </u>
Survey (mortality)	10 (42 20%)	2 (G 00/)	
- II (percentage)	19 (43.270)	5 (0.870)	p<0.001*
Symptoms			
Fever: n (percentage)	24 (54.5%)*	11 (25%)	p=0.005*
Dyspnea: n (percentage)	25 (56.8%)	37 (84.1%)*	p=0.005*
Cough: n (percentage)	17 (38.6%)	16 (36.4%)	p=0.826
Fatigue: n (percentage)	11 (25%)	6 (13.6%)	p=0.177
Loss of taste or smell: n (percentage)	12 (27.3%)	6 (13.6%)	p=0.113
Nausea and vomiting: n (percentage)	5 (11.4%)	2 (4.5%)	p=0.237
Myalgia: n (percentage)	9 (20.5%)	7 (15.9%)	p=0.580
Headache: n (percentage)	1 (2.3%)	1 (2.3%)	p=1.000
Confusion: n (percentage)	6 (13.6%)*	1 (2.3%)	p=0.049*
	<0.05) CD: Chan double doubting		

*There was statistically significant relationship between two groups (p value <0.05), SD: Standard deviation

Table 2. The cause of immunosuppression in the patients		
Underlying causes for immunosuppression	Frequency n=44, (100%)	
Lung cancer: n (percentage)	6 (13.6%)	
Gastric adenocarcinoma: n (percentage)	4 (9.1%)	
Non-Hodgkin lymphoma: n (percentage) Multiple myeloma: n (percentage) Acute myeloid leukemia: n (percentage)	Each of 3 (6.8%)	
Breast cancer: n (percentage) Esophageal cancer: n (percentage) Endometrial cancer: n (percentage) Pancreatic cancer: n (percentage) Unknown primary: n (percentage)	Each of 2 (4.5%)	
Hepatocellular cancer: n (percentage) Renal cell carcinoma: n (percentage) Liver transplantation: n (percentage) Cholangiocellular cancer: n (percentage) Testicular tumor: n (percentage) Femur osteosarcoma: n (percentage) Glioblastoma multiforme: n (percentage) HIV: n (percentage) HIV+ lung cancer: n (percentage) Malignant melanoma: n (percentage) Bladder cancer: n (percentage) Myastenia gravis: n (percentage) Hairy cell leukemia: n (percentage) Tongue cancer: n (percentage)	Each of 1 (2.3%)	

DISCUSSION

Immunodeficiency is one of the important underlying conditions that may be associated with a more severe course of most viral

infectious pneumonia, including influenza (7). It could also be pre prepared for COVID-19. However, there are currently limited data on the prognosis, clinical presentations and the CT imaging findings of the disease in immunodeficient patients, which may differ from those seen in immunocompetent adults. Reported studies also have conflicting results. Some studies have shown that the mortality and morbidity of COVID-19 is higher in immunodeficient patients due to the higher levels of viral load (8-10), while other studies reported no statistically significant risk of more severe COVID-19 in these patients (11). Previously, some viral respiratory infections were shown to be associated with more severe manifestations in patients on longterm immunosuppressive medications (12,13). A prospective cohort monitoring COVID-19 cases throughout China revealed poorer outcomes from COVID-19 in patients with cancer with a higher risk of severe events including admission to the intensive care unit, requiring invasive ventilation, and death compared with patients without cancer (14). However, any significant differences were not found in the study by Miyashita et al. (15) regarding COVID-19 mortality among 334 patients with cancer compared with those without cancer. Moreover, as the pandemic progresses corticosteroids decreases mortality in patients with severe COVID-19 pneumonia, implying a favorable effect of suppressed immune response during the disease (16). In COVID-19, a hyperinflammatory state with increased levels of cytokines, including IL-6, is generated and



Figure 2. Axial CT images showing. A) Multifocal/multilobar GGOs with predominantly peripheral in distribution (A, black arrows) in a 61-yearold immunocompetent male patient presenting with cough, myalgia, and dyspnea, who had no comorbidities and who was discharged from the hospital 19 days later. Note also the perilesional (A, white arrow) and intralesional (A, red arrow) microvascular proliferation and B) A patchy peripheral GGO with superimposed areas of consolidations in the right middle lobe (B, black arrow) in a 69-year-old immunocompromised male patient presenting with cough, fatigue, and fever, who had a history of gastric cancer and died 24 days after being hospitalized for COVID-19 pneumonia. Note the presence of obvious bilateral pleural effusion (B, white arrows) in this immunocompromised patient in addition to multiple small centrilobular nodules with tree-in-bud appearances (B, red arrow) in the left lung, which was probably associated with bacterial superinfection

GGOs: Ground glass opacities, COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019, CT: Computed tomography



Figure 3. Axial CT images showing. A) Bilateral patchy and confluent GGOs predominantly peripheral in distribution (A, white arrows) mixed with areas of irregular consolidations (A, red arrows) in a 43-year-old immunocompromised male patient presenting with fever, cough, confusion, and dyspnea, who had testicular carcinoma with pulmonary metastases and died 9 days after being hospitalized for COVID-19 pneumonia. Note also the multiple pulmonary metastases seen as cystic lesions following chemotherapy (A, black arrows). B) Unilateral GGOs without peripheral predominance (B, thick black arrows) associated with areas of superimposed consolidations (B, red arrows) and reticulation resulting in crazy paving pattern (B, black arrow) and an air bronchogram sign (B thin black arrow) in the right lung in a 49-year-old immunocompromised female patient presenting with dyspnea, myalgia and fever, who had a history of lung cancer with liver metastases and died 7 days after being hospitalized for COVID-19 pneumonia. Note the presence of bilateral moderate pleural effusions (B, black arrowheads) and multiple small centrilobular nodules with tree-in- bud appearances (B, red arrowheads) in the left lung, which was probably associated with bacterial superinfection. The interlobar pleural thickening is also seen (B, white arrowhead)

GGOs: Ground glass opacities, COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019, CT: Computed tomography

suggested as an endogenous pathway in the pathophysiology of both pulmonary damage and multiorgan complications



Figure 4. Axial CT images showing. A) bilateral patchy multifocal GGOs predominantly peripheral in distribution (A, black arrows) in a 56-year-old immunocompetent female patient presenting with cough and dyspnea, who had a history of hypertension, type 2 diabetes mellitus and asthma, who was discharged from the hospital 7 days after being hospitalized for COVID-19 pneumonia. Note also the intralesional microvascular dilatations (A, red arrows). B) Bilateral GGOs involving wide areas in the lower lobes (B, black arrows) associated with intralesional microvascular dilatation (B, thick black arrow) in a 61-year-old immunocompetent male patient presenting with dyspnea and cough, who died 30 days after being hospitalized for COVID-19 pneumonia. Note also the presence of fibrotic streaks associated with the GGOs (B, red arrows)

GGOs: Ground glass opacities, COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019, CT: Computed tomography



Figure 5. Axial CT images showing. A) multifocal peripheral and central/peribronchovascular GGOs superimposed with reticularion resulting in crazy paving pattern (A, black arrows) in a 33-year-old immunocompetent patient presenting with cough, dyspnea, and chest pain, who had a history of the atrial septal defect and who was discharged 15 days after being hospitalized for COVID-19 pneumonia in a 55-year-old immunocompromised patient presenting with fever, cough, dyspnea, and weakness. Note also the perilesional (A, white arrow) and intralesional (A, red arrow) microvascular dilatations B) Bilateral consolidative opacities at the circumferences of structural damaged emphysematous pulmonary parenchyma, which is more prominent in the right lung (B, black arrows). Note the presence of bilateral pleural effusion (B red arrows) in this immunocompromised patient presenting with fever, dyspnea, and cough who had a history of essential thrombocytosis and died 15 days after being hospitalized for COVID-19

CT: Computed tomography, GGOs: Ground glass opacities, COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019

of the disease, which is known as a cytokine storm. This could be expected to be less likely and milder in severity in immunodeficient patients (17-20). Similarly, the evaluation of 110 immunodeficient patients with COVID-19 obtained from a systematic review of 16 articles revealed that immunodeficient

patients seemed to have a favorable course (21). Additionally, a statistically significant risk of severe COVID-19 was not found among immunodeficient patients in a meta-analysis from China (22). However, the lack of a normal immune response can also be associated with the lack of protective antiinflammatory effects and higher possibility of developing co-infections in this



Figure 6. Axial CT images showing. A) Bilateral nodular pulmonary infiltration predominantly peripheral in distribution (A, black arrows) in a 30-year-old immunocompromised female patient presenting with cough, fatigue, and nausea who had a history of esophageal cancer and was discharged from the hospital 8 days after being hospitalized for COVID-19 pneumonia. Note also the subpleural GGOs (A, red arrow) and consolidations (A, white arrows). B) GGOs surrounding the nodular consolidations in the right lower lobe resulting in halo sign (B, red arrow) in a 51-year-old immunocompromised female patient presenting with fever and dyspnea, who had a history of diffuse large B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma was discharged from the hospital 10 days after being hospitalized for COVID-19 pneumonia

CT: Computed tomography, GGOs: Ground glass opacities, COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019



Figure 7. Axial CT image showing irregular consolidative infiltration in association with patch bilateral GGOs (black arrows) in a 71-yearold immunocompromised male patient presenting with dyspnea and fatigue who had a history of lung cancer, hypertension, type 2 diabetes mellitus and who was discharged from the hospital 14 days after being hospitalized for COVID-19 pneumonia. Note also bilateral small amounts of pleural effusion (red arrows) and the irregularly dilated bronchioles (bronchiectasis) (white arrow) in association with the pneumonic infiltration in the left lower lobe

CT: Computed tomography, GGOs: Ground glass opacities, COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019

Table 3. Chest CT findings of the patients			
Chest CT findings	Immunocompromised patients (n=44, %)	Immunocompetent patients (n=44, %)	p values
Typical findings	44 (100%)	44 (100%)	*
GGO + consolidation: n (percentage)	30 (68.2%)	23 (52.3%)	0.127
Crazy paving pattern: n (percentage)	20 (45.5%)	30 (68.2%)	0.031** 0.107
Halo sign: n (percentage)	13 (29.5%)	10 (22.7%)	0.467
Microvascular dilatation: n (percentage)	13 (29.5%)	16 (36.4%) 0 (0%)	0.496 *
All lobes involvement: n (percentage)	37 (84.1%)	40 (90.9%)	0.334
Peripheral-subpleural involvement: n (percentage) Peribronchovascular involvement: n (percentage)	37 (84.1%) 35 (79.5%)	44 (100%)* 31 (70.5%)	0.006 ** 0.325
Atypical findings			
Bronchiectasis: n (percentage)	13 (29.5%)	2 (4.5%)	0.002**
Tree-in-bud appearance: n (percentage)	18 (40.9%)	1 (2.3%)	<0.001**
Pleural effusion: n (percentage)	18 (40.9%)	4 (9.1%)	0.001**
Cavitation: n (percentage)	0 (0%)	4 (9.1%) 0 (0%)	0.334 *
Distribution of lesions			
One lobe involvement: n (percentage)	7 (15.9%)	4 (9.1%)	0.334
Peripheral-subpleural distribution: n (percentage)	37 (84.1%)	40 (90.9%) 44 (100%)*	0.006**
Peribronchovasculary distribution: n (percentage)	35 (79.5%)	31 (70.5%)	0.325
* It was not statistically calculated, ** There is statistically significant difference between two groups. CT: Computed tomography, GGO: Ground glass opacity			

patient group, which may be associated with higher mortality. A large retrospective national cohort study from Spain showed that immunodeficient patients hospitalized with COVID-19 have higher odds of in-hospital death and complications than immunocompetent patients. These groups were reported as the vulnerable population for complicated COVID-19 and suggested to be closely monitored (23). Similarly, our study revealed a significantly higher mortality rate in immunodeficient patients than in the immunocompetent patients, regardless of the age. When we looked at the underlying causes for immunodeficiency in our patients, the most common were being under treatment for cancer, which may be the reason for this higher mortality. Some recent reports revealed a similarly high mortality rate in cancer patients with COVID-19 (24). Reports regarding the chest CT imaging findings in immunodeficient patients with COVID-19 pneumonia are scarce in the current literature. Severe pulmonary sequelae has been reported in a 12-year-old child with primary immunodeficiency during the follow-up of COVID-19 pneumonia (25). Bilateral GGOs with multiple nodules complicated with pneumothorax, pneumomediastinum and pneumopericardium has been reported in a 28-year-old woman with a medical history of combined variable immunodeficiency under treatment with intravenous immune globulin (26). In the study by Abrishami et al. (27) most chest CT findings in kidney transplant recipients on immunosuppression were found to be similar to those from other adult studies for the general population. They only reported unilateral involvement and consolidation as slightly more frequent in their patients (27). In our study, the most common chest CT finding was also GGO with or without accompanying consolidations, which is the most frequent imaging finding of COVID-19 in general population reported in the literature. However, in our study, the crazy paving pattern, which is consistent with the progressive phase of the disease was observed statistically significantly higher in the immunocompetent group. Peripheral/subpleural distribution of the infiltration was also observed significantly higher in immunocompetent patients. A significant correlation was found between the immunodeficient patient group and atypical radiological findings, including bronshiectasia, tree in bud appearance, pulmonary nodules, and pleural effusion. Our study also revealed a significant association between mortality and atypical findings, which were statistically significantly more frequent in immunodeficient patients.

Study Limitations

The limitations of our study included, the limited number of patients, the retrospective nature of the study, not being able to evaluation in terms of superinfection, which may be a confounder of the chest CT findings observed, particularly immunodeficient patients who may be more susceptible to secondary bacterial infections.

CONCLUSION

In our study, it was determined that there was an increased risk of more severe COVID-19 disease and a higher mortality rate in immunodeficient patients. Radiologists should consider COVID-19 pneumonia in cases of rare, atypical and vague CT findings in immunodeficient patients. Since the course of COVID-19 pneumonia may be more severe in immunodeficient patients, the detection of chest CT findings of the diagnosed patients and knowing the typical and atypical findings will decrease morbidity and mortality rates with a more accurate interpretation.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: This study was approved by the Clinical Research Ethics Committee of University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital (no: 48670771-514.10).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: N.K., H.K.Y., F.Ş., H.Ö., Design: N.K., B.E., H.K.Y., F.Ş., H.Ö., Data Collection or Processing: N.K., B.E., M.K.T., Analysis or Interpretation: N.K., B.E., H.Ö., Literature Search: N.K., B.E., Writing: N.K., B.E., M.K.T.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Erok B, Kıbıcı K. COVID-19 infection manifesting with lumbar spondylodiscitis complicating with psoas abscess without pneumonia. Indian Journal of Neurosurgery 2021-2021 December 24. DOI https:// doi.org/10.1055/s-0041-1741405. [Epub ahead of print].
- Erok B, Atca AÖ, Önder H. Neurological complications encountered in imaging studies in association with COVID-19 – a single center analysis. Eur J Clin Exp Med 2022;20:5-10.
- 3. Yang W, Yan F. Patients with RT-PCR-confirmed COVID-19 and normal chest CT. Radiology 2020;295:E3.
- 4. Erok B, Atca AÖ. Chest CT imaging features of early phase COVID-19 pneumonia. Acta Medica Mediterranea 2021;37:501-7.

- Erok B, Atça AÖ, Kıbıcı K. Chest CT imaging features of progressive phase COVID-19 pneumonia and evolution of findings. Acta Medica Mediterranea 2021;37:487-94.
- Salehi S, Abedi A, Balakrishnan S, Gholamrezanezhad A. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a systematic review of imaging findings in 919 patients. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2020;215:87-93.
- Memoli MJ, Athota R, Reed S, Czajkowski L, Bristol T, Proudfoot K, et al. The natural history of influenza infection in the severely immunocompromised vs nonimmunocompromised hosts. Clin Infect Dis 2014;58:214-24.
- 8. Fung M, Babik JM. COVID-19 in immunocompromised hosts: what we know so far. Clin Infect Dis 2021;72:340-50.
- Vaid N, Ardissino M, Reed TAN, Goodall J, Utting P, Miscampbell M, et al. Clinical characteristics and outcomes of immunosuppressed patients hospitalized with COVID-19: experience from London. J Intern Med 2021;289:385-94.
- 10. Chen Y, Li L. SARS-CoV-2: virus dynamics and host response. Lancet Infect Dis 2020;20:515-6.
- 11. D'Antiga L. Coronaviruses and immunosuppressed patients: the facts during the third epidemic. Liver Transpl 2020;26:832-4.
- Cordero E, Aydillo T, Fariñas MC, Paño-Pardo JR, Pachón J, Viasus D, et al. Immunosuppressed patients with pandemic influenza A 2009 (H1N1) virus infection. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2012;31:547-56.
- 13. Godbole G, Gant V. Respiratory tract infections in the immunocompromised. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2013;19:244-50.
- 14. Liang W, Guan W, Chen R, Wang W, Li J, Xu K, et al. Cancer patients in SARS-CoV-2 infection: a nationwide analysis in China. Lancet Oncol 2020;21:335-7.
- 15. Miyashita H, Mikami T, Chopra N, Yamada T, Chernyavsky S, Rizk D, et al. Do patients with cancer have a poorer prognosis of COVID-19? An experience in New York City. Ann Oncol 2020;31:1088-9.
- 16. RECOVERY Collaborative Group, Horby P, Lim WS, Emberson JR, Mafham M, Bell JL, et al. Dexamethasone in hospitalized patients with Covid-19. N Engl J Med 2021;384:693-704.

- Moore JB, June CH. Cytokine release syndrome in severe COVID-19. Science 2020;368:473-4.
- Fajgenbaum DC, June CH. Cytokine storm. N Engl J Med 2020;383:2255-73.
- Siddiqi HK, Mehra MR. COVID-19 illness in native and immunosuppressed states: a clinical-therapeutic staging proposal. J Heart Lung Transplant 2020;39:405-7.
- 20. Ye Q, Wang B, Mao J. The pathogenesis and treatment of the `Cytokine Storm' in COVID-19. J Infect 2020;80:607-13.
- 21. Minotti C, Tirelli F, Barbieri E, Giaquinto C, Donà D. How is immunosuppressive status affecting children and adults in SARS-CoV-2 infection? A systematic review. J Infect 2020;81:e61-6.
- 22. Gao Y, Chen Y, Liu M, Shi S, Tian J. Impacts of immunosuppression and immunodeficiency on COVID-19: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Infect 2020;81:e93-5.
- Suárez-García I, Perales-Fraile I, González-García A, Muñoz-Blanco A, Manzano L, Fabregate M, et al. In-hospital mortality among immunosuppressed patients with COVID-19: analysis from a national cohort in Spain. PLoS One 2021;16:e0255524.
- 24. Yang K, Sheng Y, Huang C, Jin Y, Xiong N, Jiang K, et al. Clinical characteristics, outcomes, and risk factors for mortality in patients with cancer and COVID-19 in Hubei, China: a multicentre, retrospective, cohort study. The Lancet Oncol 2020;21:904-13.
- Fernández-Suárez S, Reyes-Florian G, Vásquez-Hoyos P, Domínguez-Rojas JA. Persistent COVID-19 lung infection in a child with a primary immunodeficiency. BMJ Case Rep 2021;14:e244768.
- Tehrani S, Ziaie S, Kashefizadeh A, Fadaei M, Najafiarab H, Keyvanfar A. Case report: pneumonia in a patient with combined variable immunodeficiency: COVID-19 or pneumocystis pneumonia? Front Med (Lausanne) 2022;9:814300.
- 27. Abrishami A, Samavat S, Behnam B, Arab-Ahmadi M, Nafar M, Sanei Taheri M. Clinical course, imaging features, and outcomes of COVID-19 in kidney transplant recipients. Eur Urol 2020;78:281-6.



Hyaline-vascular Adrenal Castleman's Disease Mimicking an Adrenal Neoplasm

📵 Berrin Erok, 🕲 Taha Oğuz Keklikoğlu, 🕲 Suzan Deniz Önol, 🕲 Deniz Alagöz, 🕲 İlknur Mansuroğlu, 🕲 Hakan Önder

University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of of Radiology, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Castleman's disease (CD), also known as angiofollicular lymph node hyperplasia, is an uncommon, benign B-cell lymphoproliferative disorder. Adrenal CD is an extremely rare lesion of the adrenal gland that mimics other adrenal neoplasms reported only in a few cases in the literature. We presented a large-sized right adrenal CD, which was found incidentally in a 46-year-old male patient during the evaluation for coronavirus disease-2019 pneumonia. Although imaging features overlap with other hypervascular adrenal neoplasms, CD should also be considered in the differential diagnosis of the adrenal masses, particularly when it is relatively well defined with homogenous attenuation and enhancement despite its large size.

Keywords: Castleman's disease, adrenal neoplasm, hypervascular adrenal mass

INTRODUCTION

Castleman's disease (CD), also known as angiofollicular lymph node hyperplasia, is an uncommon, benign B-cell lymphoproliferative disorder that preserves the lymph node architecture. The mediastinum is the most common part of involvement, however anywhere in the body can be involved, including both nodal, and extranodal sites (1). These lesions are rarely reported in the literature as a mimicked of other neoplasms of the associated organs, including a mimicked of a gastric submucosal leiomyoma, a mass of pancreatic head, a mesenteric mass, or a mimicked of renal cell carcinoma (2-4). We present a large-sized right adrenal CD which was found incidentally in a 46-year-old male patient during the evaluation for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pneumonia.

CASE PRESENTATION

A 46-year-old male patient with a 25 pack-year smoking history was admitted to our hospital with suspicion of COVID-19. On the upper abdominal images of the chest computed tomography (CT), a 56x30 mm sized relatively well-defined soft tissue density lesion compressing the inferior vena cava was incidentally established at the right adrenal location. Only the medial limb of the adrenal gland was visible and the interface of mass with the remaining parts of the adrenal gland could not be discerned (Figure 1). The density of the mass on non-contrast CT was incompatible with a lipid-rich adenoma. On wash-out imaging, progressive enhancement was observed as opposed to that expected from lipid-poor adenoma and pheochromocytoma. There was no associated retroperitoneal lymph nodes or peritoneal thickening around the mass. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) did not show the characteristic bright T2w signal intensity of the pheochromocytoma. On chemical shift imaging, there was no signal drop in the out of phase images to suggest intravoxel (intracellular) lipid (Figure 2). He had no history of malignancy. At that time, positron emission tomography-CT reported minimally increased fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) uptake (maximum standardized uptake value: 3.5) (Figure 3). With the suspicion of malignancy, surgical excision with inevitable right adrenalectomy was performed. Histopathological evaluation of



Address for Correspondence: Berrin Erok, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of of Radiology, İstanbul, Turkey

Phone: +90 530 260 41 50 E-mail: drberrinerok@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8036-547X

Cite this article as: Erok B, Keklikoğlu TO, Önol SD, Alagöz D, Mansuroğlu İ, Önder H. Hyaline-vascular Adrenal Castleman's Disease Mimicking an Adrenal Neoplasm. Eur Arch Med Res 2022;38(3):227-229

©Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital European Archives of Medical Research published by Galenos Publishing House. Received: 02.10.2021 Accepted: 05.07.2022 the lesion revealed hyalin vascular type adrenal CD (Figure 4). Informed consent has been taken from the patient.

DISCUSSION

CD is a rare benign lymphoproliferative disease with not wellknown etiology and pathogenesis, although chronic low-grade inflammatory states and autoimmunity have been suggested (5). There are two distinct clinical subtypes including the unicentric (localized) CD and multicentric CD. Unicentric CD is more common occurring usually in young adults and is usually asymptomatic, if there are no symptoms resulting from the



Figure 1. (A, B) Non-contrast CT images showing the right adrenal massmeasuring 56x30 mm on coronal image (A, arrow). On axial images the lateral limb of the right adrenal gland is shown, but corpus of the rest of the gland was not visible (B, white arrow). The part of the mass that should not be discerned from the adrenal gland is shown (B, red arrow). (C-E) Contrast washout CT scan demonstrates soft tissue density of the lesion on non-contrast CT (C) and progressive enhancement during the arterial (D) and venous (E) phases CT: Computed tomography



Figure 2. Magnetic resonance imaging showing the mass on T2w image having high signal intensity relative to the liver but not as much as expected from a pheochromocytoma (A, arrow). Precontrast T1w (B, arrow) and postcontrast T1w (C) images show homogenous enhancement of the lesion (C, arrow). There was no drop in signal intensity out of phase imaging (A; in phase and B; out of phase)

localized pressure of the mass. In our patient, the right adrenal mass was incidentally found during the evaluation of COVID-19 pneumonia at the upper abdominal images included to the chest CT. On the other hand, the multicentric CD, which occurs more commonly in older patents is a systemic disease associated with a poor prognosis (6,7). The histopathological variants are hyaline vascular type, plasma cell type, and mixed-type. While the unicentric CD occurs in the form of a hyaline vascular type, which is seen in about 90% of the cases, most of the multicentric CD demonstrates the plasma cell type (5,7). Reported in only a few cases in the literature, adrenal CD is an extremely rare mass lesion of adrenal gland mimicking other adrenal neoplasms (8,9). The hyaline vascular type is characterized with a high number of blood vessels in relation with abnormal lymphoid follicles in contrast to the plasma cell type, which is associated with little number of vessels along with mature plasma cells (4). Because to the rarity of the adrenal CD and the absence of well defined specific radiological imaging findings, the preoperative diagnosis is very difficult. On radiological imaging, the unicentric hyalin vascular type CD is seen as a solitary mass usually homogenous in attenuation with prominent and usually homogenous contrast enhancement due to its highly



Figure 3. FDG-PET/CT showing minimally increased focal FDG uptake at the central part of the lesion (arrow)

FDG: Fluorodeoxyglucose, PET: Positron emission tomography, CT: Computed tomography



Figure 4: Microscopic appearance of the lesion (A) hematoxylin-eosin stain X 40 and (B) hematoxylin-eosin stain X 100 show lymphoid follicles with small hyalinized germinal centers and a broad mantle zone in association with prominent vascular proliferation in interfollicular areas

vascular nature. Although adrenal cortical carcinoma and pheochromocytoma generally have generally heterogeneous attenuation and enhancement pattern, large CD lesions with necrotic parts may also show heterogeneous enhancement and should be considered in the differential diagnosis. In some case reports, peripheral rim like enhancement has been shown in association with marked peripheral capillary vessels seen on the microscopic evaluation of hyalin vascular CD. In these case reports, peritoneal thickening surrounding the mass has also been demonstrated and attributed to reactive peritoneal hyperplasia (9,10). Some internal calcifications may also present in the hyalin vascular CD. In our patient, the right large-adrenal mass showed soft tissue density on non-enhanced CT images without any peritoneal thickening and internal calcifications. Washout CT imaging and MRI have revealed progressive intense enhancement during arterial and venous phases. Additionally, the density on early phases was not as high as was expected from a pheochromocytoma. The absence of intracellular lipid has also been verified by chemical shift MRI with a demonstration of the absence of a signal drop on the opposite phase. Minimal FDG uptake was present. Although there were no areas of hemorrhage or necrosis as expected from such a large adrenal cortical carcinoma or there was no history of primary malignancy to suggest metastasis, due to the overlapping imaging findings, histopathological diagnosis was needed.

CONCLUSION

Adrenal CD is an extremely rare lesions of the adrenal gland. Although imaging features overlap with other adrenal neoplasms, CD should also be considered in the differential diagnosis of the adrenal masses, particularly when it is relatively well defined with homogenous attenuation and enhancement despite its large size.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Informed consent has been taken from the patient.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: B.E., S.D.Ö., D.A., H.Ö., Design: B.E., S.D.Ö., D.A., Data Collection or Processing: B.E., T.O.K., İ.M., Analysis or Interpretation: B.E., H.Ö., Literature Search: B.E., T.O.K., Writing: B.E., İ.M.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- 1. Bonekamp D, Horton KM, Hruban RH, Fishman EK. Castleman disease: the great mimic. Radiographics 2011;31:1793-807.
- Chou SP, Chen LK, Lo SS, Li AF, Chang FC, Hwang SJ. Hyaline-vascular variant of Castleman's disease mimicking a gastric submucosal tumor. J Chin Med Assoc 2004;67:152-5.
- Ozsoy M, Ozsoy Z, Sahin S, Arıkan Y. Rare forms of Castleman disease mimicking malignancy: mesenteric and pancreatic involvement. Cureus 2018;10:e2310.
- 4. Ko HS, Woo JY, Hong HS, Jung AY, Yang I, Lee Y. Castleman disease in the kidney and retroperitoneum mimicking renal cell carcinoma with retroperitoneal lymphadenopathy: a case report. J Korean Soc Radiol 2012;67:397-400.
- Keller AR, Hochholzer L, Castleman B. Hyaline-vascular and plasma-cell types of giant lymph node hyperplasia of the mediastinum and other locations. Cancer 1972;29:670-83.
- 6. Soumerai JD, Sohani AR, Abramson JS. Diagnosis and management of Castleman disease. Cancer Control 2014;21:266-78.
- Cronin DM, Warnke RA. Castleman disease: an update on classification and the spectrum of associated lesions. Adv Anat Pathol 2009;16:236-46.
- 8. Müssig K, Horger M, Wehrmann M. Adrenal Castleman's disease. Ann Hematol 2007;86:63-5.
- Hong SB, Lee NK, Kim S, Han GJ, Ha HK, Ku JY, et al. Adrenal Castleman's disease mimicking other adrenal neoplasms: a case report. J Korean Soc Radiol 2017;76:73-7.
- Zheng X, Pan K, Cheng J, Dong L, Yang K, Wu E. Localized Castleman disease in retroperitoneum: newly discovered features by multidetector helical CT. Abdom Imaging 2008;33:489-92.



Signet Ring Basal Cell Carcinoma: An Extraordinary Case

DÖzben Yalçın, DBuse Akı, DSeden Atike Arsoy

University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Pathology, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Basal cell carcinomas are slow-growing, locally aggressive tumors arising from the interfollicular epidermis and/or hair follicle. Here, a 74-year-old man presented with an irregular nodule 2.5x2 cm in size on the left ala of the nose for 3 years. On light microscopy the signet ring cell configuration was observed among neoplastic cells focally (in some areas). The most prominent feature was cells containing large eosinophilic, pink, eccentric intracytoplasmic inclusions that compress the nuclei to the cell border. The cell inclusions did not stain with periodic acid schiff and alcian blue pH 2.5. The tumor cells were positive for Ber-EP4 but negative for S-100.

Keywords: Signet ring cell, basal cell carcinoma, dermatopathology

INTRODUCTION

Basal cell carcinomas (BCCs) are slow-growing, locally aggressive tumors originating from interfollicular epidermis and/or hair follicle (1). It is the most common malignancy in fair skinned populations worldwide and has many histological variants including nodular, superficial, basosquamous, infiltrating etc. (1). Although there is no specific statistical ratio regarding its prevalence in the literature, we know that signet ring cell BCC is a very rare variant of BCC that tumor cells contain large, pink, eosinophilic, eccentric intracytoplasmic inclusions that crescentically compress nuclei to the cell border (2).

CASE PRESENTATION

A 74-year-old man presented with an irregular nodule 2.5x2 cm in size on the left ala of nose for 3 years. The patient was evaluated as fitz patrick type 3 on physical examination. The lesion was diagnosed as BCC by incisional biopsy and than a wide excision was performed.

Histopathological and Immunohistochemical Findings

On light microscopy the tumor consists of islands of basaloid cells with peripheral palisading, clefts separating

neoplastic epithelium and intervening fibroblastic stroma (retraction artefact) (Figure 1). Signet ring cell configuration was observed among neoplastic cells focally. The most prominent feature was cells containing large eosinophilic, pink, eccentric intracytoplasmic inclusions, which compress the nuclei in a few lobules (Figure 2A-C). The cell inclusions did not stain with periodic acid schiff (PAS) (Figure 3) and alcian blue pH 2.5 (Figure 4). Tumor cells were positive for Ber-EP4 (Figure 5) but negative for S-100 except for some



Figure 1. Peripheral palizading basaloid cells (black arrows), clefts seperating neoplastic epitelium and intervening fibroblastic stroma (white arrows), hematoxylin and eosin, X40



Address for Correspondence: Buse Akı, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Pathology, İstanbul, Turkey

Received: 08.09.2022 Accepted: 08.09.2022

Phone: +90 543 581 11 20 E-mail: busseeyildirim@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-1539-9427

Cite this article as: Yalçın Ö, Akı B, Arsoy SA. Signet Ring Basal Cell Carcinoma: An Extraordinary Case. Eur Arch Med Res 2022;38(3):230-232

©Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital European Archives of Medical Research published by Galenos Publishing House. cells corresponding to Langerhans cells, which are scattered within tumor islands (Figure 6).

DISCUSSION

Although BCC is the most common cutaneous malignancy, signet ring cell BCCs are rare in routine and our case was not a pure signet ring cell variant as well. At this point, the overall pattern of the



Figure 2. A, B) Signet ring cell configuration among neoplastic cells focally (white circles)



Figure 2. C) The cells containing large, pink, eccentric intracytoplasmic inclusions that compress the nuclei (black arrows)



Figure 3. Signet ring tumor cells are negative for PAS, x100 PAS: Periodic acid schiff

neoplasm becomes the most important diagnostic criterion for histological evaluation (3). Although the characteristic features are well-known of BCC, pathologists may consider metastasis of an adenocarcinoma when observing signet ring cells in a skin



Figure 4. Signet ring tumor cells are negative for Alcian blue pH 2,5, X200



Figure 5. Tumor cells were positive for Ber-EP4. Signet ring cell group also positive for Ber-EP4 (red circle), X100



Figure 6. Tumor cells are negative for S-100 except for some cells corresponding to Langerhans cells which are scattered within tumor islands, X200

neoplasm. Nuclear pleomorphism, hyperchromatism, mitotic activity, a type of infiltration (e.g. diffuse patern supports metastasis), and clinical correlation could help to distinction between metastasis and BCC (4). In cutaneous metastases of visceral adenocarcinomas, there is nuclear displacement because of cytoplasmic musin deposition, which giving signet ring shape to the cell. Therefore, neoplastic cells are stained with PAS and D-PAS (3). In metastatic lesions, typically there is a diffuse dermal infiltrate. Additionally the overlying epidermis is intact and there is an underlying spared zone of uninvolved dermis which is called grenz zone (5). Also the neoplastic cells are generally positive for carcinoembryonic antigen (3). Primary cutaneous signet ring cell neoplasms can also be seen like trichilemmal carcinoma, signet ring cell lymphoma, signaling ring cell squamous cell carcinoma (SCC), sebaceous carcinoma, signet ring melanoma except for metastatic adenocarcinomas (5). In trichilemmal carcinoma, there are foci of keratinization, PAS-positive tumor cells, lobular architecture composed of large atypical cells with clear cytoplasm and prominent nucleoli. This neoplasm is usually deeply seated with no connection to the epidermis and there is no normal pilar structures (6). In signet ring cell lymphomas, tumor cells may have abundant clear or vacuolated cytoplasm that giving shape to cell signet ring appearance mostly because of the abnormal membrane recycling or secretion of immunoglobulin and either B or T-cell markers are positive immunohistochemically (7,8).

In signet ring cell SCCs are negative for BREP4 and CD10 (9). In sebaceous carcinomas are characterized by lobular formations of sebaceous and undifferentiated basaloid cells. Also, the sebaceous cells show foamy, microvesicular cytoplasm instead of a signet ring shape (6). Sebaceous carcinoma shows immun reactivity for CKPAN, EMA, adiphopilin and perilipin (10). Signet ring melanoma stain for melanocyte markers such as HBM-45, Melan-A, and S-100.

To sum up, signet ring cells are uncharacteristic of any particular primary or secondary cutaneous neoplasm. We attach great importance to histomorphology in the differential diagnosis since BCC has well-known diagnostic criteria such as peripheral palisading, retraction artefact, tumor nests. We report this case due to the limited number of studies in the literature about signet ring cell BCC.

CONCLUSION

This case report and similar studies could make it easier to recognize this tumor. Further studies including more cases

would be necessary to clarify the clinical behavior and nature of signaling ring cell BCCs.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Patient consent could not be received from the patient due to the retrospective design of the study.

Peer-review: Internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Ö.Y., B.A., S.A.A., Concept: Ö.Y., B.A., S.A.A., Design: Ö.Y., B.A., S.A.A., Data Collection or Processing: Ö.Y., B.A., S.A.A., Analysis or Interpretation: Ö.Y., B.A., S.A.A., Literature Search: Ö.Y., B.A., S.A.A., Writing: Ö.Y., B.A., S.A.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Lomas A, Leonardi-Bee J, Bath-Hextall F. A systematic review of worldwide incidence of nonmelanoma skin cancer. Br J Dermatol 2012;166:1069-80.
- White GM, Barr RJ, Liao SY. Signet ring cell basal cell carcinoma. Am J Dermatopathol 1991;13:288-92.
- Aroni K, Lazaris AC, Nikolaou I, Saetta A, Kavantzas N, Davaris PS. Signet ring basal cell carcinoma. A case study emphasizing the differential diagnosis of neoplasms with signet ring cell formation. Pathol Res Pract 2001;197:853-6. Erratum in: Pathol Res Pract 2002;198:64.
- 4. Lowe L, Rapini RP. Newer variants and simulants of basal cell carcinoma. J Dermatol Surg Oncol 1991;17:641-8.
- 5. Bastian BC, Kutzner H, Yen Ts, LeBoit PE. Signet-ring cell formation in cutaneous neoplasms. J Am Acad Dermatol 1999;41:606-13.
- 6. Cohen RE, Zaim MT. Signet-ring clear-cell basal cell carcinoma. J Cutan Pathol 1988;15:183-7.
- Zhang S, Sun J, Fang Y, Nassiri M, Liu L, Zhou J, et al. Signet-ring cell lymphoma: clinicopathologic, immunohistochemical, and fluorescence in situ hybridization studies of 7 cases. Ann Diagn Pathol 2017;26:38-42.
- 8. Moran CA, Suster S, Abbondanzo SL. Cutaneous B-cell lymphoma with signet ring-cell morphology: a clinicopathologic and immunohistochemical study of three cases. Am J Dermatopathol 2001;23:181-4.
- 9. El Demellawy D, Onuma K, Alowami S. Signet ring squamous cell carcinoma--the forgotten variant: case report and review of the literature. J Cutan Pathol 2011;38:306-8.
- 10. Ostler DA, Prieto VG, Reed JA, Deavers MT, Lazar AJ, Ivan D. Adipophilin expression in sebaceous tumors and other cutaneous lesions with clear cell histology: an immunohistochemical study of 117 cases. Mod Pathol 2010;23:567-73.